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TENDENCIES OF ELECTRICITY PRODUCTION AND
CONSUMPTION IN THE BALTIC SEA REGION

Signe Allena, University of Latvia, Latvia"

Abstract

Although in many cases is assumed that the Baltic Sea Region (BSR) comprises 11 nations, in this
paper is being analyzed so-called EU BSR that counts 85 million inhabitants (17 percent of EU
population) and eight countries — Sweden, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany, Latvia, Lithuania and
Poland (EU Strategy for the BSR, 2009).

Energy consumption including consumption of electricity is growing in the World as well as in the
BSR and in such situation increasingly important is cooperation between countries to ensure continuous
and sufficient energy deliveries especially for countries which are unable to secure most part of energy
demand. The aim of the paper is to explore the tendencies of electricity production and consumption in
the BSR countries, as well as to find out what sources of electricity generation are being used in these
countries and how the situation has changed in recent years. To achieve the objective of the study
descriptive statistics data from statistical office of the EU — Eurostat and International Energy Agency
were used.

In a result of the research, the main tendencies and development of electricity production and
consumption and production structure of each BSR country have been identified as well as presented the
most important forms of cooperation in energy sector among BSR countries.

Key words: electricity production, consumption, statistical analysis
JEL codes: 013, Q41, Q42, Q48

Introduction

The number of studies in field of energy in Europe has increased recently since energy,
particularly electricity is important for each country and for each national economy especially now when
energy consumption in general increases. Several research in monitoring the energy supply in the BSR
has been performed and conclusions drawn for future activities (Streimikiene D., 2007). Co-existence of
electricity, TEP and TGC markets in the BSR is on regular research agenda likewise (Hindsberger M., et
al, 2003). There are several tries and evaluation of those tries to make electricity production greener
(Raadal H.L., et al, 2012). Wind energy is used in many countries, efficiency of it’s use and challenges
are assessed by many researchers in many countries, especially a lot of investigations have been
performed in Lithuania (Katinas V., et al, 2009). Renewable generation and electricity prices are
compared in several counties (Wiirzburg K., et al, 2013) but only few of researches are focused on
importance of cooperation in energy sector in the BSR (Streimikiene D., 2007). In this paper current
situation, tendencies and future prospects of electricity production and consumption are reviewed.

BSR differs significantly by climatic, economic and social factors but continuous electricity supply is
one of the key factors to further development of any country. As electricity cannot be stored, it needs to

! Corresponding author — e-mail address: Signe.Allena@gmail.com, phone number: +371 27636645
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be delivered in the moment it is being demanded and in situation when demand of electricity is
continuously increasing while fossil resources are becoming less, electricity supply becomes an important
national issue for each country. Taking into account these aspects, the cooperation between countries are
extremely important particularly in situations when state is unable to ensure sufficient power supply and
cross-border cooperation is often the only opportunity to ensure sufficient energy supply. In such a
sensitive area as energy security, countries should be able to develop different models of cooperation in
order to reduce the risks for security of supply. As concluded in the study, cooperation between BSR
states is very strong — there are created many different forms of cooperation starting from strategies and
plans to political forums, programmes and power market. Author believes that this kind of cooperation is
absolutely necessary for the stability and development of the country and further studies should be
developed to determine the clear impact of cross-border cooperation and whether cooperation forms
which are applied in BSR are most effective.

While stocks of fossil fuels are rapidly declining, electricity consumption in the world, including
Latvia and BSR states, increases, resulting in a growing usage of resources required for electricity
generation, and although in the world renewable energy resources are becoming increasingly important,
however renewable energy cannot completely replace fossil energy resources and by far the world's
electricity production are generally based on fossil fuels — coal, peat, natural gas and oil and author
believes that this is a huge problem on which are paying too little attention in a long-term.

Research results and discussion

1. Electricity consumption tendencies in the world and BSR

To understand the changes in the electricity production and consumption trends in the BSR, first the
electricity consumption in world is analyzed.

1800
1600
1400
1200
1000
800
600
400
200 r"—
\‘:977 1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2011
B industry B Transport [ Other*

* Includes agriculture, commercial and public services, residential, and non-specified other.
Source: International Energy Agency Key World Energy Statistics 2013 [Accessed 23 February 2014].

Fig. 1. World’s total final electricity consumption from 1971 to 2011 by sector (Mtoe)

Electricity consumption as seen in Figure 1 has increased fourfold over the past forty years. The
increase of consumption in these years is caused by population, industrial and economic growth as well as

8 Signe Allena
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unlimited human needs and wants. In 2009 electricity consumption has declined for first time over a long
period though in 2010 it has increased again and in 2011 set a new record. Household, industry and
service sectors are main consumers and in transport sector electricity is consumed highly low although in
recent years the popularity of electricity consumption in transport sector has grown.

Analyzing electricity consumption in BSR countries is seen that it varies significantly across
countries. As seen in Figure 2 the consumption can be divided into three groups — countries with high
electricity consumption like Sweden and Finland where consumption exceeds 3000 MWh per 1000
people, countries with middle consumption amount like Denmark, Germany and Estonia where
consumption varies from 1000 to 2000 MWh per 1000 people and countries with low electricity
consumption like Lithuania, Latvia and Poland where consumption doesn’t exceeds 1000 MWh per 1000
people.

5000 - —
4500 | B . N
)
3500 - === |_atvia
3000 - #=|_ithuania
2500 - Poland
2000 - Finland
1500 -+ - R === Denmark
1000 - W
NN g s R % ——Sweden
500 -+ s-t——A A —S—a—a—A A A& =
0 e Germany
N M S IO © I 00 OO ©O d AN M < D © I 0 6O ©O 14 N ™M
D Y OO OO OO OO OO O O O O O O O O O O © d d d
D OO OO OO OO O OO OO O O O O O O O O O O O o o o
I o o =+ 4 AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN NN N N NN

Source: author’s calculations based on Euromonitor International from International Energy Association (IEA)
[Accessed 23 February 2014]

Fig. 2. Electricity consumption in BSR from 1992 to 2013 (MWh Per ‘000 People)

The largest consumption is seen in Scandinavian countries — Sweden and Finland but the difference is
seen in tendencies — in Sweden the consumption is decreasing but in Finland increasing. The consumption
in these Scandinavian countries is from 3000 to 5000 MWh which is approximately four times less than
in Latvia, Lithuania and Poland where consumption per 1000 people is increasing since 1992 but still the
consumption is only around 1000 MWh per 1000 people. Relatively stable consumption seen in Denmark
and Germany where all the period since 1992 to 2013 the amount of electricity consumption has been
around 1700 MWh per 1000 people.

2. Electricity production tendencies in the world and BSR

As seen in Figure 3 fossil thermal usage in electricity production has always been the most used
producer in the world. In 2011 as well as in the 70s the most part of electricity is being generated exactly
in fossil thermal plants as seen in Figure 3. The second most used fuel is hydro which all the period has
been significant provision of electricity but it should be noted that not all sites are able to use hydro as
electricity generator that is why often thermal power plants and nuclear plants are being used to produce

Signe Allena 9
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electricity. In last thirty years nuclear power plants has significantly grown but after Fukushima Daiichi
nuclear disaster in 2011 the share in generation in some countries has decreased.

24 000

20 000

16 000

12 000

8 000

4000 [==

0
1971 1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2011

B Fossil thermal 1 Nuclear Hydro B Other**

** Includes geothermal, solar, wind, biofuels and waste, and heat.
Source: International Energy Agency Key World Energy Statistics 2013 [Accessed 23 February 2014].

Fig. 3. World’s electricity generation from 1971 to 2011 by fuel (TWh)

A positive development has appeared in recent years in geothermal, solar, wind, biofuels and waste
usage in electricity production as seen in Figure 4 but amount of share is still small — only 4.5% of electricity
in 2011 is generated used these renewable fuels. Comparing 1973 and 2011 is seen that cool and peat is still
the most significant fuel used for electricity generation — in 1973 it provided 38.3% of total electricity
consumption which was 6155 TWh in total and in 2011 it provided even more — 41.3% of total electricity
consumption which was 22 126 TWh in total. The share of natural gas has significantly increased from
12.2% in 1973 t0 21.9% in 2011 while oil has decreased from 24.6% in 1973 to only 4.8% in 2011.

1973 2011
Other**
? ]Y (g% 0.6% Coal/peat Coal/peat
) 38.3% 41.3%
Nuclear
3.3%
Natural gas
12.2%
il Natural gas Ol
24.6% 21.9% 4.8%
6 115 TWh 22 126 TWh

** Includes geothermal, solar, wind, biofuels and waste, and heat.
Source: International Energy Agency Key World Energy Statistics 2013. [Accessed 23 February 2014]

Fig. 4. World’s fuel shares of electricity generation in 1973 and 2011

The share of nuclear power in energy generation has increased from 3.3% in 1973 to 11.7% in 2011,
hydro power has been significant resource and in 1973 it provided 21% of total electricity generation but
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in 2011 the share decreased to 15.8%, share of other fuels like geothermal, solar, wind, biofuels and waste
has significantly increased from only 0.6% in 1973 to 4.5% in 2011 but still the share of these renewable
resources in electricity generation is very low.

Also production volumes in BSR differs in each country as seen in Figure 5. Countries in production
can also be divided into three groups — with high amount of production like Finland and Sweden, with
middle production like Germany, Estonia, and Denmark and with low amount like Poland, Latvia and
Lithuania.

18 - e /\ pt r
f— I ) y
14 1 ) ==o==Estonia
== |_atvia
12
#= Lithuania
10
Poland
8 1 === Finland
6 - A=A ==@=Denmark
A A A & % N = Swed
4 R ATIS K R maina weden
» | BN R —— Germany
2 | g g a0, L
N MO < 1D © I 0 O O 4 AN M & IO O 0 O O 1 N ™M
D O OO O O O O O O O O O O O O O O © « A A
o OO O OO OO OO OO OO O O O O O O O O O O o o o o
T T B DR B IR IR AR o [ o A o O A o A oV A o\ A o N I & N o\ I o N A o\ I O N |

Source: author’s calculations based on Euromonitor International from International Energy Association (IEA)
[Accessed 23 February 2014].

Fig. 5. Electricity production in BSR from 1992 te 2013 (GWh Per ‘000 People)

The highest production per 1000 people are in Finland and Sweden where production varies from 12
to 18 GWh per 1000 people. In Germany, Denmark and Estonia production varies approximately from 6
to 10 GWh but in Poland and Latvia it varies from approximately from 2 to 4 GWh per 1000 people. It is
seen that in Lithuania the production were around 4 GWh per 1000 people but after Ignalina nuclear
power plant disclosure in 2010 the amount of electricity production has decreased significantly and from
2010 the amount is the lowest in BSR.

In further research fuel shares of electricity production in BSR has been analyzed. As seen in Table 1
also the fuel shares used to generate electricity are different in each county. In Estonia the most part is
generated using fossil fuels as well as in Lithuania and Poland, in Latvia the biggest part is generated used
also fossil and hydro power, in Denmark are used fossil and wind power the most and in Finland are used
fossil, hydro and nuclear power but in Sweden the main part is generated using hydro and nuclear power.
Solar power significantly is used only in Germany where in 2013 this renewable resource was used to
produce 5% from total electricity production and in any of the BSR countries geothermal power is not
used significantly.

The share of combustible renewables and waste as seen in Table 1 has grown in all BSR countries —
the largest increase is seen in Estonia and Lithuania where in 2003 of combustible renewables and waste

Signe Allena 11



New Challenges of Economic
@ and Business Development — 2014

May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia

were almost not used but in 2013 the shares of these fuels have grown to 9% in Estonia and to 4% in
Lithuania. Countries where combustible renewables and waste are used the most in total electricity
generation are Denmark where these fuels provided 17% of total electricity in 2013 and Finland where
these fuels provided 16% of total electricity in 2013. Also the share of wind power has increased in all
countries — the largest increase is seen in Estonia and Poland where in 2003 wind power was almost not
used and in 2013 the shares increased to 4% in Estonia and 3% in Poland. The total leader of wind power
usage is Denmark where wind power reached 36% in total electricity generation.

Table 1
Fuel shares of electricity production in BSR in 2003 and 2013

Estonia Latvia Lithuania Poland Denmark Finland Germany Sweden

2003 | 2013 | 2003 | 2013 | 2003 | 2013 | 2003 | 2013 | 2003 | 2013 | 2003 | 2013 | 2003 | 2013 | 2003 | 2013
Electricity 100%| 100%| 100%| 100%| 100%| 100%| 100%| 100%| 100%| 100%| 100%| 100%| 100%| 100%| 100%| 100%
Production
Combustible 0%| 9%| 1%| 2%| 0%| 4%| 0%| 7%| 7%| 17%| 12%| 16%| 2%| 8%| 4%| 7%
Renewables and
Waste
Fossil Fuels 100%| 86%| 41%| 52%| 15%| 58%| 97%| 88%| 81%| 47%| 49%| 26%| 63%| 59%| 7%| 3%
Hydroelectric 0%| 0%)| 57%| 45%| 5%| 26%| 2%| 1%| 0%| 0%| 11%| 24%| 4%| 5%| 40%| 48%
Nuclear N/A | N/A | N/A | NIA | 79%| - N/A| N/A| N/A| N/A| 27%| 33%| 27%| 15%| 50%| 38%
Solar N/A| NA | NJA | NA | NA | NA | - 0%| 0%| 0%| 0%| 0%| 0% 5% - 0%
Wind-Powered 0%| 4%| 1%| 1%| - 12%| 0%| 3%| 12%| 36%| 0%| 1%| 3%| 8%| 1%| 5%

Source: author’s calculations based on Euromonitor International from International Energy Association (IEA)
[Accessed 23 February 2014].

Positive development of fossil fuels shares is seen in Estonia, Poland, Denmark, Finland, Germany
and Sweden where shares of fossil fuel usage have decreased. The biggest decrease is seen in Sweden
where the share of fossil fuels were 7% in 2003 and only 3% in 2013. In Latvia is seen little increase of
share of fossil fuels increase but in Lithuania due to Ignalina nuclear power plant closure in 2010 increase
of fossil fuels share is extremely high — from 15% in 2003 to 58% in 2013. Still the biggest shares of
fossil fuels are in Estonia where the share was 86% in 2013 and Poland where the share was 88% in 2013.

The shares of hydro usage in electricity generation have significantly increased in Lithuania where in
2003 it was 5% but in 2013 — 26% and in Finland where in 2003 it was 11% and in 2013 the share
increased to 24%

Finland is only country in BSR where the share of nuclear power has increased from 27% in 2003 to
33% in 2013. In others where the nuclear power has been used the share of it has decreased, e.g.
Germany, Sweden and Lithuania. The most significant decrease is seen in Lithuania where the share of
nuclear power was 79% in 2003 and there were no usage of nuclear power in 2013 because of Ignalina
nuclear power plant disclosure in 2010.

3. Cooperation in electricity sector among BSR countries

Amounts of imports and exports in BSR are high which means that cooperation between countries are
very important especially for countries which are unstable to ensure sufficient power supply. Cooperation
in electricity trading is realized through Nord Pool Spot which is leading power market in Europe and
offers day-ahead and intraday markets to its customers — 370 companies from 20 countries. BSR
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countries are Nord Pool Spot members and Latvia was the last who joined the Nord Pool Spot in 2013
(Nord Pool Spot home page).
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Source: author’s calculations based on European Commission Eurostat data [Accessed 23 February 2014].

Fig. 6. Electricity export in BSR from 2000 to 2012 (GWh Per 0 000 People)

Amount of export highly varies per years. From 2000 till 2005 the leader in export amount per 10 000
people was Lithuania but since disclosure of Ignalina nuclear power plant the amount of exports
significantly decreased from 2010. In recent years the leading place is taken by Estonia highly due to the
same reason — Lithuania has becoming from electricity export country to import country. In recent years
also Sweden has increased export amount and also Latvia has little increase in export amounts but since
in those countries big share is took by hydropower export amounts varies each year due to the reason that
amount produced in hydropower plants is depending on season and weather which is hard to predict.
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Source: author’s calculations based on European Commission Eurostat data [Accessed 23 February 2014].
Fig. 7. Electricity import in BSR from 2000 to 2012 (GWh Per ‘0 000 People)
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Import amount in BSR countries varies year to year except Germany and Poland where import
amounts are relatively stable and low. The highest amount of import per 10 000 people is in Finland
where in recent years amount has even increase and reached 35 GWh import per 10 000 in 2012. Since
disclosure of Ignalina nuclear power plant the amount of import in Lithuania has doubled from
approximately 15 GWh in 2009 to 30 GWh in 2012 per 10 000 people. Denmark, Latvia and Sweden
have relatively unstable import because large share of electricity production takes renewables like wind
and hydro power and production in these power plants depends on season and weather.

There is also set up a EU strategy for BSR — (EUSBSR) which is the first macro-regional strategy in
Europe. It was approved by the European Council in 2009 and it reinforces the integration within the area
and contributes to major EU policies (EU Strategy for the BSR, Council of the EU). Under this strategy
there are opportunities to get funding to start new collaborations and to develop cooperation also in field
of energy.

In order to finance the cooperation in the BSR is established The BSR Programme 2007-2013 and at
the moment the new Programme for the 2014-2020 is being prepared. Under Programme there are set up
four clusters within cooperation is made, there is also energy cluster which combines expertise in
renewable energies, sustainable technologies, resource saving in buildings and energy efficiency in urban
context (BSR Programme).

To promote the completion and functioning of the internal market in electricity and cross-border trade
and to ensure the optimal management and coordinated operation of the European electricity transmission
network The European Network of Transmission System Operators for Electricity (ENTSO-E) was
established and now represents all electric Transmission System Operators in the EU and others
connected to their networks. (The European Network of Transmission System Operators for Electricity).

To serve as a forum for guidance and overall coordination among the BSR states it was established
The Council of the Baltic Sea States which is an overall political forum for regional inter-governmental
cooperation. In order to create political stability, security of energy supply, economic growth and
sustainable development in the region the Council is promoting a secure, efficient and renewable energy
market cooperation. Energy and climate related issues are one of the five priorities set up in Council and
the main objective is to promote sustainable growth, security and prosperity in the region the Council
supports the creation of competitive, efficient and well-functioning energy markets (The Council of the
Baltic Sea States).

As seen in above mentioned cooperation between BSR states are very important especially in such a
sensitive issue as energy provision. There are created many different forms of cooperation starting from
strategies and plans to political forums, programmes and power market. Author believes that this kind of
cooperation is absolutely necessary for the stability and future development of the country and further
studies should be developed to determine the clear impact of cross-border cooperation.

Nowadays a large incident in a power supply are rare but author believes that it is necessary to
increase electricity production and investments in new, green electricity generation forms or investments
to expanding existing ones should be done in order to reduce dependence on energy import and therefore
additional studies to assess the best solutions for investment in each of BSR countries have to be done.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1. Electricity consumption in the world, including the BSR has increased significantly, especially in
recent years therefore increasingly important issue for each county in the BSR is to decide how to
provide sufficient electricity flow for growing electricity demand and although renewable energy
sources in the world and the whole BSR countries are used more in recent years, however fossil fuels
— natural gas, oil and coal so far are most used fuels for electricity generation.
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2. BSR countries can be divided into three groups depending on electricity consumption and production
per 1000 People — first group with high amount of production and consumption including Finland and
Sweden, second group with medium production and consumption including Germany, Estonia, and
Denmark and third group of countries with low production and consumption including Poland, Latvia
and Lithuania.

3. There are significant differences in the BSR countries in shares of fuels used for electricity
production — combustible renewables and waste most for electricity production are used in Denmark
with the share of 17% in 2013 and in Finland with the share of 16% in 2013, the total leader of wind
energy usage is Denmark where wind power reached 36% in total electricity generation in 2013 but
the biggest shares of fossil fuels used for electricity production are in Estonia where the share was
86% in 2013 and Poland where the share was 88% in 2013.

4. BSR states have strong cooperation in energy sector starting from strategies and plans to political
forums and programmes and Ignalina nuclear power plant disclosure in 2010 in Lithuania which
decreased energy security throughout the BSR and Lithuania became from electricity exporter country
to importer even more confirmed the importance of cooperation in energy sector.

5. Largest share of electricity generation in each BSR country constitutes a national resource with its
natural advantage — such as wind in Denmark, hydro in Sweden and Latvia or fossil resource like oil
shale in Estonia but in the worst cases countries are unable to secure even half of the electricity
demand with own resources so continuous power supply depends on the on other countries.

6. In order to promote the use of renewable energy e.g. assessing geothermal park construction
possibilities, the responsible ministries of the BSR countries, to invite experts from various sectors to
develop a progressive renewable energy resources development programme in electricity generation.
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YOUTH UNEMPLOYMENT PROBLEMS
IN EUROPEAN UNION AND LATVIA

Daira Baranova, University of Latvia, Latvia®

Abstract

The purpose of this paper is to investigate youth unemployment indicators as well as policy tools to
reduce youth unemployment rate, compare situation in Latvia and the European Union (EU), and to
provide conclusions. The integration of young people into the labour market is an important objective
and it is a key policy issue of the European Employment Strategy and in particular in the context of the
Youth Guarantee, politically agreed by the European Council on 28 February 2013. However, there are
large country differences among the EU member states in the labour market situation for youth and
thus policy responses must be tailored to each country’s circumstances.

Key words: unemployment, youth unemployment, employment
JEL codes: J21, J64, E064

Introduction

Youth unemployment rate is higher than overall unemployment rate in both in the EU average and in
Latvia. If we did not develop policy tools, young people could not integrate the labour market. A question
that arises is whether the youth unemployment rate reflects the economic situation or peculiar negative
movement among young people. The next question is what is the best labour market policy tools suiting
individual. Particular attention should be addressed on so-called NEET group (NEET - not in
employment, education or training).

The research aim is analyse youth unemployment in Latvia and the EU and policy to reduce
unemployment. Tasks of the research are find out main youth unemployment trends, analyse the reasons
of youth unemployment in Latvia and new policy tools in the EU and Latvia.

Methods and results

Analysis of youth unemployment is based on the International Labour Organization definition of
employment and unemployment of youth. The main indicator of youth unemployment is the youth
unemployment rate for the age group 15-24. The youth unemployment rate is the number of people
aged 15 to 24 unemployed as a percentage of the labour force of the same age. Another indicator of
youth unemployment is youth unemployment ratio. Research period of statistical indicators which have
been used in the paper is from 2008 till now. In order to achieve the research aim quantitative methods
are used. Analysis has been done on basis of materials from the European Commission, the Ministry of
Economics of Latvia, the Central Statistical Bureau of Latvia, the Eurostat and the State Employment
Agency of Latvia.

1 Corresponding author — e-mail address: daira.baranova@Iu.lv, phone number: +371 6703476
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Youth unemployment rate and NEET rate

The unemployment rate is an important indicator with both economic and social dimensions. Table 1
show that youth unemployment rate in Latvia was lower than the EU average rate in 2008, but from 2009
till 2013 exceed the EU average level. Analysing reasons for high rate in Latvia and EU, part of them
could be explained by economic crisis with some gap resulting from GDP changes and part — resulting
from other factors, such as, luck of skills, luck of vacancies, luck of experience, luck of motivation etc.

Table 1

Youth Unemployment (15 — 24 age group) rate in Latvia and the EU in 2008 — 2013, in per cent

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013*
Latvia 13 34 35 31 28 25
EU-27 16 20 21 21 21 23

* EU 2013December, Latvia 3quater 2013

Source: Eurostat, 2014. Unemployment statistics

The euro area overall unemployment rate was 12.0% in December 2013 and EU-28 was 10.7% in
December 2013 (Eurostat, 2014). Youth unemployment rates are generally much higher than
unemployment rates for all ages. The EU youth unemployment rate stood at 23.6% in January 2013, more
than twice as high as the adult rate, and no signs of improvement are in sight. 7.5 million Europeans aged
15-24 are neither in employment nor in education or training. High youth unemployment rates do reflect
the difficulties faced by young people in finding jobs. The different concept is youth unemployment ratio.
The unemployment ratio is calculated as the share of unemployed for the whole population. The Eurostat
dates shows that youth unemployment ratios are much lower than youth unemployment rates. The main
reason for the general worse labour market performance with respect to adults is related to the lower level
of human capital and productivity, and preferences of employers.

Table 2

Youth neither in employment nor education or training (NEET) among youth in 2011,
percentage of population aged 15-24

Unemployed Inactive NEET rate
Netherland 15 2.7 4.1
Denmark 2.5 3.2 5.7
Euro area 6.8 6.4 13.2
European Union 6.6 6.6 13.2
OECD 6.5 12.1 18.6
Ireland 9.3 8.3 17.6
Spain 12.6 5.0 17.6
Italy 7.3 12.1 19.5
Greece 10.4 7.8 18.2
Slovakia 9.8 5.9 15.6

Source: OECD, 2012 Employment Outlook. NEET rates among OECD countries
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The OECD Employment Outlook record NEET data for 15-24 year olds (Table 2). Of the OECD
countries where data is provided and presented in Table 2 Italy had the greatest proportion of 15-24 year
olds NEET. In this case the majority of NEET young people were inactive not unemployed. Spain,
Greece and Slovakia had the greatest proportion of NEET 15-24 year olds who were unemployed. In each
of these cases unemployed young people who were NEET counted for over half the total.

Table 3

Youth unemployment rate (2013) and the lowest NEET rates (2012) in EU countries, in per cent

Country Unemployment rate NEET rate
Austria 8.7 (September) 6.5
Czech Republic 18.8 (September) 8.9
Germany 7.7 (September) 7.7
Denmark 13.5 (September) 6.6
Finland 20.2 (August) 8.6
Luxembourg 18.8 (September) 5.9
The Netherlands 11.7 (September) 4.3
Sweden 22.8 (September) 7.8
Slovenia 23.7 (September) 9.3

Source: author’s formation based on European Commission, 2013. Employment

The author divided EU countries in three groups according to NEET rate. Table 3 presents countries with
medium NEET rates in 2012. All countries in this group have youth unemployment rate of less than 25%.

Table 4

Youth unemployment rate (2013) and medium NEET rates (2012) in EU countries, in per cent

Country Unemployment rate NEET rate
Latvia 20.1 (June) 14.9
Belgium 24.0 (September) 12.3
Estonia 14.9 (August) 125
France 26.1 (September) 12.2
Hungary 26.9 (August) 14.7
Lithuania 21.0 (September) 111
Malta 13.2 (September) 111
Poland 26.3 (September) 11.8
Portugal 36.9 (September) 14.1
Slovakia 23.7(September) 13.8
United Kingdom 20.9 (July) 14.0

Source: author’s formation based on European Commission, 2013. Employment
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Table 4 presents countries with medium NEET rates in 2012. At the same time France, Hungary,
Poland and Slovakia have youth unemployment rate of more than 25%. The highest NEET rate in the
second group has Latvia.

Table 5

Youth unemployment rate (2013) and the highest NEET rates (2012) in EU countries, in per cent

Country Unemployment rate NEET rate
Bulgaria 24.0 (September) 215
Greece 57.3 (July) 20.3
Spain 56.5 (September) 18.8
Croatia 52.8 (September) 16.7
Cyprus 43.9 (September) 16.0
Ireland 28.0 (September) 18.7
Italy 40.4 (September) 21.1
Romania 23.2 (June) 16.8

Source: author’s formation based on European Commission, 2013. Employment

Table 5 presents countries with the highest NEET rates in 2012. Greece, Spain, Croatia, Cyprus,
Ireland and Italy have youth unemployment rate of more than 25%.
Key characteristics of people who are NEET (Mirza-Davies, J., 2014):
e Those who have been excluded or suspended from school are more likely to be NEET than those
who have not;
e Those with their own child are more likely to be NEET than those without;
e Those who have a disability are more likely to be NEET than those who do not.

It is important that high youth NEET rates may be generated also by choices (for example, travel,
leisure), or by non-economic constraints (for example, military conscription).

Youth and labour market policy in EU

This poses a serious threat to social cohesion in the EU and risks having a long-term negative impact
on economic potential and competitiveness. Young people are a priority EU social policy to sustain the
young human capital. EU adopted the EU Youth Strategy for 2010 — 2018. There are two overall
objectives:

e To provide more and equal opportunities for young people in education and in the labour market;

e To promote the active citizenship, social inclusion for all young people.

The Europe 2020 strategy put initiatives “ An agenda for new skills and jobs” and “Youth on the
move”, youth unemployment rates will be targeted via by a range of policies, including proposals aimed
at education and training institutions, or measures for the creation of a work environment conducive to
higher activity rates and higher labour productivity. There are also initiatives’ aimed at improving the
entry rates of young people into the labour market. (Eurostat, 2014.Unemployment statistics)

A new initiative to improve employability of young people is through a Youth Guarantee and
implementation reforms in education system.
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Youth Guarantee

The European Commission considers that setting up the Youth Guarantee schemes is a forward
looking and fundamental structural reform in the mid-term and long term. The Youth Guarantee aims
to ensure that all young people aged 15-24 not in employment, education or training (so-called NEETS)
receive a good-quality offer of employment, continued education, an apprenticeship or traineeship
within a period of four months of becoming unemployed or leaving formal education (European
Commission, 2014):

1. The Youth Guaranty scheme represents a new approach to policy design and implementation.

2. The Youth Guarantee scheme requires a clear and integrated strategy first and foremost.

3 The Youth Guarantee scheme cannot be realised without substantial baking, coordination and

investment from within Member State governments.

4. The Youth Guarantee scheme requires national budgetary commitments in order to ensure
sustainability and return on investment in medium to longer time.

5. An inclusive partnership approach, involving youth and non-governmental organizations, social
partners and business, is fundamental to successful design and implementation of the Youth
Guarantee scheme.

6. The Youth Guarantee is founded on the principles of providing a good-quality offer of
employment, continued education, apprenticeship or traineeship

7. Ensuring a good-quality offer entails organizing the support around the journey of the individual
young person, rather than the interest of service providers.

8. In the design of Youth Guarantee schemes, it is fundamental to work on basis that prevention is
better than cure.

9. The value of monitoring and evaluating all aspects of the Youth Guarantee scheme should not be
under-estimated.

10. Given that the Youth Guarantee is foreseen as a high-quality, long-term strategy, covering
diversity of partners and complex issues.

The Youth Guarantee does not a jobs guarantee, but seeks to activate young people at the shortest
possible delay, thus keeping them in touch with the labour market, or ensuring further education. The ESF
can fund, in the context of the Youth Guarantee, activities linked to the delivery of the direct interventions
on young persons and more broadly, structural reforms in systems. Examples of structural reforms
include, access to information and services, building-up partnerships, outreach strategies, anticipation of
future skills and labour market needs, individual action planning, developing second-chance
opportunities, developing guidance on entrepreneurship and self-employment, supporting mobility, and
investing in monitoring and evaluation.

The Youth Guarantee schemes that have addressing acute levels of youth unemployment and
inactivity and offering young people better prospects in life, represents a new approach to policy design
and implementation. (ICF GHK, European Commission, 2013).

Labour market development In Latvia
Changes in economic activities have a positive impact on the labour market in Latvia (Fig.1). The
situation in the labour market has been improved within a year along with increasing economic activities.

At the same time employment is likely to increase slower than the growth, as the output will be mainly
based on the increase in productivity.
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Fig. 1. GDP and Occupied Posts in Latvia, 2005 Q4 =100

As a result, the employment rate is growing high unemployment rate is decreasing. At the same time,
some groups, especially people with a low level of education and qualification and young people barely
feel improvement.

At the same time, the balance between the labour force demand and labour force supply is influenced
not only by labour force education and skills but also by wages; therefore vacancies stay open even under
high unemployment conditions.
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The number of employment increased by 1.3% in 2011 compared to 2010 (Figure 2). The
unemployment rate decreased by 3.3 percentage points compared to 2010. Similar trends remain
in 2012.

Labour market in Latvia has disproportions. Main disproportions are:

High surplus in professionals in humanities and social sciences;

High share of low-skilled:;

Young people enter labour market without any specialization and skills (~1/3);
Discrepancies among formal education supply and labour market demand.

Causes of problems in the labour market are also due to education:
e Poor knowledge in hard sciences, and poor student interest of these subjects on secondary
education level,
Poor insight of career possibilities on secondary education level,
Many young people prefer general secondary education;
Low prestige and capacity of secondary vocational education;
Low popularity interdisciplinary education programmes.

Youth Guarantee implementation in Latvia

The relatively high proportion of young people leaving school without a basic education and
qualification, education are not always well adapted to labour market requirements, as well as general
labour market conditions and problems in the functioning of labour market. Attractiveness of
vocational education is very low to historical reasons, outdated infrastructure and weak links with
enterprises. As a result skills mismatches and shortages in certain sectors. A challenge is to improve
the quality of vocational education and training and make it respond better to the labour market needs.
National reforms aim at improving the quality of vocational education and training and making it
respond better labour market needs. The aim is that by 2020 50% of age group would follow vocational
education and training routes.

Vocational education of programmes Motivation programmes
(unemployed 15-24 and (NEET’s and young people 13-24
YG clients 17-29 ages) who are not registered as unemployed)
Short-term training programmes Career guidance
(unemployed with vocational (NEET’s 15 — 29 ages)
or higher education 15-24 ages)
First work experience Work place with subsidy
(18-24 ages without (disadvantaged 18-29 ages)

work experience)

Support of starting business
(unemployed 18-29 with skills
in entrepreneurship)

Source: author’s construction based on State Employment Agency data. Conference, 2013..

Fig. 3. Youth Guarantee activities in Latvia
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Some of labour market problems in Latvia, according to international experience, could be solved by
“dual system”. “Dual system” — system where class — based and work — based training are provided in
parallel. In “dual system” framework (for example, Austria, Denmark, Germany, Switzerland) — youth
spend some time in educational institutions and the remainder at the workplace. Apprenticeships are then
part of formal education structure and usually after completion of compulsory education. Main
advantages are: early contact with the working world, easy transition from training to employment and
attractive for those who are practically oriented.

Figure 3 presents Youth Guarantee (YG) activities and young people group to whom activities are
addressed in Latvia.

The implementation of Youth Guarantee (YG) in Latvia includes necessity to improve access to
information and services, building-up partnerships, outreach strategies, anticipation of future skills and
labour market needs, individual action planning, developing second-chance opportunities, developing
guidance on entrepreneurship and self-employment, supporting mobility, and investing in monitoring and
evaluation. In particular to the young people who are NEETS, it is necessary returning them back to the
education system, as well as increase attractiveness and quality of vocational education.

Conclusions

1. High rate of youth unemployment rate could be explained by economic crisis with some gap resulting
from GDP changes and partly — resulting from other factors, such as, luck of skills, luck of vacancies,
luck of experience, luck of motivation etc.

2. The Youth Guarantee is important policy tool to reduce youth unemployment. However, thus policy
responses must be tailored to each country’s circumstances.

3. Latvia should pay more attention to the youth who are neither studying nor working, aimed at
returning young people back to education system, as well as increase attractiveness and quality of
vocational education.
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MANAGERIAL OWNERSHIP AND SUPERVISORY BOARD
ACTIVITY: EVIDENCE FROM POLISH LISTED COMPANIES

Leszek Bohdanowicz, University of Lodz, Poland*

Abstract

Building on and extending prior research, | propose to investigate how managerial ownership affects
supervisory board activity in the Polish two-tier board model. To examine this, | employ a panel of
companies over a three-year period from 2010 to 2012 and apply panel data analysis (fixed-effects
model). My results reveal that managerial ownership has a negative influence on supervisory board
meeting frequency and in this way it diminishes supervisory board activity. Moreover, managerial
ownership has also a negative influence on the number of supervisory board committees. The negative
relationship between managerial ownership and board activity is consistent with previous research
conducted in the one-tier board model, but | argue that in the two-tier board model this can augment the
shortcomings of the supervisory board.

Key words: corporate governance, managerial hegemony theory, ownership structure, two-tier board
model, Poland

JEL codes: G32, G34

Introduction

The role of corporate boards has been one of the most debated by scholars and practitioners issues in
corporate governance. They acknowledged the importance of the boards’ monitoring function (Zahra and
Pearce, 1989; Baysinger and Hoskisson, 1990), their contribution to strategy formulation (Pugliese et al.,
2009, Tricker, 2009) and the boards’ involvement in providing resources (Hillman et al., 2000; Pfeffer
and Salancik, 1978) long ago. But the previous findings of studies on the role of boards, seems to be
ambiguities. While some authors mention that boards of directors are a powerful internal governance
mechanism which tends to align the interests of shareholders and managers (Oviatt, 1988), are able to
support management in strategy formulation (Stiles, 2001; Bezemer et al., 2007) and have ultimate
control over management through their capacity to hire or fire the chief executive officers (Mizruchi
1983), other studies also underline that corporate boards are passive, reactive, ineffective, not involved in
strategic decision making process and in addition dominated by executives (Kosnik, 1987; Lorsch and
Maclver, 1989). This ambiguity may result from the reliance on an explicitly single theoretical
framework, which needs not be universal.

However, to date the discussion on the activity of corporate boards has been mostly stimulated by
agency theory perspective (Jensen and Meckling, 1976; Eisenhardt, 1989). Accordingly, most studies
have examined the relationships between board structure, tasks and processes and company performance
(Kiel and Nicholson, 2003; De Andres and Lopez, 2005). But there are also other theoretical perspectives
which may be appropriate in describing board roles in different institutional conditions. The present study
is fueled by managerial hegemony theory (Mace, 1971; Lorsch and Maclver, 1989), which seems to be
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useful for depicting the relationship between managers and supervisory board members in companies
with significant managerial ownership. Hence, the present understanding of role of the corporate boards is
full of gaps. Firstly, most studies have focused on one-tier boards, while little is known about two-tier
boards. This especially applies to the efficiency and activity of upper boards i.e. supervisory boards. The
studies conducted so far have generally found these boards to be passive, but have not explored the
underlying causes of this state of affairs (Rudolf et. al., 2002; Aluchna, 2007; Jezak, 2010). In contrast,
the present study is intended to provide in-depth insights and show how often board members meet and
how they fulfill their functions. Second, as has been mentioned, most previous studies were based on the
agency perspective. This study draws on managerial hegemony theory and shows how managerial
ownership reduces the role of corporate boards. Anyway, this paper seeks sources of this phenomenon in
the problems described by managerial hegemony theory. Generally, the purpose of this paper is to
investigate how managerial ownership affects supervisory board activity.

The paper is organized as follows. Firstly, managerial hegemony theory is described. It sheds some
light on the role of supervisory boards. Secondly, the specificity of the Polish two-tier board model is
discussed, including its main features, the functions of the supervisory and management boards, and the
advantages and disadvantages of two-tier boards. Thirdly, hypotheses are developed on the relationship
between managerial ownership and supervisory board activity. These sections are followed by the
research methodology section and findings from the study. Finally, a summary and conclusions, including
research limitations, is presented.

Literature review

1. Managerial hegemony theory

Managerial hegemony theory perceives the role of board members instrumental and recognizes
corporate boards as a tool for supporting managerial decisions (Hung, 1998). This theory refers to a
situation where strategic decisions are directed by professional managers who are in a superior position
within companies. Kosnik (1987) mentioned that managerial hegemony describes the board as “a co-
opted appendage institution that, despite its formal governing power over management, is in fact
dominated by corporate managements, hence, ineffective in alleviating conflicts of interests between
management and stockholders”. This indicates that perhaps in literature, the role of the corporate boards
is overemphasized. Thus, Mace (1971) noted a gap between the myths of business literature and
practice — a discrepancy between what directors should do and what they do in reality. He called board
members “ornaments on a corporate Christmas tree” and boards of directors “old boys clubs” and “rubber
stamps”. Also Drucker (1974) described boards of directors as “an impotent ceremonial and legal
fiction”.

This theory identifies deficiencies of corporate boards in management control, amongst others, over
the selection of external directors. Top managers can co-opt compliant external directors, who do not
have the desire or strength to oppose the proposals of top managers and substantially rubber stamp
management’s policies (Kosnik, 1987). Lorsch and Maclver (1989) pointed out that external board
members face some constraints in fulfilling their duties, such as their available time and knowledge, a
lack of consensus about their goals and the superior power of management. Also Kosnik (1987) listed
reasons for passive behaviour of corporate boards, which are: relative lack of knowledge about the
company’s affairs, dependence on information and insights that are provided by the company’s top
managers and the directors’ interests in the benefits that ensue from board membership e.g. compensation
and prestige.
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Corporate governance has been dominated by agency theory. Particular attention was paid to board
independence (Rosenstain and Wyatt, 1990; Westphal and Zajac, 1997). During this time, managerial
hegemony theory remained on the sidelines. However, this theory indicates some problems within
corporate boards, which in some countries and companies can be of great importance. This is the same for
the two-tier board model and companies in which a significant share of ownership lies with the managers.
Here the role of supervisory boards may be limited to being “rubber stamps” and “ornaments on a
corporate Christmas tree”.

2. Polish two-tier board model

In Poland companies are required to have a two-tier board structure with a supervisory board and a
management board. The supervisory board consists solely of external directors and is comprised of a
minimum of three members in private companies and of minimum of five members in listed companies.
These are convened by the annual general meeting. The management board is entirely composed of
internal directors and consists of one or more members. Management board members are called by the
supervisory board. Articles of association can allow for other ways of their appointment i.e. by general
meeting. Two-tier boards in Europe can also be found for example in Germany, Austria, the Czech
Republic and Slovakia, but unlike these countries in Poland workers are not entitled do delegate their
representatives to supervisory boards (The European Commission, 2009).

In accordance with Polish company law, the management board is responsible for managing the
company. It is the real decision-making body, which is responsible for the formulation of strategy and for
operations. The supervisory board exercises day-to-day supervision in all areas of the company’s activity.
Its duties also include the granting of contracts to members of the management board, approving the most
important strategic and financial decisions, reviewing the firm’s performance with the management
board, approving annual reports, and selecting auditors (Kojima, 1997). In Poland, the responsibilities of
the supervisory board can be broadened by shareholders through provisions contained in the articles of
association. It is commonly found that their duties also include entering into contracts with top managers,
approving long-term plans and annual budgets, selecting external auditors, representing companies in
disputes with their management, approving issue prices, accepting unified texts of the articles of
association, granting approval for the purchase or sale of real estate, giving investment guarantees,
assuming financial obligations, raising equity capital, purchasing shares of significant value, purchasing
or selling movables, establishing or liquidating company divisions, setting up new subsidiaries, granting
procuration, and sale of preferred shares or their exchange for ordinary shares (Bohdanowicz, 2009;
Jezak, 2010).

The positive and negative features of the two-tier board model have been specified by Cadbury
(2002), Spisto (2005) and Jungmann (2006). Under the two-tier model, the supervisory and management
functions are strictly separate and both boards consist of different members. As a result, members of the
supervisory board are theoretically independent from managers. Moreover, members of the supervisory
board are appointed by shareholders. They in turn appoint members of the management board. The link
between the owners, supervisors and managers is obvious. Thanks to this, members of both boards avoid
conflicts of loyalty. On the other hand, the division of supervisory and management functions seems to be
the cause of weaknesses of the two-tier board model. Supervisory boards always behave in a reactive way
and are seen as passive organs. They do not boost the company’s status, but are rather restricted to
making comments on the adopted solutions and, if necessary, they can dismiss members of the
management board. Moreover, there is strong information asymmetry between the management board
and the supervisory board as all information considered during supervisory board meetings is delivered
by the management board, which can jeopardize the process of deficiency discovery by the supervisory
board due to a lack of adequate information.
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3. Managerial ownership and board activity

In literature board activity was used to examine corporate boards’ ability to fulfill its control function
and subsequent impact on the company’s strategy. Control function is perceived as the most important
board function, especially in two-tier board model (Tricker, 2009). Accordingly, Menon and Williams
(1994) stated that board audit committees, which do not meet or do not meet often, are dubious as
effective monitoring bodies. Zona et al. (2013) concluded that boards, which meet episodically, seldom
explore the in depth aspects of strategic decisions, including innovation strategy. Though, previous
research supported the view that board activity is a significant dimension of board operations, has a
positive impact on company value, and is driven by merger and acquisition activity and by accounting
restatements (Vafeas, 1999; Brick and Chidambaran, 2010). Moreover, it prevents omissions which may
take place in the financial reporting process (Carcello et al., 2002) and contributes to greater transparency
of the executive remuneration (Laksaman, 2008).

Generally as a proxy for the level of boards’ monitoring activity, their meeting frequency was used.
For example Vafeas (1999) utilized board meeting frequency as a proxy for board activity and found that
the lower the number of meetings the higher the book value displayed. Moreover, he also supported the
view that managerial ownership had a negative relationship with the frequency of board meetings. This is
consistent with Shleifer and Vishny (1997) conclusion based on agency theory that insider shareholders
exercise direct supervision on management or are managers themselves. Moreover, when owner-
managers are dominant shareholder, this can lead to further consequences, because dominant shareholders
may attempt to maximize their own utility and expropriate wealth from minority shareholders (Shleifer
and Vishny, 1997; Holderness, 2003). Their superior position is possible, when corporate boards as
controlling bodies are undermined.

However, Greco (2010) found that insider ownership negatively impacts boards of directors and audit
committee meeting frequency. In addition he found that audit committees are more active in large
companies and there is a positive relationship between the proportion of independent directors and board
activity, but in contrast to Vafeas (1999) he did not find evidence that boards are more active in
consequences to problems within companies or in decreasing their performance. Similar results were
obtained by Mendez and Garcia (2007) who found a negative relationship between insider shareholdings
and the audit committee frequency.

Hence, this research is concentrated on supervisory board activity in the two-tier board model. Due to
this the hypothesis can be put forth simply as follows: managerial ownership diminishes supervisory
board activity and makes it passive. More specifically, managerial ownership negatively affects
supervisory board meeting frequency and the number of supervisory board committees, which is used as
the second proxy for the intensity of supervisory board activity.

Research results and discussion

1. Research sample and variables

The sample consists of Polish companies listed on the Warsaw Stock Exchange between 2010 and
2012. The adoption of this period depended on the availability of data. Data was hand-collected and
derived from annual reports. The sample involves only non-financial companies. Financial institutions are
excluded due to their unique financial structure and special accounting rules which apply to the financial
sector. Observations with missing data are also excluded. This gives an unbalanced initial panel sample of
207 companies and 463 firm-year observations.
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The following model has been used for testing the hypothesis:
Yie=0i+ B Xie +y Zig + &t (1)

where: the Yj; vector contains dependent variables, i.e., proxies for supervisory board activity
(supervisory board meeting frequency and number of supervisory board committees); X;; represents the
independent variable, i.e., a proxy for managerial hegemony (managerial ownership); Z;, consists of
control variables, that is, supervisory board diversity, supervisory board size, management board size,
firm size, debt ratio, and firm performance (i.e., return on assets), and &;; describes random disturbance.

Since the data span covers three years, this is analyzed using panel data analysis (a fixed-effects model).
This method takes into account individual effects and allows for controlling changes in the behaviour of units
over time (Guijarati, 2003). Moreover, using the panel increases the number of degrees of freedom and reduces
collinearity between independent variables, which leads to a higher estimation efficiency and to a
determination of their real impact on the dependent variables (Hsiao, 2003; Maddala, 2008). Analysis carried
out in this way also enables the elimination of heterogeneity resulting from the occurrence of unobservable
factors (or those not included in the model) which might differentiate individual units (e.g. unquantifiable
factors). This is important because heterogeneity leads to biased estimators (Green, 2003).

Three main variables of interest are the number of meetings held by the supervisory board annually as
disclosed in annual reports from the supervisory boards and number of supervisory board committees, which
are dependent variables and managerial ownership, which is an independent variable. The number of meetings
held by the supervisory board was used as a proxy for the intensity of board activity by Vafeas (1999) and
Brick and Chidambaran (2010). Similarly this study excludes actions by written consent, telephonic meetings
and video teleconferences because it is more challenging to fulfil board functions from distance (Vafeas, 1999).
As a second proxy for board activity the number of committees is used. In prior research the frequency of
committee meetings was rather used as this proxy, but in Poland this is not often disclosed. Generally, board
committee establishment helps to improve corporate governance by delegating particular tasks from the whole
board to the smaller group of boards’ members (Spira and Bender, 2004; Kotadkiewicz, 2011). This way, even
the establishment of a committee helps to increase the intensity of supervisory board activity. Managerial
ownership is the percentage of shares owned by all management board members. This variable is calculated as
direct and indirect voting rights at the general meeting and counted as a decimal number.

The choice of control variables is motivated by their potential relevance. Board size is commonly defined
as the total number of directors (Florackis and Ozkan, 2009), but since a two-tier board model is being studied,
it has to be measured using two variables, i.e., the total number of directors on supervisory boards and the total
number of directors on management boards. Moreover, while we are witnessing a growing body of research on
board diversity and its influence on company performance and various board processes (Nielsen and Huse,
2010; Terjesen et al., 2009), board diversity is employed to control its impact on board activity. As a proxy for
board diversity, | used the percentage of women on the supervisory board (Campbell and Minguez-Vera,
2008). This variable is also calculated as a decimal number. In view of the fact that company size is
associated with board activity, we may use total assets at the end of the firm’s prior fiscal year as a control
variable and a proxy for the scale of the company. As is commonly done, this is transformed with a natural
logarithm (Brick and Chidambaran, 2010; Kang et al., 2003; Kochhar and David, 1996). To control
company leverage, debt ratio is used. This is calculated as the ratio of total liabilities to total assets.
Moreover, this is included in the Return on Assets (ROA) as a measure of company performance.

2. Descriptive statistics

Table 1 shows descriptive statistics for the variables considered. They are given as averaged for all
three years. Supervisory board meeting frequency across the entire sample is 6.4276 with standard
deviation 3.43. The average numbers of meetings of the Polish supervisory boards is lower than the
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average number of meetings of boards of directors in a similar studies by Vafeas (1999), where this was
7.45 meetings, and Greco (2010), where this was 9.27 meetings. These differences arise from the
difference in functions of boards of directors in a one-tier board model and supervisory board in a two-tier
board model. Tricker (2009) indicated that boards of directors perform four functions i.e. accountability,
strategy formulation, policy making and supervising executive activities, while supervisory boards mainly
concentrate on supervising executive activities. The average number of supervisory board committee’s
amounts 0.7451. Moreover, more than half of the companies in the sample have no board committee. By
contrast, Vafeas (1999) reported that the average number of standing board committees was 4.29 in his
research. Managerial ownership in the sample is relatively high. The mean is 0.1944, which is higher than
reported by Vafeas (1999), but lower than reported by Greco (2010) for Italian companies. It can be
concluded that managerial ownership is significant in Poland, but not as dominant as for example in Italy.

On average there are approximately 6 directors that serve on the supervisory board and 3 on the
management board. Precisely, the mean of supervisory board size is amounted 5.7343 with standard
deviation 1.2045 and the mean of management board size is 3 with standard deviation 1.3691. Moreover,
it is worth underlining that the lowest number of supervisory and management board members in Poland
are limited by company law. Polish supervisory boards of listed companies should consist of five or more
members and management boards of one or more members. This shows that in particular supervisory
boards of many companies consist only of a minimum number of members. Moreover, the mean of
supervisory board diversity is 0.1427. Thus, women denominate slightly more than 14% of the
supervisory board members, which is consistent with the results of other similar studies carried out in
Poland (Bohdanowicz, 2012). The average debt ratio is 0.4944 and the mean natural logarithm of total
assets (company size) is 19.4359. Furthermore, the mean of return on assets is 0.0148.

Table 1
Descriptive statistics
Variable Mean Standard 10" percentile | 90™ percentile
deviation
Supe_rwsory board 6.4276 3.43 3.0 11.0
meeting frequency
Number of supervisory 0.7451 0.8948 0.0 2.0
board committees
Managerial ownership 0.1944 0.2714 0.0 0.6794
Supervisory board size 5.7343 1.2045 5.0 7.0
S_uper\_/lsory board 0.1427 0.1699 0.0 0.4
diversity
Management board size 3.0 1.3691 2.0 5.0
Company performance 0.0148 0.1408 -0.0805 0.1106
Debt ratio 0.4944 0.4338 0.2163 0.7137
Company size 19.4359 1.6936 7.4766 21.6666

Source: author’s calculations based on data extracted from annual reports

3. Multivariate test

Table 2 illustrates the results of panel data estimation for the sample. The results reveal that the
interaction between managerial ownership and supervisory board meeting frequency is negative and
significant (8 = -3.2767, p < 0.1) and the relationship between managerial ownership and the number of
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supervisory board committees is also negative and significant (8 = -0.5977, p < 0.01). These findings
support the hypothesis that managerial ownership diminishes supervisory board activity and specifically
that managerial ownership negatively affects supervisory board meeting frequency and the number of
supervisory board committee. These results are also consistent with Vafeas’s (1992), Mendez and
Garcia’s (2007) and Greco’s (2010) findings. They show that managerial ownership reduces the activity
of supervisory boards and their ability to fulfil their control function.

Table 2
Panel data estimation
Dependent variables
Independent and
control variables Supervisory board Number of supervisory
meeting frequency board committees
Managerial ownership -3.2767+ -0.5977**
(1.9479) (0.2435)
Supervisory board meeting frequency _ 0.0056
(0.00801)
Number of supervisory board 0.3516 _
committees (0.5095)
Supervisory board size 0.1209 0.1303***
(0.3146) (0.0387)
Management board size -0.2388 0.0307
(0.2343) (0.0295)
Supervisory board diversity 0.9494 0.2523
(1.6867) (0.2117)
Company performance (ROA) -2.0368 -0.2197
(1.2578) (0.1585)
Debt ratio 0.0381 -0.3411*
(1.4503) (0.1811)
Company size -1.6378** 0.0030
(0.7883) (0.1000)
Constant 38.5523** 0.0491
(15.0779) (1.9221)
Adjusted R-squared 0.7075*** 0.9319***

Note: ¥p <0.1; *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001. Standard error is given in brackets.

Source: author’s calculations based on data extracted from annual reports

The analyses identifies three relationships between some of dependent and control variables. They
include a negative relationship between supervisory board meeting frequency and company size (f = -
1.6378, p < 0.01). This relationship is the opposite direction than the relationship noticed in Brick and
Chidambaran’s (2010) study where it was statistically significant. But at the same time in Vafeas’s (1999)
and Greco’s (2011) research this relationship was not statistically significant. Sign found in my study may
result from the structure of the sample. Large Polish companies have concentrated ownership, and the
dominant shareholders can directly control the companies without increasing the activity of corporate
boards (Mendez and Garcia, 2007). Moreover, there is a positive relationship between the number of
supervisory board committees and supervisory board size (8 = 0.1303, p < 0.001). This is due to the fact
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that to be more effective, large boards appoint various sub-committees and entrust them with some
activities, although the supervisory boards as a whole are responsible for the functions performed by these
sub-committees (Colley et al., 2005; Mallin, 2009; Kotadkiewicz, 2011). Furthermore, it shows that there
is a negative relationship between the number of supervisory board committees and debt ratio (8 = -
0.3411, p < 0.05).

Conclusions and discussion

Due to the fact that corporate boards are recognized by managerial hegemony theory as rather passive, it
is essential to examine what leads to their inactivity. This study investigates how managerial ownership
influences the activity of supervisory boards of Polish listed companies. The results reveal negative
interactions between managerial ownership, the frequency of supervisory board meetings, and the number of
board committees. The results also demonstrate that owner-managers can reduce supervisory board activity
in listed companies. Vafeas (1999) explained this relationship on the basis of agency theory and suggested
that board activity is a substitute for the high level of inside ownership in disciplining management. This
does not have to be, and this mechanism may act as a double-edged sword. Many studies show that the
concentration of ownership also in hands of managers may not necessarily lead to maximization of wealth
for all shareholders, but rather towards a danger of abuses against minority shareholders (Shleifer and
Vishny, 1997; Holderness, 2003). Moreover, the relationship between managerial ownership and firm
performance is ambiguous. Some studies found the nonlinear and negative at high concentration of
ownership relationship (Morck et al., 1988; Hermalin and Weisbach, 1991).

Managerial ownership reinforces the problem noted by Jensen (1993). According to him, the CEO
almost always set the agenda for board meetings. This applies to the one-tier model, where the CEO is a
member of the board of directors and often controls it. This problem occurs also in the two-tier board
model. This is noticed by Jezak (2010), who states that the agenda for the meeting and the information for
the supervisory boards are prepared by the management boards, which often leads to the presentation of
incomplete information. In view of this, the negative relationship between managerial ownership and
supervisory board activity support managerial hegemony theory and the conclusions formulated by Mace
(1971) and Lorsch and Maclver (1989). Increase in managerial ownership makes the supervisory board
become rubber stamps and “ornaments on a corporate Christmas tree”. They mainly meet to approve
decisions submitted by manager-owners. There are two reasons for this i.e. legally defined functions and
responsibilities of the supervisory boards and the desire to dominate the supervisory boards by managers.
Especially since the law in Poland does not give the strong position of supervisory boards leaving a lot of
discretion for companies bylaws (Aluchna, 2009)

In view of this, this study may be used as a starting point for a discussion on institutional changes in
the Polish two-tier board model and other countries with implications for the public authorities that are
currently carrying out corporate governance reforms. Firstly, one should consider the introduction of an
optional board model (a choice between one-tier and two-tier board models). An optional model allows
for flexible adaptation of corporate board structure and model to the ownership structure, the type of
sector, as well as the size and scope of activities. Secondly, it would be advisable to impose similar
liability on internal and external directors. In this case, external directors would be less willing to
tolerate a decrease of the supervisory board activity. In addition, if the activity of the supervisory
boards would be less, it could be an incentive for their members to be removed or denied seats on the
supervisory board. The result would be a signal to investors who would be at a greater risk of
Investment in shares of the company.The results of this study are also subject to limitations associated
with the measurement of variables and the method used. The first limitation concerns missing data. Many
Polish companies did not disclose the number of meetings of the supervisory board. This could also affect
the lower level of statistical significance when testing the relationship between managerial ownership and
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the meeting frequency of the supervisory boards than in similar studies carried out in the one-tier board
model (Vafeas, 1999; Greco, 2010). The second limitation relates to the proxy used i.e. number of
supervisory board committees. It would be better to use the number of committee meetings, as did Greco
(2010). Unfortunately, companies in Poland, most frequently give only the number of committees and
their type, but unfortunately very rarely the number of meetings of these committees.
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Abstract

Innovation has become one of economic growth engines, where highly important role is played by
science and well educated human resources. In previous economic periods innovations represented
economic development background, but nowadays it has become one of the main factors of economic
growth. The most recent works of scientists introduces the term ,,innovative economy”, thus representing
the most developed countries of the world, the current development phase. Despite innovations’ high
importance for economic growth, high attention to innovations impacting macro environments factors,
less investigated are innovation value chain issues in microenvironments. Logistic chains and systems
development has helped companies to reduce their expenses rapidly. Innovation systems, components and
influencing factors has been researched and analysed to conclude that innovation consists of innovation
sources, idea processing and concept advancement. Despite popularity of theme, majority of companies
the most used innovation sources are brainstorm and intuition as only source of information for
innovation idea identification. Scientific literature approach to innovation sources is reserved, leaving a
lot of obscure components to hands of “creative marketing”. Authors of Paper analyses sources of
innovation within innovation development value chain. The main objectives of Paper are to provide a
theoretical overview of recently used innovation value chain process, propose improved innovation
process scheme and determinate and classify innovation ideas identification sources. The methodology
employed in the work is relational content analysis, logical analyses and synthesis of related literature,
comparison and generalization, deduction and conceptualization, empirical research.

Key words: innovation sources, marketing, innovation value chain
JEL code: M31

Introduction

In the information century economic is based on knowledge, access to information and productive
work. Economic growth significantly affected by the ability to develop and apply new knowledge that
is based on discoveries. Innovations have become as the cornerstone of economic growth. Here the
major role is played by science and educated people. Innovations that previously was somewhere in
background of economic development, now has become as major development factor. In traditional
economic where the main resource was land, and in industrial society where the main resource was
capital, economic relations and firms competitive advantages formed on this base, and the potential of
use of human resource capital was not emphasized. Scientists in their newest researches presents term
Innovative economics, which describes developed countries current development stage. Contemporary
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global business environment is considered to be too competitive, and the process of implementing
innovations is usually time consuming and unsuccessful. However, innovations are the key of
economic recovery. This was discovered during evaluation of recent economic cycles. During the
process of analysing sales results this was also concluded among the thousands of marketing and brand
managers. The increment of employment level in notably faster in companies that are involved in
innovative development, in comparison with the companies that do not deal with innovations (LU,
2011). It is emphasized that company’s performance and growth cannot be successful in 21* century
unless the company deals with innovations. Innovations are not just about science and technology
development anymore. It is emerging to be social-economic category. (LU, 2011) By emphasizing
vision of Latvia nation’s economy to be among the most developed countries, and to be aware that
macroeconomics is directly affected by many micro-processes that happen in local companies, the aim
of the paper is to identify the innovations development process in companies, and systematize its first
part — innovation idea identification sources of information. Contemporary scientific literature
increasingly evaluates factors that affect innovations, especially emphasizing functions that support
microsystems. Scientific OECD innovation process describes 3 general stages — invention, innovation
and development of new product. However there is lack of literature that investigates concrete
empirically usable methods that could potentially be applied in micro-environments for innovation
creation. Paper aim — ldentify and analyse academically offered and practically used information
sources for innovation idea identification, and, based on findings, provide synthesis of available
sources. Paper tasks: 1) Clarify content of innovation term, 2) ldentify academically offered and
practically used methodologies for innovation process; 3) lIdentify and classify innovation idea
identification sources of information. Paper Research Object — innovation idea identification. Paper
Research Subject — innovation process and innovation idea identity information sources. During the
paper development the following conventional social science and research quantitative and qualitative
methods are used: 1) Monological documentation analysis that provides detailed study of research
object. It is based on comprehensive review of existing scientific literature; 2) Grouping method —
development process of homogeneous groups that is based on splitting statistical set into several
groups according to common characteristics; 3) Graphical analysis method. Recognizes existence of
coherence among objects and characteristics of these coherences that allows constructing graphics; 4)
Content analysis- systematic evaluation, grouping and interpretation of sources of information form
and content. Paper Information sources. Theoretical and methodological core is specialized
economics literature about innovations, marketing, research and development; local and international
scientists’ published works, materials of scientific conferences and seminars, Republic of Latvia
legislation, OECD economics and other international institution provided methodological documents.
Delimitations of Research subjects. Research concentrates on innovation process, and on one specific
stage of innovation development process — identification of innovation ideas focused on information
sources which could allow the company to gain ideas for potential innovations. In the research only
micro-environment factors are being evaluated. The paper is focused on product innovation, but it does
not eliminate process, marketing or organizational innovation. In accordance with OECD redaction,
product innovation involves new or essentially improved goods or services. Product innovation means
significant improvements in products technical specifications, various components and materials,
existing programmes, or in other functional attributes. (OECD, 2005)

Novelty of Paper. Different innovation development processes with various approaches are provided.
By taking into account conclusions provided by theoretical sources, and authors” practical and academic
experience, the improved innovation process model is provided. Summarized and systematized
innovation idea identification sources of information that allow companies to systematically create
innovation ideas, hugely enlarging field of information sources, avoiding from single-sided brainstorm
method appliance.
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1. Innovation definition and process

Within the last decade the word “innovation” has become as one of the most over-used words in the
industry. There are hundreds of innovation term definitions. OECD (Organisation for Economic
Cooperation and Development) defines innovation as new or significantly improved product, service,
process, marketing or organizational methodology implementation. Various methodologies exist for
describing innovative process. These methodologies vary among the different industries. Innovation
process includes innovation creation, analysing and controlling functions. Innovation process’ systems
role is to ensure efficiency, communication, coordination, collection of experience, and coordination of
inter-activities. (Davila, et. al., 2013) OECF innovation process distinguishes 3 main stages — invention,
innovation and development of new product or service. Factors that affect invention are: education system,
Research and Development (R&D), organization supportive structures and technological transfer. Factors
that affect the development of new product or service are: organization’s management, marketing, and
available investments. (OECD, 2005)

OECD emphasizes the innovation phenomena measurement and identification of collaboration
opportunities, innovation process research and potential, paying no attention to studies of specifics of different
industries. Therefore more concrete innovation process analyse schemes are provided by specific industries.

Among many models of innovation process two of the most approbated procesual approaches in new
product development are emphasized: B. A. Hamilton (1982) and G. Cooper (1993). Even though idea is
similar, some dissimilarity between these approaches can be clearly identified. Booz Allen and Hamilton
model (BAH Model — provided in Figure 1) was improved during the applied usage, and it was later been
known as Stage/ Gate Model. (Figure 2)

New Concept
product [———> [Idea Idea development Business Product —> |Test —>
strategy Generation screening and testing analyses development marketing Launch

Source: Michael J. Baker, Susan Hart, 2008, Sixth Edition, The Marketing Book, Elsevier, Great Britain, 261 p.

Fig. 1. BAH innovation process model
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Fig. 2. Stage/Gate innovation process model

The main difference between these models lies in the management approach. BAH model
emphasizes content-conceptual aspect, while Cooper’s model concentrates more on New Project
Development (NPD) project management, dividing each step into project management stages. In the
beginning of innovation development process BAH emphasizes the importance of new product strategy.
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In scientific literature there are duo-versal assessments at the beginning of new product strategy
importance in innovation process. Some scientists believe that it is crucial factor for company to
achieve its objectives. Other scientists however perceive it as limitation that may even delay
development of radical innovations. P. Drucker points to significance of company’s management
fallacies and inappropriateness in identifying innovation ideas. By periodically analysing companies’
management assumptions, the notable innovation for company and industry can be revealed. The ones
who stands for new product strategy development argues with researches that identifies successful
innovation adaption and commercialization results in companies in which innovations have been
implemented. The NPD strategies strengths are clearly defined NPD goals, long-term development
plan, investment plan, proper resource allocation, and appropriate portfolio management, that allows to
avoid work overload of R&D department’s human resource, and ignorance of time schedule. Creation
of NPD strategy also allows to determine investment priorities, and to create list of criteria for
innovation ideas. In US Study “The Best Practice Study” in year 1997 it was found that 60% of US
companies are using one of “Stage/Gate innovation process” modifications. Despite the fact that the
model was created a few decades ago, in 2004 BAH found out that innovation’s success is directly
based on innovation process and its performance in company. (Baker, Hart, 2008)

Gopalakrishnan, S. and Damnpour, F. offers 5 step model for innovation process: 1) Generation of
idea; 2) Project definition; 3) Problem solution process; 4) Design and improvement, 4) Marketing and
commercialization. (Gopalakrishnan, Damnpour, 1997)

M. Assink provides conceptual model for disruptive innovations development. The model consists of
4 procesual stages: 1) Problem identification; 2) Innovation creation; 3) Planning; 4) Implementation.
(Figure 3) (Assink, 2006)
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Source: European Journal of Innovation Management, Emerald Group Publishing Limited, Vol. 9, No. 2, 2006, pp. 215-233.

Fig. 3. Dynamic disruptive innovation process

Bernstein, B., considers innovation process as 4 step process: 1) Idea generation; 2) Innovation
support; 3) Innovation development; 4) Innovation implementation. (Bernstein, Singh, 2006)

In context of entrepreneurship P. Drucker offers the following scheme for innovation process.
(Figure 4) (Swaim, 2010)
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Analyze potential innovation idea identification sources
Determinate consumer needs, desires and expectations
Reduce ideas, by selecting the most simple and concentrated
Start small

Guide innovation as leader in particular segment

VNI |WIN |-

Source: Swaim R., 2010. The Strategic Drucker, Singapore; Ltd. A Wiley Imprint on behalf of Jossey —Bass, page 86.

Fig. 4. P. Drucker’s scheme for innovation process

In marketing one of most common schemes is P. Kotler’s innovation process model which is based on
BAH model. (Kotler, 1999) With his model P. Kotler Claims that new product development starts with
company’s vision. Then the following stages follows: New product’s strategy, idea generation, idea
testing, concept creation and testing, marketing strategy choice, business analysis, product development,
test marketing, and commercialization. (Figure 5)

New Concept
product —> [Idea ——> |ldea —> |development |——> |Marketing |——> |Business | — [Product > [Test —>
strategy generation Screening and testing strategy analyses development marketing Commercialization

Source: Kotler P., 1999. Principles of Marketing, Prentice Hall Europe, New Jersey, USA, 607 p.

Fig. 5. New product development process (P. Kotler)

Latvian researcher A. Abeltina distinguishes four stages for innovative operation as process — new
idea searching and evaluation, development of business plan, resource allocation, and established
company’s management (Figure 6) (Abeltina, 2008).

I Development process of innovation idea |

I Most perspective idea casting |

| Detailed idea description and expert evaluation |

| Extended business plan development |

| Expert evaluation of Business plan |

| Product experimental development and testing in the market |

| Production and commercialization process corrections |

| Product industrial producing and commercialization |

Source: Abeltina, A. (2008). Inovacija — XXI gadsimta fenomens. Riga: SIA "Biznesa augstskola Turiba", 61. Ipp.

Fig. 6. A. Abeltina’s Innovation process

Defence Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA) is one of the most innovative companies in
the USA. Thanks to its findings the internet, GPS, RISC cardiac, soundless aviation and cloud computing
is available to and used by mankind. The DARPA’s previous managers Dugan, E. R. and Gabriel, K. J.
states that DARPA practices slightly different aspects of innovation process in comparison with OECD or
ones which management and marketing academic literature offers. There is unbeneficial gap between
fundamental science researches and new product implementation. Authors of DARPA model insists that
DARPA model is the only model that decreases this gap. In DARPA model there are 3 prerequisites
determined and 4 functions that exists in Paster’s quadrant. The terminology of Paster’s quadrant was first
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introduced by Stock, D. E. It determines the sequence according to which scientific public findings helps
to solve actual and clearly formulated customer need. In Stock matrix in addition to Paster quadrant there
are also Bora, Edison and unnamed quadrant (Figure 7) (Dugan, Gabriel, 2013).

Known practical usage In initial stage?

No Yes
Need for fundamental
understanding?
Bora quadrant. Fundamental Pastor quadrant. Fundamental
Yes |reasearches without concrete researches with target to
linkage with particular problem solve concrete public need.

Edison quadrant. Practical
No |Unnamed. innovation to solve concrete
problem.

Source: Donald E. Stokes, Pasteur’s Quadrant: Basic Science and technology innovation, BROOKINGS
INSTITUTIONAL PRESS, 1997.

Fig. 7. Extended scientific research and consumer needs interaction matrix

Only a few organizations operate in Paster quadrant. Quite rarely the innovation development process can
be observed in this quadrant. It explains the low number of radical innovations coming from companies.
Sometimes R&D department researches are performed in Bora quadrant, and in case of failure, their drop to
unnamed quadrant where no interest in science and no opportunities in commercialization are. In most cases
companies innovation investigation budgets are aimed to maintain company’s competitive advantage. This is
the reason why BAH innovation process (Figure 8) starts with new product strategy which clarifies and provi-
des guidelines the further NPD process. Disadvantage of Paster’s quadrant is lack of guidelines. Results can
decrease business performance even ruin it. Companies innovation departments are not expected to perform
researches that could potentially ruin the business. Therefore Dugana, E. R. and Gabriel, K. J. recommends
companies to form small and independent organizational structures that focus on innovation process within the
Paster quadrant based on DARPA model. Three prerequisites of DARPA model are — ambitious objectives,
short term project teams and independence from institutions control. DARPA model includes 3 functions:
identification of innovation idea, definition of project, and project development monitoring.

Ambitious targets
Short term temporary team
Independence from the supervising institutions

Pastor Quadrant (TM) approach

Monitoring of
project
development

Identification of | Defining the
innovation idea Project

Primary functions| Preconditions|

Source: Regina E. Dugan, Kaigham J. Gabriel, Harvard Business Review, October 2013.
Fig. 8. DARPA innovation method
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In DAPRA method project control is different from classical project management models that
monitor certain border poles of project. In Paster quadrant projects requires different project
management approaches and set of instruments requiring fast iteration and easy, flowing planning
process. Progress can be observed by monitoring iterations and its oncoming towards the goals,
identifying project failure, revealing new opportunities or identifying the need for completely new
technologies. Considering this it becomes understandable that obeying strict deadlines is not effective.
Dugana, E. R. and Gabriel, K. J. points out that sometimes failure of project could be the most
effective tool for revealing new innovation. This aspect is also emphasized by P. Drucker and manager
of P&G company, who prove that failure can be the greatest gain. If the team fails during innovation
process then something has surprised them unprepared, and then it is the greatest finding. It should be
anticipated in high risk innovation processes. DARPA method requires that if it happens, it is very
important to allow team to solve the issue further even though further investigation leads away from
defined project deadlines. During the innovation process in Paster quadrant, it has to be remembered
that the solution can also be unfound. Elastic and temporary teams are one of the most important
components of DARPA project. Implementing short term projects, project leaders concentrates on
results and not worries about career growth which is important in innovation projects of Paster
quadrant. In addition to elasticity DAPRA method requires project team’s autonomy and independence
from management of the company. There can be many reasons why project control institutions do not
accept innovative ideas. Authors of the paper illustrates this with following situation from their
practical experiences with “Latvijas Balzams” innovation — unique amber vodka filtration, which
development took more than 2 years and 50% of the time was spent on idea’s coordination with new
product’s development control commission. Dugana, E. R. and Gabriel, K. J. points out those radical
innovations usually are not consensus projects. DARPA method intends that along several indicated
projects teams chooses those projects which they want to spend time on and work with them
independently. Time reduction in DARPA method is possible by making permanent cooperation
contacts with the industry experts — universities, and research institutes, start-up enterprises, and
freelancers. By using DARPA method “Motorola” has implemented 8 new innovation projects in 14
months, by involving more than 120 companies and institutions from 11 different countries. This
aspect in DARPA method is linked with innovation theoretical ecosystems practical usage in applied
environment.

The newest tendencies in innovation processes are to adapt quality management methods in
innovation process. So far quality management methods have been methodically studied, developed
and approbated more and longer than in innovation process. With the increased importance of
innovations, the significant problem clarifies — inability to ensure innovation management in right
time and quality in early stage of innovation process. One go the newest researches Radeka, K. looks
to innovation process from lean management perspective. Lean management in NPD creates right
products in right time and place for the right markets and for the right costs. Lean management
implementation in NPD has following strengths: more appropriate schedule planning, shorter
development time, increased R&D capacity, lower product costs, better NPD process management
and control, opportunity to develop product that better fulfils clients’ needs by maximizing received
value and minimizing costs. Lean management is dispersed into 4 value flows: Client value flow
(concept development), knowledge added value flow (analysis of opportunities), product design and
testing value flow and manufacturing value flow. Lean management process is divided into
following stages: its provided opportunities, product design, design process, design testing and
manufacturing (Figure 11) that are connected with product development for business decisions.
(Radeka, 2013)
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Fig. 9. A Lean Product development process

K. Radeka considers lean management model to be much better than Stage/ Gate model because of
level of elasticity. Even though this model is interesting, it has not approbated and proven in practice. In
addition, it does not explain how to come down to concept and what the concept involves in itself, how
the communication process is organized. Perhaps it is possible to successfully implement lean
management into Stage/ Gate model. Remark — new innovation process searches indicate that there is
room for improvement this process. By consolidating literature, interdisciplinary practice and empirical
experience, Authors of Paper have provided their model for more complete innovation process
determination. The authors’ model is based on value chain model, and fundamentals of G. Cooper Stage/
Gate scheme (Figure 10).
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Source: Authors’ construction based on research findings.

Fig. 10. Innovation value chain process
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Authors provided model is focused on gradual added value increment during the innovation
development process that is supported with important enterprise functions that are critical in innovation
development. Each step involves an opportunity to suspend innovation process or return it to repetitive
recycling. The greatest difference between authors provided model and other models lies in the approaches
of prioritizing the innovation sources, unlimited with new product development or company’s strategy
development by following conclusions from DARPA model, linking the process of generating ideas with
innovation information sources as logical second step and emphasizes on company’s supportive functions in
innovation development early stages. Authors of Paper conclude that despite existing discourses between
approaches, all Authors are in concord of need of determination of information sources, which will guide
company forward potential innovation. Authors of Paper will consolidate, analyse and systemize
information sources, which inclusive potential innovation idea for the company.

2. Innovation idea identification information sources

Innovation idea identification commonly fallaciously are considered as ideas generation, therefore
associated with complicated, hardly controlled and manageable creative process, which doesn’t conforms with
known research methods. In its extended meaning innovation idea identification means observing concrete,
determinate information sources, concrete methods how to extract ideas out of them and screen for suitability
to particular company needs. Innovation potential realization is strongly linked with research and consequent
conclusions, and there is no place for mysterious creativity hardly to be impacted. Sometimes companies
mistakenly equalize term R&D (Research and Development) with complete innovation process. R&D is
related with research methodologies and be conducted in any of innovation processes. R&D includes 3
activities, related with researches- based research, practical research and experimental development, conversely
innovation is much more extended term, which includes recognition of potential innovation, its screening,
analyse, control, management, commercialization and revise functions. In scientific literature, innovation idea
identification stage in innovation development process is less analysed versus other stages. Persists term SIM
(Structured Idea Management), which has been explored to determinate structured ideas management. 7 tasks
has been marked out in that: 1) nominate criteria’s, 2) to prepare for method “brain storm” 3) conduct “brain
storm”, 4) idea screening, 5) secondary revise of ideas in working group and ideas ordering after priorities 6)
work task revise, 7) final ordering. Authors of Paper evaluates it as generic scheme, which draws use of
“brainstorm” and idea management after that, but is its only one part of other opportunities to approach
systematically to innovation ideas identification. Authors of Paper innovation idea process apportions in 2
sections: information ideas identification and information processing methods to extract innovation idea out of
them (Picture 13). Further in the Paper first step of the process will be inspected. Authors of Paper allot
information sources within external, internal environment and hybrids, which raises out of new innovation
ecosystems. (Baker, Hart, 2008)

| Potential innovation ideas

Information sources processing methods with target to extract potential innovation idea

Quantitative methods | Qualitative methods

Information sources of potential innovation idea identification

Company internal environment information sources | Company external environment information sources Hybridize sources

Source: Authors’ construction based on research findings.
Fig. 11. Innovation ideas identification process scheme
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Innovation ideas identification stage main aim is to develop enough ideas company could screen and
select the most suitable to reach its targets. Innovation identification sources are situated in the company
internal, external and combined (hybrids) environments.

2.1. Companies internal information resources

P. Kaotler highlights that many new innovation ideas should be gathered within the company, by
exploring formal and informal conducts (Kotler, 2006). Engineers, scientists, designers, production staff
in the company, the ones who manages company operation area, are delighted to provide their ideas
substantially their regular contribution to company. As well, management can participate in the
innovation development, by providing their ideas. P. Kotler remarks, that company “Toyota” from
internal environment information sources gather more than 2 million potential innovation ideas.

P. Drucker has singled out importance of internal analyses of existing sales data. Meanwhile he
highlights that innovation ideas starts from 7 sources’ analyse, from which 4 are related with
opportunities in recent industry or entrepreneurship. (Figure 14). (Swaim, 2010) Authors of Paper
oppose that highlighted sources are only 4, the rest are expert methods how to extract information
out of those information sources. Four P. Drucker mentioned sources of potential innovation idea
identification are: 1) companies internal data quantitative research; 2) company internal processes
analyse by any of quality management methods, 3) demographic data dynamics quantitative research
and 4) latest scientific discoveries and Patents content analyse. Others, P. Drucker mentioned, are
expert methods.

Opportunities in recent industry Opportunities outside recent industry
1|Unexpected success or failure Changes in Demographics
2|Incongruity Changes in social economics perceptions
3[Needs of Process 3[New knowledge
4|Changes in Industry or market structures

[EEN

N

Source: Swaim R., 2010. The Strategic Drucker, Singapore; Ltd. A Wiley Imprint on behalf of Jossey -Bass. pp. 86-98.

Fig. 12. Innovation idea identification sources

The same imprecision is found in other Authors, which indicates and approves the low level scientific
investigation done behind innovation idea identification sources exploration.

Employees of company. Main source of potential innovations ideas is employees of company,
highlighted by majority of topic investigators. Employs of the company have the best knowledge of
company operative area, because are involved in the company processes the most. Employs have the
ideas what should be done better, and how it could be improved, and what could be resigned at all.
Authors of Paper have observed that very often employees’ initiate innovative ideas, as far someone from
managers are ready to listen. Repeatedly employees has outstanding ideas, how to solve company
problems, and employees themselves points out needed innovations. By inspiring company employees to
submit ideas, after that support their development, company can significantly increase successful
innovations amount in their entrepreneurship activities. Authors of Paper are marking out following 3
categories of employees, importantly for innovation idea identification, — management of company,
leading experts and sales force.

Company business partners, suppliers or distribution partner are rich environment of potential
innovation ideas. Suppliers can inform about latest technologies, concepts, technics or materials, which
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can be embraced by developing new product or service. Useful information can be gathered from industry
professional editions, exhibitions, government agencies, new product consultancy companies, seminars,
advertising agencies, marketing research companies, universities, Science Parks and scientists. Existing
product portfolio analyse is important resource, especially unexpected success or failure in it. Often
slight changes in any of them, can guide to new radical innovation with new products and brands. For
example, company ‘“Unilever”, 1930-ties for regular soap added detergent ingredients, therefore
innovating forward powder as new category. (Trot, 2012)

2.2. Companies external information sources

Companies’ competitors, their production or services are significant abundant potential
innovation ideas information source. Through extended analyses of competitor’s products, by
focusing not only on copy, imitation or successful adaption strategies, but also on potential
improvement, there is high opportunity to gather important information. Through competitor’s
analyses it is important to analyse and factors and components, which makes them so successful,
diving deep in true consumers and customer needs and desires. By implementing desired
improvements, companies could gain particular and measurable competitive advantage over their
most successful competitors. P. Kotler mentions, that around 30% new products of companies are
developed after competitors production new products analyse. Customers and Consumers
researches are one of the most explored innovation potential sources companies explore. Besides
well conducted by traditional marketing research methods, one important source is companies
Customers Clients articulated desires. Instead of listening to Clients, companies conduct expensive
consumer researches. Usually Clients are ready to express their needs and desires free of charge and
delightful that somebody Supplier Company listens to them. Clients of Company almost always
know what they want, and commonly they have innovative ideas, how their needs could be served
the best with new products or services. After researches P. Kotler concludes (Kotler, 2006) that 28%
of new products are Client inspired, by careful listening and observing. There is recommendation for
the Company to conduct Researched between Clients to gather information about Clients needs and
desires. Through analyse of them there is possibility to identify potential innovation ideas directly
serving Clients and contributing to Company almost immediately. Besides gathering information of
Clients desires and needs, as much important is to understand complains and questions. By studying
Clients complains and problems, P. Kotler suggests initiate working group of company production
department, and motivate them to solve Clients problems in extraordinary way. P. Kotler marks, that
companies “GE”, “Sony”, “Toyota” and other innovative companies are organizing engineer
meetings with Clients, for innovation inspiration. As much ideas can be sourced through Clients
observation. Despite marketing departments research major and constant focus on consumer
researches, consumers ability to articulate their desires is limited, claimed by ,,Sony” recent
innovation leader Akio Morita (Morita, A.), and that was believe of ,,Apple” previous leader Steve
Jobs. (Trott, 2012). Morita A. this finding funded with public uncertainty of what is available, and
company must guide consumer, and have to reach behind to consumer present desires and need
states. Companies, which will discover needs and desires of future consumer, will be sustainably
successful in the future. Morita suppose, that companies must constantly challenge recent markets,
consumers and their recent needs. Companies “IBM” and “Xerox” have learned that lesson in
practice, that today’s consumer might not be future’s consumer. Scientists S. Hamel and C.K.
Prahalad have visually demonstrated area of unarticulated consumer needs, and highlighted high risk
probability, if company doesn’t take it in account. (Figure 13) (Trott, 2012).
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Source: S. Hamel, C.K. Prahalad, 1994. Competing for the future, Harvard Business Review, Vol. 72, No. 4, pp. 122-8.

Fig. 13. New consumers gathering in the future

Trends. Micro and macro trends plays significant role in potential innovation idea identification.
Trends are more significant and permanent determinates of consumer’s future needs, versus seasonal up-
downs. Trends reveal curtain of future by providing a lot of opportunities. P. Kotler as sample highlights
movement of fitness trend, which slowly but permanently changed a lot of industries surrounded-
cosmetics, food, house hold, leisure time activities, food beverages, farming, clothing and other industries.
As “Impact”, leading market research professional magazine un USA market, reported, one of fastest
growing alcoholic beverages brands in 2012 were “Skinny Girls”, low calorie alcoholic cocktails.
According P. Kotler, macro trends are large social, political and technological process, which are
embodied in 7-10 years period, and they do worth investigation during studies of information gathering of
potential innovation ideas. Innovation program is much more successful, when aligned with micro and
macro trends, not only concentrated on new needs and market developments, according to P. Kotler.
(Kotler, Keller, 2006)

Changes in demographics— age structure changes, variations dynamics in education, income,
geographic and other demographic indicators, brightly and concretely guides to upcoming future need of
consumers. Exploring new knowledge in technologies and non- technologies is the most time taking
route to the innovation development, but might most probably to guide to radical innovation. P. Drucker
and P. Safo, have estimated averagely 20- 30 years approbation period from new technology indication
till its approbation into commercial environment. Changes in industry and structures in the market,
which are linked with consumer needs, choices, expectations, desires and values changes, is abundant
information source of potential innovation ideas. Such changes indicates any industry rapid growth,
lifestyle magazines reports, which are keen to gather the freshest and latest trends. (Swaim, 2010)

2.3. Hybridize information resources for innovation determination

Open innovation methods- usage of crowd power. In scientific literature more appears information of
open innovations. Till millennium innovation process in the companies were closed and confidential, but
now more and more companies initiates open innovation process, asking outside input in challenges
company faces. There is several crowd involvement dimensions — a) broad involvement open innovation
competition, which is large scale available to any interest, named crowd contests; b) innovation
competition, which is meant for particular cluster groups, named collaborative communities. Kevin J.
Boudreau and Karim R. Lakhani (Boudreau, Lakhani, 2013) without previously mentioned two, identifies
another 2 dimensions for open innovations- complementors and labour market (Table 1). Crowd
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complementary function is to find innovative application to existing product or brand by developing
platforms to other innovative solutions. For example, application to smartphones or other solutions for
Google is considered as crowd complimentary innovation. Crowd labour market dimension involves
potential employee market by challenging existing labour market system, when employees are contracted
on long-term bases. Several on-line companies have opened data bases of concrete human resources
services. Those can be explored and hired temporary or permanently by any company or project office.
That type crowd innovations rapidly impacts and facilitates “start-up” company entrepreneurship, any
innovation projects in the settled companies, without enough resources for innovation departments.

Table 1

Open innovation dimensions by using power of crowd

Purpose

Challenges

Best Use

Contests

Generating high-
value solutions to
complex or novel
problems through
large-scale and
diverse independent
experimentation

The problem must be
generalized and
stripped of company-
specific details

Highly challenging
technical, analytical,
and scientific
problems; design
problems; creative or
aesthetic projects

Collaborative
communities

Aggregating a large
number of diverse
contributions into a
value-creating
whole

The crowd lacks the
shared culture and
cohesiveness of a
company, making it
harder to control;
intellectual property
can’t be protected

Customer support
communities; wikiw;
open-collaboration
projects for
information and
software products
with complementary
assets inside the firm;
FAQs

Complementors

Encouraging
innovative solutions
to users’ many
different problems
with your core

It can be
technologically
daunting to provide
access to the functions
and information in the

Open operational,
product, or marketing
data initiatives;
content mashups;

apps

flexibility matching
talent to discrete
tasks

problems to farm out
and who in the
organization will
manage the labor pool
may be difficult

product core product while
protecting your assets
Labor Markets | Efficiently and Identifying which Well-established

categories of work
that can be clearly
described and
evaluated; human
computation; repeated
tasks

Source: Kevin J. Boudreau and Karim R. Lakhani, Using the Crowd as an Innovation Partner, Harvard Business

Review, reprint R1304C, April 2013.

In Figure 14 Authors of Paper offer illustration of main conclusions of paper.
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Innovation idea identification sources in the company
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Source: Authors of Paper developed graph based on research findings.
Fig. 14. Innovation idea identification sources in the company

Authors of Paper by consolidating scientific literature and different approaches, combined with
empirical practice, concludes, that there are 10 sources of information, internal, external and hybridized,
company can use to analyse to identify potential innovation idea.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

Innovation is key driver of contemporary economics. Developed and effective innovation process is
key important to company to ensure sustainable competitiveness. There is significant focus in scientific
research to innovation influencing factors in macro environments vs. direct influencing activities in micro
environment- company which actually develops particular innovation. A lot of various approaches to
innovation process are available both in scientific and practical environment. Variations in processes are
both - substantial and gradient. Process details are highlighted as extremely important to deliver most
valuable innovation process. There is reserved approach from scientist’s perspective to very start of
innovation process- determination of innovation idea. Concepts and researches of this innovation process
part are blurred and uncertain, majority of it deducted to method “brain storm”, creativity and abstract
ideas generation. Authors of Paper by consolidating theoretical conduction and empirical experience,
propose new, gradually improved innovation process, based on most approbated Coopers’ Stage/ Gate
model, enriched with newest discoveries of quality and logistics management and clear and highlighted
focus on innovation idea identification through deliberated information sources. Authors of Paper have
gathered and systemized information of 13 concrete sources of potential inclusion of innovation idea,
based on various scientists’ essays about the theme, including the newest approaches both on scientific
literature and practical environment. Gathered and systemized information of potential innovation sources
are half process to determinate innovation idea. Specific information processing methods should be used,
to extract potential innovation idea out of those information sources, which is Authors recommendation
for further Researches. Authors of Paper recommends to start to approbate proposed improved innovation
process scheme, by highlighting scientifically innovation idea identification through scientific and
determinate approach, avoiding of mysterious and uncontrolled creativity approach.
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Abstract

The Directive 2013/34/EU on the annual financial statements, consolidated financial statements and
related reports adopted by the European Parliament and the European Council in 2013 provides that by
the 20" of July, 2015, the Member States shall bring into force the normative and administrative
enactments, which are necessary to observe the requirements of this Directive. The evaluation of the
requirements of new accounting Directive is a topical issue, therefore the authors of the article have set
the research aim to perform the comparative analysis of the conditions of the Directive 2013/34/EU
adopted by the European Parliament and the European Council and the present requirements of “Annual
Accounts Law” of the Republic of Latvia, in order to evaluate the most appropriate alternative variants
admissible in the Directive for the situation of Latvia.

For the purpose of the achievement of aim, the authors apply generally accepted economic research
methods.

Having analysed in detail the laws and regulations of the EU and Latvia regulating accounting, as
well as the points of view of scientists and accounting specialists from the EU Member States in
relation to the expected changes and their influence, the authors have developed recommendations to
the legislator regarding the preferable the structure if financial reports according to different
enterprise categories, as well as the recommendations concerning the evaluation methods of the most
important items of assets.

Key words: accounting, financial reporting, legislation, EU directive
JEL codes: M41, M21, K20

Introduction

On the 26™ of June, 2013, the European Parliament and the European Council adopted the Directive
2013/34/EU on the annual financial statements, consolidated financial statements and related reports of
certain types of undertakings, amending Directive 2006/43/EC of the European Parliament and of the
Council and repealing Council Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC. It is stipulated by the article
53 of the Directive 2013/34/EU that by the 20" of July, 2015, the Member States shall bring into force
the normative and administrative enactments, which are necessary to observe the requirements of this
Directive (European Parliament and of the Council, 2013). After 35 years (previously, the Fourth
Council Directive of the 25" of July, 1978 — 78/660/EEC was applied), the European Parliament and
the Council have adopted this new directive, which aims at elaborating the higher-quality regulations,
and to provide a proportional administrative burden. It obliges not only the legislator to analyse in

! Corresponding author — e-mail address: Inta.Bruna@Iu.lv, phone number: +371 67034701

52 Inta Briina, Inta Millere



~ New Challenges of Economic
) and Business Development — 2014

May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia

detail the novelties, which have been included into the mentioned document, but also for the
practitioners and researchers to understand the expected changes, in order to evaluate their impact on
the entrepreneurial environment and on the economic development in general. The theme of the article
is very topical, because as regards the Republic of Latvia, which is a member state of the European
Union, the application of the new normative regulation in the sphere of the business economics will
influence any company, which shall comply with the requirements of the drawing up and submission of
the financial statements, the consolidated financial statements and the related reports. The exact effects
of any Directive on a particular country will depend upon the laws passed by national legislatures
(Nobes Ch., Parker R., 2012). Since in Latvia, in accordance with the criteria, stipulated by the
Commission (EC) Regulation No. 800/2008, 99.5% of the Latvian companies are small and medium-
sized enterprises — SMEs (The Ministry of Economics, 2012) and in accordance with the principle
“think small first”, laid down in the statement, issued by the European Commission, as well as in
accordance with the objective of the strategy "Europe 2020" regarding the reducing of the
administrative burden for SMEs (European Parliament and of the Council, 2013), the authors look into
the question and research the impact of the application of the requirements of the Directive 2013/34/ES
on the SMEs of the Republic of Latvia. Therefore, the authors propose and set forward the objective of
the research: to investigate the regulations of the Directive 2013/34/ES of the European Parliament and
of the European Council, to compare them with the normative regulations, which are currently in force
in the Republic of Latvia, and to make and submit the proposals for the changes in the normative
enactments of the accounting regulations of the SMEs in the Republic of Latvia. According the
research aim, the authors study the requirements of the Directive 2013/34/EU and the regulation of
accounting only in relation to SMEs, mostly evaluating the requirement of “Annual Accounts Law” of
the Republic of Latvia, but in this article they do not analyse the requirements set regarding the
preparation of a consolidated financial statement and related reports. In order to achieve the target of
the above mentioned work, the following tasks shall be carried out:
¢ to identify and to single out the categories of the companies, which correspond to the criteria
of the Directive 2013/34/ES, and to identify the importance of the number of these companies
in Latvia;
¢ to analyse the requirements, which have been included into the Directive (2013/34/ES), regarding
the preparation and drawing-up of the financial statements pertaining to the SMEs, and to compare
these requirements with the normative regulations of the Republic of Latvia;
o to identify and to single out the major essential changes, which are necessary for the accounting
regulations within the SMEs in the Republic of Latvia;
e to evaluate the major essential consequences regarding the implementing of the changes, and to
elaborate the proposals for the amendments to the normative enactments and regulations of the
Republic of Latvia.

In the research there are applied the methods of general scientific research in economics: of economic
analysis and synthesis, logically — constructive, qualitative methods including the methods of the analysis
of normative acts. The theoretical and methodological grounds of the paper are the normative acts
regulating accounting, works produced as by Latvian so foreign scientists and Internet sources.

The article has its theoretical and practical significance as regards the research of the problematic
issues pertaining to the accounting regulations, which shall be observed while preparing and drawing-up
the financial statements and reports, but the proposals, in their turn, have their practical application, by
making the changes in the normative regulations of the Republic of Latvia.

The structure of the article has been formed and created according to the contents and sequence of the
tasks, which have to be carried out.
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Research results and discussion

1. Categories of Enterprises complying with the Criteria of the Directive 2013/34/EU, the
Number of Such Enterprises and the Evaluation of the Influence of the Application of
These Criteria in the Republic of Latvia

In order to evaluate the significance of the influence of the Directive 2013/34/EU conditions on the
enterprises of different sizes, it is important to establish, how many enterprises there are in each group
and what the proportion of it is. The SMEs in Latvia, like in all the European Union, are very important.
It is explicitly shown by the information included into Tables 1 and 2.

Table 1
Number of Enterprises and Persons Employed by Enterprise Size-Class in the EU
Indicator Micro Small-sized Me_dlum- Large Total
sized
Number of 19 279 555 1450 008 228 209 45184 21 002 956
enterprises
% of enterprises 91.80 6.90 1.09 0.22 100
Number of person 39 971 506 27182 991 22701131 44186 670 134 042 298
employed
Share of 29.60 20.80 16.80 31.80 100
employment
Employees per 2.1 19.3 99.5 930.0 -
enterprise
Source: Study on Accounting Guide for SMEs, 2014. Ernst & Young
Table 2

Division of the Enterprises of the Republic of Latvia by the Size and Employment, 2012

Enterprises Employment
Number of Number Share of
enterprises % of enterprises of person employment
(thousand) employed (%)
(thousand)
Micro Enterprises 61.788 87.8 143.463 26.8
Small Enterprises 6.900 9.8 140.963 26.4
Medium-sized 1.485 2.1 135.579 25.4
Enterprises
SMEs 70.172 99.7 420.005 78.6
Large Enterprises 184 0.3 114.590 21.4
Total 70.356 100 534.595 100

Source: SBA factsheet 2013 — Latvia, 2013.
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According to the date of Table 1, where the criteria concerning the enterprise size categories are based
on the indicators valid in the EU, which have been specified in the Commission Regulation (EC) No
800/2008 of 6 August 2008 declaring certain categories of aid compatible with the common market in
application of Articles 87 and 88 of the Treaty, the proportion of SMEs in the EU is 99.79%, but
regarding to the number of persons employed it constitutes 67.2%. In the Latvia the situation is similar
and the proportion of SMEs in 2012 was 99.7%; however the proportion of the number of persons
employed at the SMEs was comparatively higher and in 2012 it constituted 78.6% out of all industrial,
construction, trade and services enterprises included into the survey (see Table 2).

The authors of research have compared the enterprise criteria set in the EC Regulation N0.800/2008
and the criteria included into the Directive 2013/34/EU. The comparative analysis has been presented in
Table 3.

Table 3

Comparative Analysis of the Criteria for the Classification of the EU Enterprises

Employ Annual Balance Sheet Annual Turnover
The Category of (thousand EUR) (thousand EUR)
Enterprises
2008. (1) 2013. (2) 2008. (1) 2013. (2) 2008. (1) 2013. (2)
Micro Enterprises <10 <10 <2000 <350 <2000 <700
Small Enterprises <50 <50 < 10000 <4000 < 10000 <8000
Medium-sized <250 <250 <43 000 <20 000 <50 000 <40 000
Enterprises
Large Enterprises >250 >250 >43 000 >20 000 > 50000 > 40000

Sources: (1) Commission of the European Communities, 2008. Commission Regulation (EC) No 800/2008.
(2) European Parliament and of the Council, 2013. Directive 2013/34/EU.

The comparative analysis of the criteria of the EU enterprises showed in Table 3 enables to draw a
conclusion that the rest of the criteria in the Directive 2013/34/EU, except for the number of employed
persons, namely, the total amount of the annual balance sheet and the annual turnover are lower than in
the Commission Regulation (EC) No.800/2008 of the year 2008.

Having compared the criteria of the Directive 2013/34/EU and the criteria provided by “Annual
Accounts Law” of the Republic of Latvia, for example, the criteria set in Section 54." of the law (the total
amount of the balance sheet — 50,000 euro, the net turnover — 100,000 euro and the average number of
employees in the accounting year — 5) and considering them to be the criteria for the micro enterprises,
although such a term is not used in the section, the authors draw a conclusion that the criteria set in the
Directive 2013/34/EU considerably exceed the criteria set in the law of the Republic of Latvia: the
number of employees — twice, the total amount of the balance sheet — seven times, but the net turnover —
10 times. It means that, for example, in 2012 there were 58 thousands or about 73% of all subjects under
“Annual Accounts Law” that complied with the criteria provided by Section 54." of “Annual Account
Law” (Ministry of Finance, 2012), although the criteria set in Section 54.! until the year 2014 were even
lower (the total amount of the balance sheet — 49,700 euro (35,000 LVL) and the net turnover — 99,400
euro (70,000 LVL), when the criteria of the Directive 2013/34/EU would be applied there will increase
considerably the number of micro enterprises, because, according to the unofficial calculations of the
State Revenue Service, in 2012 more than ninety per cent of those submitting the annual reports complied
with the criteria of the Directive 2013/34/EU set for the micro enterprises. “Annual Accounts Law”
provides that the micro enterprises may include an abridged balance sheet and a profit or loss account into
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the annual account, as well as these enterprises have other exemptions as well. The authors point out that,
if the micro enterprises will have the existing exemptions provided by “Annual Accounts Law”, provided
also by the Directive 2013/34/EU, then 90% of the subjects to the law will have an opportunity to
exercise them and to submit only an abridged balance sheet and profit or loss account. The authors find
that, when preparing the amendments to the “Annual Accounts Law”, this fact shall be taken into
consideration, because the structure of the financial report and the conditions for the disclosure of
information are important factors for the development of the information basis for the national economy,
including also determining of macro-economic relations and future forecast. Taking into consideration the
common tendency for diminish of administrative burden, on the basis of the principle “think small first” it
is important not to demand from the enterprises waste information or information which overlaps in
different reports and accounts (for example, in the statistical accounts), but, in each country, it is
important to gather all necessary information that is needed in general and to perform integrated
evaluation, what information and which categories of enterprises need to present in the annual account in
order it would be useful for all users of the annual account — investors, customers, public institutions and
others. The authors suggest that, when developing the amendments to “Annual Accounts Law”, it is
necessary to perform integrated evaluation regarding the necessity to provide information.

By a particular category of enterprises in conformity with both the directive 2013/34/EU, as well as
taking into consideration the needs of the national economy of the Republic of Latvia and to determine
the minimum necessary information to be disclosed in the accounts.

There were no separate criteria set for small enterprises in the Republic of Latvia before, but Section
54 of “Annual Accounts Law” provides for exemptions to the enterprises that do not exceed two criteria
set in this section: (the total amount of the balance sheet — 400,000 euro, the net turnover — 800,000 euro
and the average number of employees in the accounting year — 25). The enterprises that comply with two
of the above mentioned criteria do not need the verification of the annual account. In the year 2012 the
above mentioned enterprises constituted 93% out of all subject to the law (Ministry of Finance, 2012). If
there would be included into the normative regulation of the Republic of Latvia the following, which is
provided by Article 34 of the Directive 2013/34/EU that “Member States shall ensure that the financial
statements of public-interest entities, medium-sized and large undertakings are audited by one or more
statutory auditors” (European Parliament and of the Council, 2013), and the small enterprises, as well as,
of course, micro enterprises would not need the report of certified auditors on their annual accounts, thus,
according to the unofficial calculations of the State Revenue Service, less than 1% of subjects to “Annual
Accounts Law” of the Republic of Latvia would need the obligatory verification of the annual account.
The authors find that it might considerably endanger the quality of provided information and therefore,
when setting the requirements regarding auditing of annual accounts of the enterprises of the Republic of
Latvia, the obligatory verification of annual accounts shall be envisaged not only for the public-interest
entities, medium-sized and large enterprises, but also for the small enterprises.

After the adoption of the Directive 2013/34/EU, the scientists and accounting specialists from other
countries expressed their views on the expected changes and their consequences. For example, according
to Zarova M., researcher from the University of Prague, the supplementing of the content of the
Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC not always has had a positive result. “Mentioned studies confirm
that amendments have tended to ignore the comparability and usefulness of the financial statements,
increased reporting requirements and the number of Member State options. All these facts have
ultimately, in the long run, led to increased complexity and regulatory burden for all companies. As
confirm other EC Communication from 2008, shortly described as ,,Think Small First“, this increased
burden bears down primarily on smaller companies” (Zarova M., 2013). In his turn, Steve Collings,
researcher from the United Kingdom, points out that “The new directive has largely been welcomed, but
not without some reservations. Certain critics have alleged that if the UK does adopt the new directive in
its entirely, it will result in financial statements that misleading, watered-down and fail to give a true and
fair view — something that has been enshrined in the Companies Act for many years.” (Collings S., 2013).
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Similar cautious approach has also Grant Thornton Rimess managing partner Mati Nommiste, according
to whom “lower-volume and less comprehensive reporting might not satisfy the needs of all data
consumer, and may condition the need to request additional information.” (Ndommiste M., 2013).

The authors of the article emphasize that, if the administrative burden is diminished, it, on the one hand,
influences the business environment positively, on the other hand — there might develop the unfavourable
situation for the decision-makers in relation to the volume, content, detailed level and quality of available
information. If there would be only the minimum of the requirements set in the Directive 2013/34/EU
integrated into the national laws and regulations for the regulation of accounting, the above indicated
consequences might be observed not only in Latvia, but also in the EU Member States with small economy.

2. Comparative Analysis of the Most Significant Requirements Set in the Directive
2013/34/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council and in the Council
Directive 78/660/EEC, and the Normative Regulation of the Republic of Latvia

In order to evaluate the provisions of the Directive 2013/34/EU in relation to SMEs, the authors
compared the requirements set in the Directives 2013/34/EU, 78/660/EEC and “Annual Accounts Law”
of the Republic of Latvia. Having compared the above mentioned normative regulations, the authors
established that:

o the Directive 2013/34/EU comprises many new requirements that were not before included into

the Directive 78/660/EEC, as well as in the normative regulation of the Republic of Latvia;

e the Directive 2013/34/EU does not comprise separate requirements anymore that were earlier

included into the Directive 78/660/EEC and into “Annual Accounts Law” of the Republic of Latvia;
¢ in the Directive 2013/34/EU, in comparison to the Directive 78/660/EEC, there have been changed
the particular requirements.

In Annex VII to the Directive 2013/34/EU there has been included the table on the compliance of the
Directive 2013/34/EU and the Directive 78/660/EEC. Within the framework of this article, the authors do
not study in detail the compliance of each paragraph, but identify the most significant differences by
performing the comparative analysis of each of the above mentioned groups.

As the most important new provisions that are included into the Directive 2013/34/EU and were not
included into the Directive 78/660/EEC, as well as into the normative regulation of the Republic of Latvia
before, the authors point out the categories and groups of enterprises determined in Article 3 of the
Directive 2013/34/EU, thus classifying enterprises into micro enterprises, small enterprises, medium-
sized enterprises and large enterprises. This division and its evaluation in detail the authors of the article
studied in Part 1. The authors point out that there have been new concepts included into the Directive
2013/34/EU — for example, public-interest entities — undertakings whose securities are admitted to trading
on a regulated market, credit institutions, insurance undertakings, as well as designated by Member States
undertakings that are of significant public relevance because of the nature of their business, their size or
the number of their employees (Paragraph 1 of Article 2 of the Directive 2013/34/EU).

According to the authors’ point of view, the most significant requirements, which were included into
the Directive 78/660/EEC and into “Annual Accounts Law” of the Republic of Latvia before, but the
requirements, which are not included into the Directive 2013/34/EU anymore, are the following:

¢ inthe text of the Directive 2013/34/EU there are no profit or loss account forms included anymore,

but they are included into the annexes to the Directive. The most significant is the fact that the
profit or loss account (in the Directives — profit and loss statement) forms in account format that
were included into Articles 24 and 26 of the Directive 78/660/EEC and, respectively, in “Annual
Accounts Law”, Section 13 — profit or loss account form in account format (classified according to
period costs method), and Section 14 — profit or loss account form in account format (classified
according to turnover costs method), are not envisaged in the new Directive 2013/34/EU at all;
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¢ the Directive 2013/34/EU does not comprise requirements regarding “Extraordinary income” and
“Extraordinary expenses” that were included into Sections 29 and 30 of the Directive 78/660/EEC.
The definition of these items are included into Section 23 of “Annual Accounts Law”, as well as
such items are in the profit or loss account forms in Sections 11 — 14 of “Annual Accounts Law”.

While comparing the requirements set in the Directives 2013/34/EU, 78/660/EEC and in “Annual
Accounts Law” of the Republic of Latvia in relation to the components of annual account, the authors
prepared Table 4.

As we can see in Table 4, it was pointed out in the Directive 78/660/EEC that the annual accounts
comprise a balance sheet, a profit or loss account and an annex, but separately in Part 9 it was explained
what shall be included into the annual report. In the Directive 78/660/EEC it was not pointed out that
annual account comprises also a cash flow statement and a statement on the changes in equity capital. In
its turn, the Directive 2013/34/EU provides that the annual financial reports shall comprise at least a
balance sheet, profit or loss account and the notes of financial statements, as well as in Chapter 5 there are
requirements set for the management report. In Paragraph 1 of Article 4 of the Directive 2013/34/EU it is
also pointed out that “Member States may require undertakings other than small undertakings to include
other statements in the annual financial statements in addition to ....” (European Parliament and of the
Council, 2013) In its turn, “Annual Accounts Law” of the Republic of Latvia provides for all subjects to
the law that the financial statement includes also a cash flow statement and a statement on the changes in
equity capital — “the LR “Annual Accounts Law” in addition to the set by the Directive 78/660/EEK since
1996 has included the cash flow statement and since 2000 — the statement of the changes in equity capital,
which greatly increased the administrative burden” (Millere 1., 2013).

In order to diminish the administrative burden, the authors propose to determine that the micro
enterprises shall include an abridged balance sheet and a profit or loss account into the annual account (in
compliance with Part 2 of Article 36 of the Directive 2013/34/EU), small enterprises — a balance sheet,
profit or loss account and an annex to the financial statement; to determine that the financial statement of
medium-sized enterprises, large enterprises and the enterprises the transferrable securities of which may
be sold in any regulated market in any Member State, comprises a balance sheet, a profit or loss account,
a cash flow account, an account on the changes of equity capital and the annex to the financial statement,
as well as there shall be submitted the management report.

The comparative analysis of the requirements set in the Directives 78/660/EEC and 2013/34/EU
enables to draw a conclusion that the layouts of the balance sheet included into both Article 9 of the
Directive 78/660/EEC and Annex Il to the Directive 2013/34/EU, and which in the Directive
2013/34/EU is named as the horizontal layout of the balance sheet, are basically identical. As the most
significant differences could be pointed out the fact that in the Directive 2013/34/EU it is not envisaged to
disclose “costs of research” as “intangible assets”; “long-term financial assets” do not comprise the item
of “own shares” anymore, but “loss for the accounting year” is not included into the balance sheet assets
(as it was in the Directive 78/660/EEC), but in the liabilities of the balance sheet there shall be disclosed
“profit or loss for the financial year”. The comparative analysis of Article 10 of the Directive 78/660/EEC
and Annex IV to the Directive 2013/34/EU concerning the second — vertical layout of the balance sheet,
which envisages to include short-term creditors following the items of assets, but then — to disclose “net
current assets/liabilities” and “total assets less current liabilities”, then — “creditors: amounts becoming
due and payable after more than one year”, “provisions” and “capital and reserves”, shows that, like in the
case of the comparison of the horizontal layout of the balance sheet, in the Directive 2013/34/EU it is not
envisaged to disclose “costs of research” as “intangible assets”; “long-term financial assets” do not
comprise the item of “own shares” anymore. It should be pointed out that both the Directive 78/660/EEK
and the Directive 2013/34/ES envisage the alternative layout of the balance sheet — the separation of
short-term items from the long-term items, which, in fact, has been taken into account in the normative
regulation of the Republic of Latvia, because the layout of the balance sheet included into Section 10 of
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“Annual Accounts Law” basically complies with the horizontal layout of the balance sheet, but the short-
term items have been separated from the long-term items.

Table 4

The Most Significant Requirements set in the Directives 2013/34/EU, 78/660/EEC of the European
Parliament and of the Council and in “Annual Accounts Law” of the Republic of Latvia regarding
the Components of Annual Account

Directive 2013/34/EU

Directive 78/660/EEC

“Annual Accounts Law”

and loss account, Member States
shall prescribe one or both of the
layouts set out in Annexes V and
V1. (Article 13)

No. | (European Parliament and of (Council of the European of the Republic of Latvia
the Council, 2013) Communities, 1978) (Supreme Council, 1992)

1. | The annual financial statements The annual accounts shall The annual accounts, as a
shall constitute a composite comprise the balance sheet, the unified whole, shall consist
whole and shall for all profit and loss account and the of a financial report and the
undertakings comprise, as a notes on the accounts. These report of the company
minimum, the balance sheet, the | documents shall constitute a management regarding the
profit and loss account and the composite whole. (Article 2) development of the
notes to the financial statements. | The annual report shall include company during the
(Article 4) at least a fair review of the accounting year. (Section 4)
The managgment_ report shall development an'd performance The financial report is a
include a fair review of the of the company's business and unified whole. which
development and performance | of its position, together witha | - oe o pon o chaat o
of the undertaking's business description of the principal risks rofit or loss account. a ca,sh
and of its position, together and uncertainties that it faces. ?Iow statement. a stat;ament
with a description of the (Article 46) of changes in e’quity and an
p“”"'p"f" r_|sks anq annex. (Terminology Used
uncertainties that it faces. in this Law)

(Article 19)

2. | For the presentation of the For the presentation of the The balance sheet shall be
balance sheet, Member States balance sheet, the Member States | prepared in accordance with
shall prescribe one or both of shall prescribe one or both of the | the form provided in Section
the layouts set out in Annexes | layouts prescribed by Articles 9 | 10 of this Law. (Section 5)
11 and IV. (Article 10) and 10. (Article 8)

Member States may permit or Member States may permit or

require undertakings, or certain | équire companies, or certain

classes of undertaking, to classes of company, to present

present items on the basis of a thosg Items on the basis of a

distinction between current and gsr?r(]:itrlr%% Pﬁgﬁfg%ﬂﬁg ?ﬁ:{
r;;rglff ;:grr]r: Lﬁg;{‘ Oa:f:]r‘]ferent the ?nformation given is at least

. equivalent to that otherwise
Annexes Il and 1V. (Article 11) required by Articles 9 and 10.
(Article 10a)
3. | For the presentation of the profit | For the presentation of the profit | The profit or loss shall be

and loss account, the Member
States shall prescribe one or
more of the layouts provided for
in Articles 23 to 26 (Article 22)

calculated in accordance
with the forms provided in
Sections 11-14 of this Law.
(Section 5)
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Having evaluated the application of the layouts of the balance sheet, the authors draw a conclusion
that in future there shall be only one layout of the balance sheet — the horizontal layout of the balance
sheet — in the normative regulation of the Republic of Latvia, and the alternative variant shall be
applied without envisaging the second variant included into Annex IV to the Directive 2013/34/EU —
the vertical layout of the balance sheet — for the enterprises of the Republic of Latvia. The proposal the
authors justify as follows: since in the Republic of Latvia the accounting, in fact, complies with the
European accounting model, as it was pointed out by Millere I. (Millere 1., 2013), and the countries
attributed to this model (Germany, France, Italy etc.) apply the horizontal layout of the balance sheet,
where the assets are disclosed according to the increasing sequence of liquidity, although there is also
allowed the vertical layout of the balance sheet — according to the financial standing by determining net
current assets/liabilities. As it was pointed out by Nobes Ch., Parker R. in the book “Comparative
International Accounting”, the layout of the balance sheet according to the financial standing is more
often applied in the countries of Anglo-Saxon accounting model, for example, in the United Kingdom,
Australia (Nobes Ch., Parker R., 2012). As one more factor the authors point out the fact that since the
day, when “Annual Accounts Law” came into force on 1 January 1993 (from 1 January 1993 till 22
November 2006 the title of the law was “On the Annual Accounts of Enterprises™), there was only one
layout of the balance sheet envisaged for the enterprises of the Republic of Latvia, which was also
applied by the enterprises of the Republic of Latvia. It means that the enterprises, during two last
decades, have applied this layout of the balance sheet and have understood it. The authors also find
that, when one layout of the balance sheet is applied, it makes it easy to compare the data of the
balance sheet of different enterprises.

For the preparation of profit or loss account both the Directive 78/660/EEC and “Annual Accounts
Law” of the Republic of Latvia provided for four forms. The comparative analysis of the formats
presented in the respective Sections of “Annual Accounts Law” of the Republic of Latvia and the
Acrticles of the Directive 78/660/EEC (Section 11 and Article 23; Section 13 and Article 24; Section 12
and Article 25; Section 14 and Article 26) shows that there are no disparities. As it was mentioned
above, the new Directive 2013/34/EU provides only for two profit or loss account forms in vertical
format by nature of expense (Annex V to the Directive 2013/34/EU) and by function of expense
(Annex VI to the Directive 2013/34/EU) the items of which, in comparison to the provisions of Section
11 (Profit or loss account form in vertical format (classified according to period costs method)) and
Section 12 (Profit or loss account in vertical format (classified according to turnover costs method)) of
“Annual Account Law” of the Republic of Latvia, are basically equal, except for the extraordinary
items, which are not anymore provided for in the Directive 2013/34/EU. The authors point out that
until now there were incomprehensible titles attributed to the layouts of profit or loss account
(classified according to period costs method or classified according to turnover costs method), because
profit or loss in any case is calculated for the period, but the classification of costs differs (according to
their nature or functions). Taking into consideration the requirements set in the Directive 2013/34/EU,
the authors’ point of view is that there should be two layouts of profit or loss account envisaged in
“Annual Accounts Law”, and they should be correctly named as profit or loss account according to the
nature of costs or profit or loss account according to the functions of costs, and there shall be no
extraordinary items included into these layouts.

In Table 5 the authors have shown separate requirements set for the evaluation of the items of annual
account, which differ in the Directives 2013/34/EU, 78/660/EEC and in “Annual Accounts Law” of the
Republic of Latvia.
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Table 5

Requirements set in the Directives 2013/34/EU, 78/660/EEC of the European Parliament and of the
Council and in “Annual Accounts Law” of the Republic of Latvia regarding the Evaluation of the
Items of Annual Account

Directive 2013/34/EU

Directive 78/660/EEC

“Annual Accounts Law” of

purchase price or production cost
of stocks of goods of the same
category and all fungible items
including investments to be
calculated either on the basis of
weighted average prices, on the
basis of the "first in, first out"
(FIFO) method, the "last in, first
out" (LIFO) method, or a method
reflecting generally accepted
best practice. (Article 12)

No. | (European Parliament and of the | (Council of the European the Republic of Latvia
Council, 2013) Communities, 1978) (Supreme Council, 1992)
1. | Member States may permit the The Member States may The actual cost of acquisition

permit the purchase price or
production

cost of stocks of goods of
the same category and all
fungible items including
investments to be calculated
either on the basis of
weighted average prices or
by the ‘first in, first out’
(FIFO) method, the ‘last in,
first out’ (LIFO) method, or
some similar method.

(Article 40)

or production of inventory
may be determined as the
weighted average price or by
using the “First in — first out”
method (FIFO). (Section 31)

The revaluation reserve may be
capitalised in whole or in part at
any time. (Article 7)

The revaluation reserve may
be capitalized in whole or in
part at any time. (Article
33)

The revaluation reserve for
long-term investments shall
not be allocated to dividends,
used to cover losses,

transferred to capital or other
reserves, or used in for social
purposes, for charity or for
other purposes. (Section 29)

As we can see in Table 5, in order to evaluate the inventories both the Directive 78/660/EEC and the
Directive 2013/34/EU provide also for the application of LIFO method (“last in — first out”), but “Annual
Accounts Law” of the Republic of Latvia provides for the application either weighted average price or
FIFO method (“first in — first out”). The authors point out that the International Accounting Standards
Board excluded the application of LIFO method for the evaluation of inventories already more than a
decade ago — the former option to use LIFO was removed in 2003 with effect from 2005 (Nobes Ch.,
Parker R., 2012). Authors find that, like before, there should be only two methods envisaged in “Annual
Accounts Law” for the evaluation of inventories — weighted average price or FIFO method, but, since
many companies shall apply inventories items for the accounting, the authors’ point of view is that there
should be the requirements set for the accounting and evaluation of inventories in the normative
regulation of the Republic of Latvia, because in no other normative regulation of the Republic of Latvia
there are no such requirements set for the subjects to “Annual Accounts Law”, who are not allowed to
apply the international accounting standards. We can find similar situation regarding also other items, for
example, intangible assets, therefore the authors find that, when the amendments are made to “Annual
Accounts Law”, it is necessary to include also the requirements for the evaluation of items, which are not
in detail included in this law or in the related Regulations of the Cabinet of Ministers, because for the
enterprises for which it is not provided by the EU Regulation No.1606/2002 or other laws and regulations
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in compliance with which such enterprises shall apply the international accounting standards, the
requirements regarding the preparation of an annual account are provided only by this law and related
Regulations of the Cabinet of Ministers.

As we can see in Table 5, there is also difference between the requirements set in the Directives
(78/660/EEC and 2013/34/EU) and in “Annual Accounts Law” of the Republic of Latvia in relation to the
revaluation of the capitalization of reserves. The normative regulation of the Republic of Latvia does not
provide for the capitalization or utilization of revaluation reserve for other purposes. The authors find that
it is necessary to apply this requirement also in future in relation to the revaluation reserve of long-term
investments.

Conclusions, Proposals, Recommendations

The conclusions, which have been drawn as a result of the carried out analysis, coincide with the
opinions and views of the professionals and scientists of other countries (Zarova M., 2013; Nommiste M.,
2012) regarding the fact that the impact of the Directive 2013/34/ES has a varied and diverse nature, not
only in relation to the companies coming from different categories, but also on the entrepreneurial
environment in general in the economic systems of different sizes.

As a result of performed research, having compared enterprises according to their qualification
requirements in conformity with the Commission Regulation (EC) No 800/2008 of 6 August 2008
declaring certain categories of aid compatible with the common market in application of Articles 87 and
88 of the Treaty, the authors established that the proportion of SMEs in the EU is 99.79%, but the
proportion of employed persons constitutes 67.2%. In Latvia the situation is similar and the proportion of
SMEs in 2012 was 99.7%. The comparative analysis of the enterprise criteria of the Directive
2013/34/EU and the criteria provided by the Commission Regulation (EC) N0.800/2008 of the year 2008,
except for the number of employed persons, namely, the total amount of the annual balance sheet and the
annual turnover are lower than in the above mentioned Regulation.

According the research aim, the authors have studied the terms of the European Parliament and the
European Council Directive 2013/34/EU, compared them to the normative regulation in force in the
Republic of Latvia and, in order to ensure that the requirements of the Directive 2013/34/EU would be
included into the normative regulation of the Republic of Latvia, as well as in order to diminish the
administrative burden — particularly for the SMEs, the authors propose the following amendments to the
normative regulation of the Republic of Latvia:

1) to determine that the annual account of micro enterprises comprises an abridged balance sheet and

a profit or loss account (in compliance with Part 2 of Article 36 of the Directive 2013/34/EU), the
annual account of small enterprises — a balance sheet, a profit or loss account and an annex to the
financial statement, the financial statement of medium-sized enterprises, large enterprises and the
enterprises the transferrable securities of which may be sold in any regulated market in any
Member State, comprises a balance sheet, a profit or loss account, a cash flow account, an account
on the changes of equity capital and the annex to the financial statement, as well as there shall be
submitted the management report;

2) to perform integrated evaluation regarding the necessity to provide information by a particular
category of enterprises in conformity with both the Directive 2013/34/EU, as well as taking into
consideration the needs of the national economy of the Republic of Latvia and to determine the
minimum necessary information to be disclosed in the accounts;

3) when setting the requirements regarding auditing of annual accounts of the enterprises of the
Republic of Latvia, the obligatory verification of annual accounts shall be envisaged not only for
the public-interest entities, medium-sized and large enterprises, but also for the small enterprises;
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4) in future it shall be determined that there only one layout of the balance sheet — horizontal layout
of the balance sheet, and the alternative variant shall be applied;

5) there should be two layouts of profit or loss account envisaged in “Annual Accounts Law”, and
they should be correctly named as profit or loss account according to the nature of costs or profit
or loss account according to the functions of costs, and there shall be no extraordinary items
included into these layouts;

6) like before, there should be only two methods envisaged for the evaluation of inventories —
weighted average price or FIFO method, and there should be the requirements set for the
accounting and evaluation of inventories in the normative regulation of the Republic of Latvia;

7) it is necessary to include the requirements for the evaluation of items, which are not in detail
included in this law or in the related Regulations of the Cabinet of Ministers.
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PURPOSES OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITING:
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AND CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DISTORTIONS JUSTIFICATION
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Abstract

Problems of methodological discrepancy of financial statement preparation and presentation criteria to
the concept of financial information usefulness, to financial statements doctrines and to uncertainty of
financial statements’ auditing criteria are presented. A justification of necessity to the criteria of financial
statements audit on the basis of the modern concept of the financial information usefulness determined by
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (2010) is given in a context of the settled accounting
doctrines. Criteria of fairness and trustworthiness of financial information are defined, and also
justification of distortions’ misstatement classification of the financial statements on the basis of the
established criteria of audit are presented.

Key words: fairness, faithful representation, relevance presentation, usefulness, reliability, trustworthiness,
normative and descriptive truth

JEL code: M42

Introduction

The subject of this research is the methodological compliance of financial statements and auditing
systems regarding the purposes, namely compliances of preparation and presentation of financial
statements preparation criteria to financial statements auditing criteria. The purposes of preparation and
presentation of financial statements and the audit of financial statements have to be correctly correlated. It
means that criteria of preparation and presentation the information in financial statements have to
correspond to criteria of verification of audited financial statements. From the methodological point of
view this compliance is an important requirement of effective auditing of financial statements.

Research results and discussion

The analysis of international standards of financial statements and auditing allows to draw a
conclusion that starting since 2001 were designated, at least, two various methodological situations
concerning correspondence of financial statements and auditing objects in a context of the concept of
financial information usefulness development.
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Situation 1. Discrepancy of financial statements’ preparation and presentation criteria to the
concept of financial information’ usefulness and uncertainty of financial statements auditing.

Till September, 2010 the concept of IFRS was defined by the Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (Framework). Basing the formulation of the financial statements
purpose given by the Framework (item 12) and Framework (item 9) it is possible to say that the main
criterion of preparation and presentation of information in financial statements is its usefulness from the
point of view of the interested users. Such purpose of the financial statement and ways for its
achievement created actually the concept of financial information usefulness. Its basic ideas proclaimed
that financial information can be useful for the interested users only if its content is relevant and reliable,
and representation — comparable and understandable. These requirements are qualitative characteristics of
financial information and, therefore represent the main criteria of its usefulness. The requirement to
follow additional criteria of usefulness is established in the relation to relevance.

Despite unity of approaches to define the purpose of financial statement the Framework and 1AS1
contain methodological distinctions regarding requirements to financial statements. These distinctions are
caused by that the concept of usefulness of financial information is cornerstone of the Framework; and
IAS 1 is based on provisions of two concepts — usefulness of financial information and fair presentation
of financial statements.

From the interconnected provisions of IAS 1 (item 15 and item 17) follows that fair presentation of
information in financial statements is provided due to observance of those qualitative characteristics
that ensure usefulness of financial information. The Framework also point that the financial statement
can be prepared according to one of doctrines “true and fair view” or “fair presentation”. Though the
Framework do not have a direct bearing on these doctrines, observance of qualitative characteristics
along with application of the corresponding standards of the account allows to achieve fair presentation
or a true and fair view of financial statements. Thus, concepts of fairness and usefulness are the parallel
concepts, not subordinated one another with the general criteria of compliance, and in this sense not
contradicted each other.

On the other hand, contradictions do exist and its source is positioning of IAS 1 faithful representation
as main criterion of financial statement fair presentation. But approach “fairness of representation as
faithful representation” is limited owing to the following circumstances:

1) faithful representation is not basic criterion of financial information usefulness, and represents
only one requirement to provide one of basic qualitative characteristics — reliability of financial
information (Figures 1 and 2);

2) from the point of view of the interested users the fair representation of information in financial
statements has to mean not only faithful representation, but also relevance presentation.

3) from the point of information contents’ quality in the financial statement, fair representation can
not be estimated only by one criterion — faithful representation.

Audit has to carry out an assessment of financial statements’ quality and degree of financial
information usefulness and fairness of its representation. According to IAS 200 “Overall objectives of the
independent auditor and the conduct of an audit in accordance with international standards on auditing
“the purpose of audit is to enhance the degree of confidence of intended users to financial statements; it
can be reached by expression the audit opinion whether the financial statement is prepared in all material
aspects according to the applicable financial reporting framework (item 3, edition 2009, 2010, 2012 of)”.

Depending on applicable financial reporting framework the opinion of the auditor expresses either the
financial statements “presented fairly in all material aspects” or “gives a true and fair view”.

Uncoordinated at the level of the concept and standards criteria of preparation and presentation of
financial statements generate an uncertainty of audit criteria (Figure 1).
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In Figure 3 the situation 1 which is characterized by the following ratios is presented:

1) 1AS 1 # the Framework (2001) as fair representation according to the Framework and IAS 1 is
provided due to compliance to qualitative characteristics of relevance, reliability, comparability
and understandability. But it is defined nevertheless, as faithful representation, criterion of
usefulness, secondary to its basic characteristics;

2) TAS 1 # ISA 200 as fair presentation of information in financial statements determines only one
main criterion by IFRS 1 — faithful of representation that disperses from essence of doctrines of
“fair representation” and “true and fair view” in a context of audit of financial statements and
doesn't allow to establish criteria of their confirmation;

3) The Framework # ISA 200 as it impossible to allocate the main criteria of audit in a context of
doctrines “fair presentation” and “true and fair view” owing to inconsistency of criteria of
usefulness and fairness.

materiality faithful consistent
faithful representation
representation
Relevance Reliability Comparability Understandability
faithful { %\“\5\ T
representation '“"-R_K Qualitative

L characteristics

— -

Fe:ir " Fairness < ) Usefulness
presentation IAS 1
enhance the £ I'-, .
Compliance with degree of ".?_
faithful the applicable____ confidence __ 1sa200 ™~ |
representation framework the financial 7o
\ / statement Framework 2001
True and fair Usefulness
view |

|
? / Qualitative
L ]

characteristics

Relevance Reliablility Comparability Unc;:c_:ﬁ'tandability

materiality  faithful consistent
representation

Fig. 1. Situation 1. Discrepancy of financial statements preparation’ and presentation’
criteria to the concept of financial information usefulness and uncertainty of financial
statements’ auditing criteria

Nevertheless, as the requirement of “faithful representation™ is not the main criterion according to
which usefulness (quality) of information provided in financial statements is estimated, it can not act as
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the only criterion of audit of financial statements (irrespective of its concepts — “fair presentation” or “a
true and fair view”). Therefore, there is an objective need to identify the criteria of an assessment of
financial statements, as for increase the degree of provided information usefulness, and for increase the
degree of confidence from the interested users to financial statements.

Situation 2. Discrepancy of preparation and presentation of financial statements’ criteria to the
concept of usefulness and to criteria of financial statements auditing.

Emergence of this methodological situation is caused by innovations in the concept of IFRS regarding
the purpose and qualitative characteristics of financial information. In order to increase the usefulness of
the financial information for interested users, it has to represent faithfully information on those economic
events which it has the purpose to represent (that is to be complete, neutral and free from error), and to be
relevant (that is to correspond to users needs for obtaining information suitable for an assessment of the
presents and forecasting of future cash flows). Usefulness of financial information increases if it is
comparable, verifiable, timely and understandable (Figure 2).

Usetul financial information

1T

Level 1 Fundamental qualitative characteristics of financial information)
Relevance ‘ Faithful representation
Materiality Neutral
Complete
: Free of error
Level 2 Enhancing qualitative characteristics of useful financial information
Comparabilit Verifiability Timeliness Understandability

Fig. 2. The concept of usefulness of financial information for users of financial statements
according to the Framework for Financial Reporting (2010)

Determination of faithful representation and relevance of representation as the main criteria of
usefulness of financial information allows to allocate a necessary level of quality of financial information
as compliance to standards and norms (faithful representation) , and sufficient level of its quality at
compliance of information provided in financial statements to needs of the interested users (relevance of
representation).
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The Framework of 2001 defined reliability along with relevance of financial information as the
priority qualitative characteristic. However, the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting of 2010
abolishing the requirement of reliability of financial information thereby eliminated uncertainty of its
interpretation.

In a general sense, reliability of financial information is its qualitative characteristic which means
that users can rely on it at adoption of economic decisions, being confident in lack of mistakes in it.
However, in a context of the concept of the financial information usefulness reliability can be treated
differently, depending on what sense bears in itself the category of usefulness. Usefulness is
characterized by possibility to use information, its necessity, suitability and need for financial
statements users. Usefulness is defined by a representation format and also by contents of provided
information. Depending on perception of financial information usefulness it is possible to consider it
in two forms:

1) usefulness a priori, expressed by the thesis “financial the reporting is useful as it is the main source
of information for the analysis and an assessment of future cash flows of the enterprise™. In this
case reliability should be regarded as independent criterion of quality of financial information
along with usefulness of this information;

2) usefulness a posteriori, being expressed the thesis “financial statements is useful to users as in it
doesn’t contain material distortions”. In this case reliability should be perceived as criterion of
usefulness.

In either case, reliability of financial information provides quality made by users of financial
statements of economic decisions while usefulness in the first case (a priori) can't provide quality made
by users on the basis of financial information of decisions, and in the second case (a posteriori),
usefulness, when ensuring reliability of financial information, provides such quality.

The basic qualitative characteristics of financial information established by the Conceptual
Framework allow to identify criteria of an assessment of quality of financial statements and to estimate
usefulness of provided information in a context of doctrines: “true and fair view” and “fair presentation”.
In our opinion, regardless of financial statements doctrines the auditor has to express opinion on faithful
presentation of information in financial statements (Figure 3).

Situation 2 is presented on Figure 5. It characterize by the following ratios:

1) IAS 1 # the Conceptual Framework as criteria of fair presentation of financial information and
criterion of its usefulness being at the same time criteria of preparation and presentation of
financial statements as a whole are not coordinate with each other.

2) TAS 1 # ISA 200 as fair presentation of information in financial statements determines only one
main criterion by IFRS 1 — faithful representation that disperses with essence of doctrines of “fair
representation” and “a true and fair view” in a context of audit of financial statements and doesn't
allow establishing criteria of its confirmation.

3) The Conceptual Framework = ISA 200 if to take the main qualitative characteristics for criteria of
financial statements audit that provide its usefulness according to the Conceptual Framework —
faithful representation and relevance of financial information.

Revision of the concept of usefulness allowed looking in a new way at criteria of audit of financial
statements in a context of the settled doctrines. However, still, inconsistency of criteria of preparation
and submission of financial statements by the Conceptual Framework and 1AS 1 as result of limited
treatment of the concept of “fair representation” is observed that, in turn, generates discrepancy of
criterion of fairness on IFRS 1, criteria of an assessment of fair presentation of financial statements in
all material aspects on IAS 200.
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Fig. 3. Situation 2. Discrepancy of criteria of preparation and presentation of financial statements
to the concept of usefulness and to criteria of audit of financial statements

Situation 3. Compliance of criteria of preparation and presentation of financial statements of the

concept of usefulness of financial information and their compliance to criteria of audit of financial

statements (hypothetical).

Proceeding from the above, it is necessary to develop other than two considered before situations,
namely, a situation at which there are no methodological contradictions in criteria of financial statements

and audit (Figure 4):

1) 1AS 1 = the Conceptual Framework under a condition of limited approach elimination to treatment
of the term “fair representation”.

2) IAS 1 = ISA 200 under a condition if fair presentation of information in financial statements on
IFRS 1 demands not only true, but also pertinent representation.

3) The Conceptual Framework = ISA under a condition if to take the main qualitative characteristics
providing its usefulness according to the Conceptual Framework for criteria of audit of financial
statements.
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Fig. 4. Situation 3. Compliance of financial statements’ preparation and presentation
criteria to the concept of financial information usefulness and its compliance to criteria
of audit of financial statements (hypothetical)

Conclusions

As a result of the above research two criteria of financial statements auditing — faithful representation
and relevance of the financial information — in application both to a doctrine “fair representation” and
doctrine of “a true and fair view” were established. However, other question is how is possible to estimate
performance of these criteria during the audit of financial statements and to get audit evidence, and also
whether these criteria in principle are checked within applied doctrines of financial statements.

First of all, it is necessary to determine the concepts “fairness” and “reliability” and how they are used in
relation to financial statements. In accounting and auditing monographs these doctrines carry different titles, for
example, an expression “fair representation” use as “reliable representation” or “‘conscientious representation”,
and expression “a true and fair view” as “a reliable and objective view”, “a reliable and conscientious view”.
Also in some monographs the translation of the term “faithful representation” as “representative fairly” or
“truthful representation” differs. Such divergences can be connected with translation peculiarities and the
content of scientific articles but application of uniform approach is preferable.
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Proposals

1. Definition of criteria of fairness and trustworthiness of financial information

Proceeding from the aforesaid, it is possible to consider as criterion of fairness the true, and criterion of
trustworthiness — truth. The true has normative character, and truth the descriptive: “The True and Truth
bear in itself typologically different types of knowledge. The True characterizes knowledge of the standard
plan in which a certain model of action is set. The Truth characterizes knowledge in which a certain model
having a position of affairs, a certain model of the real is depicted. That is, it is possible to tell that the True
indicates on due, those rules which it is necessary to adhere, and Truth that is, a certain ideal order to which
it is necessary to aspire and to which it is possible to come through performance of the corresponding
obligations, through the True” [9]. And from this point of view, fairness really has standard character,
expressing compliance due, and reliability descriptive, reality characterizing certain compliance.

However, according to our opinion, from the point of view of fairness and trustworthiness of
representation of information on the reporting entity, however, as the criterion of fairness can be also
presented in financial statements as a special case of standard truth that doesn't contradict neither to its
interpretation, nor an origin. The fairness and trustworthiness ratio in relation to real, due and reflected is
presented in Figure 5.

=

ra ) [ wetew ] [ 0w
~ S ~5.

Fig. 5. Fairness and trustworthiness ratio

where,

real (actual situation on the enterprise);

reflected (in financial statement);

due (principles and standards of financial statements, information needs of users of financial statements).

Then, hypothetically the auditor has to establish truth not only descriptive, but also standard character,
namely:

1) compliance reflected to real (trustworthiness);

2) compliance reflected to due (fairness);

3) compliance actual to due (fairness).

In audit the truth gains standard and descriptive character. The proof order to such standard and
descriptive truth assumes getting evidence on fair representation, that is establishment of compliance of
provided in financial statements information and a real situation of the enterprise to criteria of truth
(faithful representation, relevance presentation). The theory of audit deals with probabilistic estimates.
And on this basis trustworthiness that is degree of correspondence of compliance has to be established to
truth of descriptive character, namely compliance of a real situation of the enterprise of information
provided in financial statements (Figure 6). Trustworthiness has a material element of uncertainty caused
by impossibility of ensuring all completeness of information.
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truth relevance)

Fig. 6. Criteria and order of proof process of trustworthiness and fairness of financial statements

2. Justification and application of criteria of audit within doctrines of financial statements

The order of proof of trustworthiness considered above and fairness of financial statements is logically
built in system of doctrines of financial statements, and allow to express normative and descriptive truth
in audit to express in the form of concrete criteria irrespective of, whether the auditor has to express
opinion on compliance of financial statements to the applicable principles of its preparation and
representation in a doctrine context “fair representation in all material aspects”, or “a true and fair view”
(Figures 4, 6 and 7).

Doctrine financial reporting

Fair representation, in all material respects True and fair view
Faithful Relevance Trustwirthiness Fairness
representation presentation presentation representation
. In all material |4 Faithful and relevance
In all material respects = .
respects presentation

Fig. 7. Description of concepts of submission of financial statements

Recommendations

One more argument in confirmation need of reduction in methodological compliance of the concept of
usefulness, criteria of preparation and submission of financial statements and criteria of audit of financial
statements is necessity of misstatement of the financial statement’ classification on fidelity and relevance
of representation in it information on a financial position, financial results and cash flow (Figure 8).
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Fig. 8. Criteria of audit of financial statements as justification of classification of its distortions

The auditor expressing opinion on compliance of financial statements to the applicable principles of
financial statements has to estimate probability of distortion of financial statements by two main criteria:
faithful representation and relevance of representation of information in financial statements. Such
distortions can carry both qualitative and quantitative character, and in that, and other case, can be
estimated from the point of view of importance.

As a result of research the following aims were solved: problems of methodological discrepancy of
preparation and presentation of financial statements’ criteria to the concept of financial information
usefulness and to doctrines of financial statements and, correspondently, to uncertainty of financial
statements auditing criteria. There is presented justification of requirement to definey the criteria of
financial statements audit on the basis of the modern concept of usefulness of the financial information
determined by the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (2010,). It is given in a context of the
settled doctrines of accounting. Criteria of fairness and trustworthiness of financial information are
defined, and also justification of classification of distortions of financial statements on the basis of the
established criteria of audit is presented.
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Abstract

This paper studies the performance measurement of international joint ventures (IJVs) in China.
Firstly, relative concepts and theories of performance measurements in 1JVs will be shown. Then
dynamic capacities theory will be introduced to explain its effects on performance of 1JVs. After that, a
newly integrated framework performance measurement for Sino-foreign 1JVs will be presented in the
resource-based view (the RBV) and dynamic capabilities perspective. Finally, case study on Nokia
through the concept of dynamic capacities will be showed. It is found that apply dynamic capabilities can
be a new criteria of performance measurement for 1JVs in China. Both stability and flexibility do matter
for 1JVs. Conclusion will be made at the end of this paper.

Key words: 1JV, performance measurement, dynamic capabilities, China
JEL code: M16, F44

Introduction

International joint ventures (1JVs) which are widely used in global markets and competition consist of
legal organizational firms and their parent companies from different countries (Shenkar & Zeira, 1987).
With the implementation of reform and opening up policy and China’s entry to World Trade
Organization, IJVs take the advantages of tax-free policy, resource sharing and low cost of labour in
China, which results in dramatically rapid growth of 1JV in China since the mid-1980s. According to the
data from State Administration for Industry & Commerce of the People's Republic of China, numbers of
projects for contracted foreign direct investment in China adds up to 24925 units in 2012,

Many researches on 1JVs performance have been made since Franko (1971) issued the article named
“Joint venture survival in multinational corporations”. Several organizational theories have been applied
to evaluate corporations performance such as transaction costs economics (e.g., Hennart, 1988), agency
theory (e.g., Reuer & Miller, 1997), resource-based view (e.g., Eisenbardt & Schoonhoven, 1996).

This article will present a newly integrated framework performance measurement for Sino-foreign
1JVs in the resource-based view (the RBV) and dynamic capabilities perspective. Influencing factors are
classified into internal and external factors to discuss the elements influencing 1JV performance. Dynamic
capabilities which contain adaptive capabilities, absorptive capability and innovative capability will be
used to formulate the performance measurement approaches. A specific case study on Nokia using the
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theory will be given to see its application in the really world, followed by conclusion and suggestions in
the last part.

Literature review

Researchers from all over the world have done large quantities of studies about 1\VVJs which provide
enormous empirical statistics for almost three decades (e.g., Li et al., 2001). However, there are limits and
drawbacks with regard to some measurements. For example, financial measures (Zhang et al., 2007) for
the 1JV tend to be rolled into consolidated company data which has been criticized because data are hard
to separate and unavailable to get. As another commonly uses performance measurement for 1JVs, overall
satisfaction (Boateng & Glaister, 2002) may frequently raise validity threats due to sample error because
different respondent may perceive different satisfaction. Additionally, some researchers fail to present a
systematic and complete framework. For instance, Larimo (2003) lacks essential conceptual framework
despite his good work on summarizing pervious researchers on Asia 1JVs. When it comes the article of
Ren et al. (2009), it is innovative that they study the 1JVs performance in a multi-dimension view, but the
validity of new mode is still questioned with less organized analysis of drivers of 1JV performance.

Fierce competition has driven firms to constantly adapt, renew and reconfigure their capabilities and
resources more effectively, which is in dynamic capabilities perspective (Teece et al., 1997; Eisenhardt &
Martion 2000). The concept of the resource-based view (RBV) puts emphasis on resources and capabilities
for companies to achieve competitive advantage: resources are heterogeneously distributed across
competing firms (Barney, 1991). Dynamic capabilities emerged to increase the RBV by encapsulating the
evolutionary nature of resources and capabilities (Teece et al., 1992, 1997; Eisenhardt & Martin, 2000;
Zahra & George, 2002). Dynamic capabilities can be defined as the firm’s ability to integrate, build, and
reconfigure internal and external competences to address rapidly changing environments (Teece et al., 1997,
p. 516). There are increasing evidences from empirical studies that firm’s dynamic capacities influence firm
performance significantly. For example, Henderson and Cockburn (1994) suggested that a firm’s ability to
integrate knowledge from external sources was positively correlated with the ability company, its research
productivity, measured by the number of patents. Consequently, previous research result will be established
and a theory-based and comprehensive framework will be proposed. In this paper, dynamic capabilities
theory in the resource-based view is used as performance measurement for Sino-foreign 1JV. As Wang and
Ahmed (2007) mentioned, dynamic capabilities have three main component factors, namely adaptive
capability, absorptive capability and innovative capability. The author will use these three capabilities as key
criteria to measure 1JV performance.

Factors influencing 13V performance

The integrated framework (figure 1) contains four factors influencing 1JV performance and three
briefly classified methods of performance measurement.

It is acceptable to separate factors into internal and external factors generally when considering
particularly political and economic environment in China. Moreover, applying dynamic capabilities
theory in the resource-based view to the IJV performance measurement approaches provides a new
perspective for 1JV evaluation. Some studies merely use financial assessment such as return on
investment (ROI) and market share to measure 1JV performance (Hofer, 1983), while some studies put
emphasis on multi-dimensional assessment which involves objective and subjective indictors, which
makes classification too extensive to concentrate (e.g., Luo & Park, 2004). In resource-based view, firms
are heterogeneous in their resources (Teece et al., 1997). Dynamic capabilities, as one of resources enable
the company to establish competitive advantage to promote its efficiency and effectiveness (Barney,
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1991). Therefore, it is reasonable to use dynamic capabilities in resource-based view as IJV performance
measurement approaches especially in recent market with high-velocity. Furthermore, there are three
main component factors of dynamic capabilities including adaptive capability, absorptive capability and
innovative capability.

1. 1JV-Parent Characteristics

According to previous researches, it is for sure that the parent company has a significant impact on
DV performance. However, the influence of a parent firm’s size on IJV performance remains
controversial. Isobeet al. (2000) discovered that the size of a parent firm has negative effects on 1JV
performance, while Barkema and Vermeulen (1997) argued that there is no relationship between the size
of a parent firm and 1JV performance. Additionally, the impact of the time to entry the Chinese market on
1JV performance is also discussed. Isobe et al. (2000) found that a first mover to the Chinese market is
able to earn entry advantages to obtain customers’ loyalty and strong brand name. On the other hand, Li
et al. (2001) revealed that it is more preferred for 1JVs entering the Chinese market later.

2. Culture

Hofstede (1984) defined culture as the collective program of the mind that differs the members of one
group from another. Culture is one of the most crucial drivers of IJV performance (Lu, 2006). On one
hand, Brouthers and Bamossy (2006) claimed that culture understanding will increase 1JV performance
by enhancing trust between partners. Li et al (2001) suggested that high cultural distance would lead to
creative ideas and cross-cultural distance, which results in high Sino-foreign IJV performance. On the
other hand, some studies indicated that cultural differences could give rise to conflicting expectations,
communication problems and misunderstanding which have a negative effect on IJV performance
(Pothukuchi et al., 2002). Trust reduction (Luo, 2001) and increase of 1JV instability (Makino et al.,
2007) will also caused by culture distance. Except these opinions, some researches even suggested that
there is no relationship between culture differences and 1JV performance (Luo, 2002b).

Internal External
factors factors

JV-Parent -
Culture Regularity Industrial

Characteristics Characteristics Characteristics

- =

JV Performance

Adaptive Performance Innovative
capability Measurement capability
Absorptive
capability

Fig. 1. The integrated framework for 1JV performance evaluation
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3. Regularity Characteristics

Considering the unique political environment in China, regularity characteristics involving
institutional restrictions and local government policies have great impact on Sino-foreign 1JV
performance (Osland & Cavusgil, 1996; Nippa et al., 2007). Boddewyn and Brewer (1994) argued that
unpredictable changes in local government policies such as rules changes about foreign investment may
lead to instability which affects 1JV performance. Such regularity changes a lot in the past decades (Yan
& Gray, 1994). In terms of institutional restrictions, Nippa et al. (2007) illustrated that institutional
deterrence has negative influence on Sino-foreign 1JV performance that largely rely on nationally key
resources. Local ownership restrictions negatively influence 13V performance (Makino & Delios, 1996).
Blodget (1992) and Osland and Cavusgil (1996) discovered a positive influence on IJV performance in
terms of local ownership restrictions.

4. Industrial Characteristics

Attention has been devoted to industrial characteristics of 1JV performance. Isobe et al. (2000) and
Luo (1997) argued that industry growth and industry opportunities play a significant role to Sino-foreign
IV performance. Inkpen and Currall (1997) signified a positive relationship and were not sure of the
existence of negative influence on IV performance. Some researchers suggested that companies in
specific industry that experience frequent consolidation and changeable environment are more instable
and more difficult to perform well (Kogut, 1989; Hennart & Zeng, 1997). When it comes to the impact on
industry concentration on 1JV performance, findings of various studies remains indeterminate. Kogut
(1988b) revealed a negative influence, but some researchers claimed a positive relationship (Kogut, 1989)
and Good (1972) concluded no relationship at all.

Performance Measurement Approaches

1. Adaptive capability

Adaptive capability is defined as a company’s capability of identifying and capitalising on appearing
marketing opportunities (Hooley et al., 1992). Rindova and Kotha (2001) illustrated that dynamic
capabilities are reflected through a company’s adaptive capability with regard to strategic flexibility of
resources and classification between its resources, organizational form and continuously changing
strategic needs. Other empirical researches also suggested that the capability of aligning internal
resources with external demand and adapting to situation changes is of great importance of 1JV survival
and evaluation (Alvarez & Merino, 2003). Therefore, Sino-foreign 1JV with high levels of adaptive
capability show dynamic capabilities (Teece et al., 1997). When it comes the measurement of adaptive
capability, Oktemgil and Gordon (1997) suggested a multi-dimensional view, involving a company’s
ability to scan the market; to adapt product-market scope to give responds to external opportunities; to
observe customers and competitors and arrange resources to marketing activities; and to respond to
changeable market environment in a speedy manner.

2. Absorptive capability

According to Cohen and Levinthal (1990), absorptive capacity can be referred to the ability to realize
the value of new, external information and then assimilate it to commercial ends and to evaluate and use
outside knowledge as a function of the level of prior knowledge. 1JV with high absorptive capability
shows stronger ability to learn from parent company, combine outsider information which can be
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transformed into its knowledge. Woiceshyn and Daellenbach (2005) revealed that absorptive capability
has a positive influence on IJV performance in the face of external technological change. Other empirical
studies (George, 2005) also suggested that 1JV’s ability to acquire knowledge from parent company,
assimilate it with its internal knowledge and create new knowledge is a crucial element of dynamic
capabilities. Consequently, Sino-foreign IJV with high levels of absorptive capability show dynamic
capabilities. With regard to measurement of absorptive capability, Tsai (2001) suggested applying
research and development (R&D) as a proxy to absorptive capability. Additionally, Zahra and George
(2002) considered absorptive capability as a multi-dimensional construct and divided it into four parts:
knowledge acquisition, transformation, assimilation, and exploitation.

3. Innovative capability

Innovative capability refers to a company’s ability to improve new products or markets by aligning
strategic innovative orientation with innovative processes and behaviours (Wang & Ahmed, 2004). It can
be indicated from definition that innovative capability has several dimensions. Miller and Friesen (1983)
divided it into four dimensions: new product or service innovation, approaches of production or rendering
of services, risk taking by important executives and searching for unusual and novel conditions. Other
researchers found three dimensions of organisational innovativeness: market innovativeness, strategic
trend to pioneer and technological complexity (Capon et al., 1992). Other studies (Lazonick & Prencipe,
2005) also suggested that IJV’s innovative capability plays a important role for its survival and evaluation
on the basis of external competition and change. As a result, the more innovative Sino-foreign 1JV is, the
more it possesses dynamic capabilities. In the aspect of measurement of innovative capability, Wang and
Ahmed (2004) developed several dimensions to measure innovative capability such as behavioural,
process, product and market innovativeness and strategic innovative orientation.

Case study on Nokia in dynamic capabilities perspective

1. Company introduction

Nokia is a Finnish communications and information technology multinational company which is
founded in 1865. It is the world's 274th-largest company measured by 2013 revenues according to the
Fortune Global 500. Nokia has the largest market share for 14 years since 1996. However, the company's
market share has declined since 2007 as a result of the growing use of touch-screen smart phones from
mainly Apple and Samsung. As the information form Nokia annual report presented, it is obvious that
Nokia’s net income decreased dramatically from 2008 to 2011. In order to recover, Nokia announced a
strategic partnership with Microsoft in February 2011 to replace initial operating system Symbian into
Microsoft's Windows Phone operating system. Nokia unveiled Nokia X family which run a modified
version of the Android operating system on 24 February 2014.

2. Nokia in China

Nokia started business with China in 1950s and established the first office in Beijing in 1985. Nokia
gradually developed in China by setting Sino-foreign 1JV and realize localization production so that make
China as main manufacturing location globally in 1990s. Nokia enhanced the cooperation in Chinese
mobile industry and put emphasis on production research in China in 21st century.

80 Qiling Chen, Xiaosong Zheng


http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Fortune_Global_500
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Microsoft
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Symbian
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Windows_Phone
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Android_OS

~ New Challenges of Economic
) and Business Development — 2014

May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia

3. Adaptive capability

Nokia possesses quite lots of resources including more than 10 manufacturing bases and 50 strategic
partners in the worldwide. Nokia did good jobs in the terms of observing customers in China. Various
types of cell phone are produced to meet each part of target customers’ needs. For example, Nokia E
family mainly used by business people while Nokia N family focuses on young people who pursue
fashion and independence. However, the need of customers has changed since IPhone was issued in 2006.
Customers not only want telecommunication function but also pursue entertainment and online services.
Nokia fail to make speedy response in environmental change. At that time, touch-screen smart phone is
the most popular cell phone in Chinese market. Nokia did not realize the market trend so that Nokia
continues using Symbian operating system which has poor user experience in smart phones. Not until
2011 did Nokia decided to replace Symbian into Microsoft's Windows Phone operating system. That
period (2007-2011) witnesses Nokia losing the place of largest market share in Chinese phone market.

4. Absorptive capability

Apart from adaptive capability that focuses on aligning internal organisational factors with external
environment factors, absorptive capability concentrates on combining external knowledge with internal
knowledge and absorbing it for internal utilization. Nokia was good at obtaining market knowledge from
Chinese customers and applying it to product innovation so that various types of cell phone are produced.
Additionally, Nokia also tries to explore knowledge from competitors. For example, Nokia realized the
drawbacks of Symbian system and tried to learn from other operating system such as Window system by
forming a strategic partnership with Microsoft in 2011 and Android system by producing Nokia X family.
However, Nokia’s absorptive capability remains to be discussed due to lack of empirical researches that
validated a multi-dimensional structure of it.

5. Innovative capability

A firm’s inherent innovativeness to marketplace-based advantage is linked effectively by innovative
capability with regard to new products and markets. Recent studies focus on new product development
only as an internal driver for firm change and renewal. Nokia has no shortage of capacity for innovation.
There are market researchers who specifically analysis the future trend and various team which responds
to modelling, interface, colour and even camera devices. Detailed design such as browser has the specific
team to in charge. Nokia has established a complete designing order which involving forward-look
research, new technology applications and user segmentation. However, these innovative designs only
focus on product itself instead of customer needs and market demand. Instead, Apple explored customers
need on mixed function in one cell phone by combing telecommunication, online service and
entertainment together in one smart phone with excellent user experience, which makes huge success.

To sum up, Nokia owns the capability in mobile phone industry but lack of dynamic capabilities.
Nokia fail to constantly pursue the renewal and reconfiguration of core capabilities to form competitive
advantages in the environmental change, which results in huge loss after 2007 in market share.

Conclusions and recommendations

The primary aim of this paper is to evaluate factors which influence Sino-foreign 13V performance by
providing suitable measurement approaches. Both internal factors (culture, 1JV-Parent characteristics) and
external factors (regularity characteristics, industrial characteristics) have significant effects on Sino-
foreign 1JV performance. Though studies about 1JV performance have been made for decades, papers
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based on China-specific environments are still limited. Besides, lots of studies mainly adopted research
material from official data provided by governmentally controlled institutions. The usefulness and
appropriateness of chosen elements need to be evaluated further.

Sino-foreign 13V rely more on dynamic capabilities to survive in the Chinese market which owns
high-velocity environment. Based on existing qualitative insights, three component factors of dynamic
capabilities are identified, namely adaptive capability, absorptive capability and innovative capability.
The writer applies these capabilities as new criteria to measure Sino-foreign 1JV performance. However,
it remains unclear to identify them as the component elements of dynamic capabilities due to lack of
sufficient researchers.

It can be indicated from Nokia case study that in spite of sufficient resources and capabilities, Nokia
lacks dynamic capabilities to renew, reconfigure and re-creation of resources and capabilities to respond
timely to market dynamism. However, there are drawbacks and limits to measure Sino-foreign 1V
performance using adaptive capability, absorptive capability and innovative capability as key criteria due
to lack of sufficient researchers. Further analytical studies on dynamic capabilities and Sino-foreign 1JV
performance measurement will enrich those findings.
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MEASURING THE IMPACT OF SPATIAL FACTORS IN
REGIONAL DEMOGRAPHIC DEVELOPMENT OF LATVIA

Aleksandrs Dahs, University of Latvia, Latvia®

Abstract

Over the last few decades, one may observe a growing interest in research concerning the spatial
aspects of complex socio-economic and demographic processes. On the regional level, Latvia, as well as
many other Eastern European countries, faces significant challenges of spatial heterogeneity and
divergence in terms of both socio-economic and demographic development. Econometric analysis of
these processes, utilising specialised methods and models, facilitates deeper understanding of the spatial
distribution of the indicators under study, and often allows discovering new, previously unseen
dimensions of regional demographic and socio-economic development problems and opportunities. This
paper gives a review of some of the different econometric approaches to the analysis of spatial inter-
dependencies suggested in the empirical literature, and later, describes and tests one of the possible
methodologies for measuring levels of spatial spillover of the selected types of potential socio-economic
impact factors in Latvian municipalities.

Key words: spatial econometric analysis, spatial demography, spatial regression models, spatial
autocorrelation

JEL codes: C21, J11, R12

Introduction

Most previous sociological and demographic studies concerning Latvia’s regional development treat
individual geographical units, such as parishes, local municipalities (Novadi), cities or whole statistical
regions as independent isolated entities rather than as a system of interconnected geographic units which
may and do interact (e.g., through everyday commuting, cross-border family settlement, provision of
services etc.). However, in the international scientific literature, and particularly in studies of population
dynamics, such spatial effects have long been theorized and applied via several disciplines of social
sciences such as geography and regional science, including, but not limited to: spatial diffusion theory,
growth pole theory, central place theory and new economic geography theory (e.g. see Chi G. & Zhu J.,
2008).

From the basic exploratory and statistical analysis of the local municipality-level data (SRDA, 2012),
an interesting observation can be made, namely that the actual returns of public investments, regional and
social policy instruments, or aid measures, in most local municipalities, are not perfectly proportional to
the inputs. For instance, in some territories, positive demographic effects of social policy spending or
improvement of economic situation do not result in a proportional improvement of migration flows or
fertility indicators and vice versa.
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Apparently, geographical disaggregation of data may result in different (usually lower) results of
policy instruments or positive economic stimuli. Similar finding has been attributed in the literature to the
existence of spatial spillovers from one region into neighbouring territories. These spatial spillovers are
explained as the result of the network effects, that is, since most basic elements of demographic
development have network characteristics (e.g., everyday commuting, cross-border family settlement etc.)
the application of specific policy measures or improvement of socio-economic situation in one region are
expected to positively affect demographic development in other regions.

On the other hand, it has also been argued that a form of negative spillovers may also exist between
territories. The argument is that stimulating policy or general improvement of social and economic
conditions in one location can draw resources (e.g. population) away from other locations as «it enhances
the comparative advantage of that location relative to other places» (Boarnet, 1998).

The general issue of spatial spillovers has also been widely approached in other areas of social and
economic research. In the literature devoted to economic growth, for instance, it is theorised that fast-
growing countries/regions tend to cluster together, implying that both location and neighbourhood
structure is important for economic growth (e.g. Moreno and Trehan, 1997). Usually, in economics,
researchers are trying to evaluate the degree to which government spending of some countries is
influenced by the similar spending of neighbouring states (e.g. Case et al., 1993). Some other scientific
papers try to test the Core-Periphery hypothesis and/or Growth Pole theory which both imply that the
development of some regions may have a positive influence on nearby regions. Finally, in regional
development studies, many spatial studies conclude that regional convergence capabilities are highly
related with the spatial factors of the given territory (e.g. Vaya et al., 2004).

With that in mind, this study aims to analyse the spatial inter-dependency aspects of several key
demographic indicators of Latvia’s local municipalities covered by the most recent population census of
2011, while attempting to identify the associated socio-economic factors and estimate their impact. By the
later comparison of the results of the traditional analysis methods with the results derived from the
corresponding spatially adjusted models, author attempts to measure the levels of spatial spillover of the
particular types of socio-economic factors, distinguishing those having the direct local application, and
those, which may later demonstrate a spatial dispersal effect.

Research results and discussion

First, before going any further with the econometric analysis, it is necessary to identify the available
demographic and socio-economic indicators of Latvian municipalities, selecting the most relevant data for
further analysis in light of the current demographic problems.

Specialised literature, as well as policy documents (e.g. see Zvidrins, 2012 and Eglite, 2008) point out
that the key problems of current demographic development in Latvia are:

e emigration (both long and short-term);

o low fertility;

e population ageing.

Furthermore, closer review of the available statistical data and recent reports (SRDA, 2012) shows,
that the abovementioned issues are particularly dramatic in the rural areas and/or borderland local
municipalities.

With this in mind, in this study author primarily focuses on the available migration (domestic and
foreign), fertility and population age structure indicators, which are obtained from the most recent (2011)
population and housing census results, as well as publications and reports developed by State Regional
Development Agency and Office of Citizenship and Migration Affairs. On the other hand, population
ethnic composition, marital status, net average wages, municipal spending on social support per capita,
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unemployment rates, and other social and economic indicators have been selected to play the role of
explanatory variables.

Unfortunately, there is a limited amount of data generally available for the municipal level, which
significantly limits the available choice of indicators and factors for the study. Particular problems are
posed by the short-term unregistered migration and fertility measures. First one is addressed by
comparing the census population data of 2011 census (CP) with the number of registered population in
the municipality (RP). The resulting ratio of missing registered population (MRP) may be accepted as a
crude estimation of number of short and mid-term migrants currently located in different regions or other
countries.

mrp = XF—CF (@)
RP

For the fertility, the issue is solved by calculating an estimated general fertility rates from the
available population data and information on live births provided by the Central Statistics Bureau of
Latvia. The ratio of live new-borns (year 2012 data) per woman in the 15-49 age group (year 2011 data)
in each municipality is multiplied by 1000, thus producing sufficiently effective general fertility rate
(GFR) indicator.

Other indicators under study, e.g. share of population below working age (0-14 years) or registered net
migration are either obtained from the available datasets or recalculated to make them comparable
between municipalities (i.e. share of total, share per capita etc).

1. Limitations of classical regression models for policy impact assessment

A conventional approach to examine the impact of the particular policy instrument or socio-economic
factor is to estimate the simple econometric model, like one demonstrated below:

Y=a+BX+yZ+c¢ )

where vector Y denotes an indicator under study; vector X stands for the instrument/investment/factor
being assessed and matrix Z — other factors and characteristics instrumental in explaining the variance of
Y. The significance of estimated coefficient f is then assumed to be the impact of the factor under study.

This approach can be easily exposed to criticism from both logical and spatial perspective for not
considering the effect arising from the interactions with the neighbouring territorial units and the spilled
over effects of the factor X from/to them. Even the spatial distribution of the indicator Y itself is capable
of creating additional positive or negative effect through agglomeration of resources as well the
unexpected externalities caused by other forms of interaction (Parr, 2002).

Figure 1 below has been developed in order to illustrate the shortcomings of a classical regression
model in the context of measuring effects of some particular factor/investment in a real-world regions.

Figure 1 shows some form of public investments (vector X) into three regions, where Region one is
getting the biggest share, Region 2 — the smallest and Region 3 — medium amount. First of all, a classical
model (2) would ignore the neighbourhood structure of the regions, as well as geographical/economic
distances between them. The proximity of the units under study should be captured in a model as these
are not fully-independent and isolated territories, but rather just parts of a single social and economic
system/network.

Second, the classical regression approach only estimates the direct impact of the investment (1%
column of the Figure 1), ignoring the effects of later interactions (dashed lines). For example, on the firs
level (2™ column), the received investment itself will have some rate of dispersion into the neighbouring
regions through everyday economic interactions like wages, procurements etc. and, therefore, besides the
local impact parameter () should have some associated spatial dependency parameter (p;.,) often also
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denoted as theta (6). On the second level (3" column), the returns from the local investment and its spatial
spillovers, as well as other production factors will not necessarily remain only in their respective regions,
but rather tend to agglomerate around the strongest region, as suggested by contemporary theories of
economic development like Growth Pole theory or the New Economic Geography theory.

Investment spillover

Initial investment (X) Secondary spillover

(pinvX)
Public '
investment Region 1 - -
Spillover of
4 returns
L
S \ 4 (pY)
N I

f—: l.h . Public | Region 2 /
(9] . investment A
o Capital |

and other factors

‘ (pZ)
Public —% Region 3 |

A Spillover of returns

investment

Source: author’s elaboration.

Fig. 1. Schematic representation of the spatial spillover effects of public investment between regions

This secondary spillover (commonly known in the literature as the spatial lag (Ward M. D. &
Gleditsch K. S., 2008)) can be captured as the regression parameter (p) of the spatially weighted mean of
the same endogenous parameter in the surrounding regions (pWY), and, if needed — of all other factors
(pW2Z). In both cases, W denotes a spatial weights matrix capturing the geographical / geometrical /
economical neighbourhood structures of the units under study.

In other terms, in the abovementioned example, each of the three regions receives a noticeable
positive or negative additional effect on the indicator under study through the spatial interactions with
other two regions. The resulting improvement of the local indicator Y; in the particular region has the
further effects on the returns of the investments X in the other two. Ignoring such secondary effects,
classical methods, obviously, omit an important impact determinant.

2. Exploratory analysis — testing key indicators for spatial autocorrelation

Before proceeding with the modelling of spatial spillovers, it is both necessary and useful to conduct a
simple, but effective exploratory analysis of the available regional data using the global and local spatial
autocorrelation testing tools, which will allow to either accept of discard the hypothesis that
municipalities with similar indicator values are more spatially clustered than would normally be expected.
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Here, the analogy may be drawn with the temporal autocorrelation in the time-series analysis. Similar
previous studies suggest, that typically, when most social and/or demographic phenomena are mapped,
locational proximity usually results in some level of value similarity. High values tend to be located near
other high values, while low values tend to be located near other low values, thus exhibiting positive
spatial autocorrelation (e.g. see Voss P. R., et al, 2006).

The most commonly used statistical test for estimating the levels of global spatial autocorrelation is
the Moran’s I test.

The Global Moran’s I test in its generalised form can be defined as:

N R DICT D)
\) il — p)?
where n is the number of observations (in our case n=119 municipalities and cities) indexed in the matrix

notations by rows i and columns j, while x stands for any variable of interest (with mean p), and wj; is a
corresponding element of a matrix of spatial weights W. S is a scaling constant produced by the sum of all

weights:
S = Zizjw” (4)

For testing the hypothesis on present spatial autocorrelation of the particular indicator, the test statistic
is compared with its theoretical (expected) mean, which would appear under conditions of fully random
spatial pattern of values.

In order to capture the general spatial relations of the observed territorial units, a simple square
(n=119) spatial weights matrix (W) capturing the spatial structure was created, containing the inverse
values of geometric distances between the geographical coordinates of the centres of the 119 Latvia’s
local municipalities and Republican cities. Similar matrices representing other forms of geographical or
economic distances (e.g. driving times or flows of trade intensity etc.), or the connectivity matrixes
representing the neighbourhood structure of the units with common borders may also be created in order
to better represent the relations between territories under study (Matthews S. A. & Parker D. M., 2013).

Using the available spatial weights matrix it is now possible to perform a series of Global Moran’s 1
spatial autocorrelation tests for any of the observed indicators. For the purpose of this study this test is
applied to several demographic indicators of Latvian municipalities described in the previous sections
(see Table 1 below).

I @)

Table 1

Results of the Global Moran’s I test for selected demographic indicators of Latvian
municipalities in 2011

Variable | statistic Expectation

Missing registered population (MRP_2011) 0.26194 i
Share of economically active population (15-64)

. 0.22045
(empl_active_pop_2011)
Share of females in reproductive age (pop_2011 fem 15-49) 0.20557 L 000847
Share of population below working age (pop_2011 0-14) 0.19703 e
General fertility rate (GFR_2011) 0.06890
Registered net migration as % of population i
(migration_2011_total_reg) 0.01136 _

Source: author’s calculations based on the Central Statistics Bureau data.
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From the test results it is possible to see, that the Moran’s 1 values are positive for all of the observed
indicators except the registered net migration. Significance of the values, however is a different issue. It is
obvious that Moran’s I values are significant for the first four indicators: missing registered population,
share of population below working age, share of females in reproductive age and share of economically
active population. While General fertility rate and registered net migration both show very insignificant
differences from the expected mean.

This suggests, that the last two indicators can be analysed using classical models, with no risk of
missing the spatial spillover component. From the practical point of view, this also means that the uneven
distribution of natural population increase in the entire country, so often mentioned in the literature and
official publications (SRDA 2013), is not caused by spatial variance in the fertility rates, but rather by the
significant difference in the current female population structure in the regions (i.e. share of females in
their reproductive age). Parallel conclusion may be drawn for the migration numbers, where registered
migration shows zero spatial autocorrelation, while the unregistered migration (in our case — share of
missing registered population) shows an evident spatial clustering.

When looking for the more precise and less generalised spatial autocorrelation analysis tools, the local
Moran’s I testing, and particularly — Moran Plots are the first things that come to mind. Luc Anselin (1999)
explains, that Moran’s I statistic for spatial autocorrelation can be defined as a regression coefficient in a
bivariate spatial lag scatter plot. That is — in a scatter plot with the spatial lag on the vertical axis and the value
at each location on the horizontal axis. In this case Global Moran’s I calculated value corresponds to the slope
of the regression line through the points. The further evaluation of these local associations is done by the
decomposition of scatter area into four quadrants, each representing different type of spatial association.

With the help of Moran Scatterplots that show the individual Moran’s | values for each municipality
included in the global Moran’s I test, it is possible to continue spatial analysis in search of local spatial
dependencies and anomalies (Anselin L., 1995). Figure 2 below combines Moran Scatterplots for four of
the previously mentioned indicators, which have shown a significant positive spatial autocorrelation,
highlighting outlying observations, hot/cold spots and trend-setters in the local spatial structure.
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Source: author’s elaboration based on the Central Statistics Bureau data.

Fig. 2. Moran’s scatter plots of the selected indicators in Latvian municipalities
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Local Moran’s I evaluation for these indicators reveal, that for two of them (Share of missing
registered population and Share of population below working age — Plots 1 and 4) spatial autocorrelation
pattern is not as strong as expected from the global test results. In both these cases the slope of the trend
line (global Moran’s 1) is mostly defined by the uncharacteristic values shown by the municipalities
located in the direct area of influence of the Riga city (dashed circles), while all other observations are
distributed quite randomly through all four quadrants of the plot. It is needed to note, that the Moran
Scatterplot for the Share of missing registered population appears inversed (negative trend slope) due to
the nature of the indicator (i.e. less missing population — better result).

The other two indicators (Share of economically active inhabitants and Share of females in
reproductive age — plots 2 and 3 respectively), demonstrate a classic case of agglomerative spatial
structure (see Krisjane, 2005) with extremely high values tending closer to each other (and generally
concentrate around Riga) and extremely low values being pushed to periphery. All other observations are
distributed more or less gradually along the trend lines. The similarity of these two indicators is not
surprising as they both are partially dependant on the overall population age structure. Two interesting
irregular points with high indicator values and extremely low spatial dependency can be found in Plot 2
(solid circle). These represent the cities of Ventspils and Liepaja, which unlike Riga city, apparently have
very little spatial population spillover effect on the surrounding municipality. In other terms, unlike in
case of Riga, active population of these coastal cities prefer to settle within the city limits and do not tend
to reside in the suburban areas at all.

To conclude the findings so far, the global tests indicate spatial autocorrelation of the parameters
associated with the population age structure and economic activity, while such indicators as Long term
registered migration and General fertility rate appear to be distributed evenly throughout the country.
Local tests show that the spatial clustering of indicators representing share of population below
working age and short-term emigration is not as common in the whole country as first expected, and is
largely caused by the socio economic impact of Riga city. Some hot and cold spots were found for all
indicators with significant spatial autocorrelation. The municipalities in comparatively worse situation
are mostly located on the periphery — close to the borderland as expected, while high values tend to
concentrate within close proximity to Riga. Surprisingly, other big and economically developed cities
have shown little to none spatial autocorrelation of some key indicators with their neighbouring
municipalities. This all hints, at the possibility that different forms of socio-economic factors, policy
instruments and/or aid measures in Latvian municipalities may indeed have different tendencies
towards spatial spillover.

3. Capturing spatial spillovers

The spatially-adjusted empirical model may be constructed on the basis of the classical model in
combination with the framework of spatial econometrics concepts as discussed in the previous sections.
In addition for the construction of the model it is useful to review the available studies applying the
spatial econometric models for the analysis of social or economic processes. Considering the multi-level
structure of the expected spatial interactions (Figure 1), the Spatial Durbin Model (SDM) has been chosen.
Good examples of the potential applications for such type of spatial models may be found in various
fields of study, for example, Tran and Pham (2013) use the SDM method to estimate the spatial spillovers
of foreign direct investment, while Autant-Bernard and LeSage (2009) discuss the potential spatial
knowledge spillovers model from a non-spatial model, arriving at a conclusion that SDM is the most
relevant model for examining spatial spillovers.

In general, SDM incorporates the properties of both Spatial Lag and Spatial Error Models (SLM and
SEM), which are widely discussed in the literature (Ward M. D. & Gleditsch K. S., 2008), and therefore,
captures spatial lag parameter of the dependent and independent variables alike in the right hand side of
the equation.
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The simple linear SDM model elaborated from the classical model (2) can be described as follows:

Y =pWY +BX +0WX +¢ ()

where Y is the vector denoting the indicator under study in the regions, W is weighting matrix (discussed
above) and p is a spatial lag parameter capturing the secondary spillover of the outcome variable (Y) from/to
the neighboring regions. Further, X is a matrix of explanatory variables, £ stands for a regression parameter
measuring primary effects of the explanatory variables within the target region and ¢ stands for error.

These are all the standard notations found in a basic SLM model. The ¢ component, however, is
introduced in the SDM in order to expand the equation and accommodate the spatially lagged explanatory
variables. It is the spatial lag parameter describing the effect of the explanatory variables of the
surrounding regions on the indicator in the observed region (e.g. primary spillover).

Table 2 below shows examples of the SDM modelling results for such indicators as share of
economically active inhabitants (empl_active_pop_2011), share of population below working age
(pop_2011 0-15) and GFR in 2011. For the purpose of this study, socio-economic factors like ethnic
composition of population (share of ethnic Latvians per other nationalities), rate of registered marriages
per total number of families, unemployment levels, average net wages, as well as municipal budgetary
spending on social protection per capita are used as the explanatory variables. In addition, in order to
demonstrate the advantages of the spatial modelling approach, results produced by the classical linear
model (LM) for the same variables are shown in the table and compared with the SDM outputs using the
Logarithmic Likelihood values as suggested in the literature (e.g. Ward M. D. & Gleditsch K. S., 2008).

Table 2

Example of the SDM and classical Linear Model fitting results for the selected indicators
of Latvian municipalities in 2011

Spatial Durbin Model (SDM) Linear Model (LM)
Parameter empl_active | pop_2011 GFR_ empl_active | pop_2011 GFR_
_pop 2011 0-15 2011 _pop 2011 0-15 2011

Rho (p) -0.00486 -0.00890 -0.01303 - - -
Intercept 0.39405 0.13328 29.88052 ° | 0.44290 0.10520 31.13836
Spat. lagged intercept -0.01431 0.00156 1.85715 - - -
Share of Latvians () -0.06866** 0.01486 2.99226 | -0.07065** 0.00621 5.21212
Spat. lagged share 0.00574** | -0.00110 | -0.11982 - - -
of Latvians (6,)
Rate of registered
marriages (8,) 0.07072 0.01798 10.23354 | 0.01510 0.04753 3.24496
Spat. lagged share of
registered marriages (6,) 0.00585 -0.00063 -2.02353 - = =
Unemployment (5s) -0.11229 -0.05141 -1.83002 | -0.18350* -0.08762** | -26.55611
Spat. lagged 0.01532* | -0.00248 | -0.96088 - - -
unemployment (65)
Net wages (54) 0.00025*** | 0.00006 " 0.02139 | 0.00039*** | 0.00012*** | 0.03432
Spat. lagged net wages (6;) | 0.00002*** | 0.00001 ° 0.00101 - - -
Social prot. (8s) -0.00011° 0.00004* | -0.02037 | -0.00011 -0.00006* -0.01626*
Spat. lagged social prot. (65) | -0.00000 0.00000 -0.00284 - - -
Logarithmic likelihood 264.9 355.9 -395.4 249.9 345.4 -400.4

Significance codes: 0 “***’0.001 “**’0.01 “*’0.05 0.1 1.

Source: author’s calculations based on the Central Statistics Bureau data.
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The results presented in the table above, only confirm the previous assumption on the random
distribution and equally low levels of the GFR throughout the entire territory of Latvia — SDM did not
show any significant impact factors for this indicator, while linear model only marginally highlighted the
municipal social protection expenditure.

For the Share of active population, SDM model has highlighted average net wages (both local and
spatially lagged from the neighbouring regions) as the key explanatory variable, while spatially lagged
unemployment has demonstrated a small, but rather significant inverse spatial spillover effect. This can
be explained by the fact that unemployment in neighbouring regions is driving economically active
population towards the local development centres or simply the regions, where there are more available
jobs. The ethnic composition in this case should not be taken into account as it is just a representation of
the differences in the age structure of the ethnic groups.

Regarding to the most important hypothesis on the spillover effects, comparing the impact of the net
wages variable estimated by the SDM and LM models, one may observe, that the $, = 0.00039 is actually
spatially decomposed into a local effect of 5, = 0.00025 and the average spillover effect of the
neighbouring municipalities of 4, = 0.00002.

For the population below working age, the results are similar with the average net wages of parents
having the decisive effect on the indicator. Spatial spillover of the net wages is also present, which is not
surprising, especially when analysing these results in the cross-section with the data on population
employed outside of their respective municipalities. Social protection expenditure, as expected, shows
zero spatial spillovers, as most social support measures are provided only to the population registered in
the particular municipality, therefore preventing the network effects.

The difference in the log-likelihood values of the model pairs is proportional to the previously
determined levels of spatial autocorrelation of the indicators under study; however, it may not be
considered particularly significant in all three cases, as it is small enough to be caused by a difference in
the number of the degrees of freedom for each given pair of models. This, in turn, means, that in the given
cases, SDM models do not necessarily provide a better model fit, but rather should be used as means to
analyse spatial spillovers of the explanatory factors.

Conclusions

Spatial econometric approach, can be very useful in the exploratory socio-economic and demographic
data analysis, as well as the empirical studies devoted to regional development and regional policy issues.
With the help of the empirical example employing limited set of the demographic indicators and their
potential explanatory variables, Spatial Durbin Model has been proven as a feasible and reliable tool for
measuring spatial spillovers of the exogenous factors in the basic regional demographic processes.

Several noticeable empirical conclusions may also be drawn from the analysis results.

First, a positive global spatial autocorrelation was found for all of the observed indicators of Latvian
municipalities except the registered net migration. Moran’s I values were determined as significant for
such indicators as missing registered population, share of population below working age, share of females
in reproductive age and share of economically active population. General fertility rate and registered net
migration, however, have shown very little deviation from the expected mean values. Therefore, the
observed uneven distribution of natural population increase in the entire country is not caused by spatial
variance in the fertility rates, but rather can be attributed to the significant differences in the current
female population structure of the regions (i.e. share of females in their reproductive age). Analogous
results have been obtained for the migration numbers — the registered migration shows zero spatial
autocorrelation, while the presumed unregistered migration indicator demonstrates an evident spatial
clustering.
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Second, local spatial autocorrelation analysis, employing graphical tools, has indicated that for some
of the measured indicators (e.g. share of missing registered population) spatial autocorrelation pattern is
not as strong as expected from the global test results. In such cases the slope of the trend line (global
Moran’s I) has been primarily influenced by the anomalous values shown by the municipalities located in
the direct area of influence of the Riga city. Other indicators (e.g. share of economically active
inhabitants) have demonstrated a classic case of agglomerative spatial structure with high values tending
closer to each other and extremely low values being located separate from each other on the periphery.

Third, from the modelling results, the overall influence of spatial dependences does not seem to be
high with the exception of the economic explanatory factors like average net wages and unemployment
levels. For example, the share of active population is significantly influenced by the average net wages
(both local and spatially lagged from the neighbouring regions). Spatially lagged unemployment has
demonstrated a small, but rather significant inverse spatial spillover effect, explained by the fact that
unemployment is driving economically active population to the regions with more employment
opportunities.

Finally, comparison of the impact levels of some explanatory variables of the economic nature (e.g.
net wages), modelled by both SDM and LM models, allows to observe that the high regression parameter
values (f) in the LM model may actually consist from both local (B) and spilled-over () effects arising
from the interactions with neighbouring municipalities.

In addition it is necessary to conclude that from the methodological perspective, it would be highly
useful to test the spatial autocorrelation of the indicators under study using several different types of the
spatial weights matrixes, including row-standardised neighbourhood and actual travel time matrixes. Such
approach would allow to determine not only the global/local autocorrelation levels, but also identify the
spatial factors instrumental in the propagation of inter-regional spillover effects (e.g. geographical
proximity versus economic interconnectivity etc.).

Bibliography

Anselin, L., 1995. Local indicators of spatial association — LISA. Geographical analysis, 27(2),
pp. 93-115.

Anselin, L., 1999. Interactive techniques and exploratory spatial data analysis. Geographical Information
Systems: principles, techniques, management and applications, 1, pp. 251-264.

Autant-Bernard, C., & LeSage, J. P., 2011. Quantifying knowledge spillovers using spatial econometric
models. Journal of Regional Science, 51(3), pp. 471-496.

Boarnet, M. G., 1998. Spillovers and the locational effects of public infrastructure. Journal of Regional
Science, 38(3), pp. 381-400.

Case, A. C., Rosen, H. S., & Hines Jr, J. R., 1993. Budget spillovers and fiscal policy interdependence:
Evidence from the states. Journal of public economics, 52(3), 285-307.

Central Statistics Bureau of Latvia [CSB] database. [Online] Available at: http://dati.csb.gov.lv [Accessed
5 November 2013].

Chi, G. & Zhu, J., 2008. Spatial Regression Models for Demographic Analysis. Population Research and
Policy Review (Part Il — Spatial Demography, February 2008), 1(27), pp. 17-42.

Eglite, P., 2008. Nedeklaretas izceloSanas sekas un to rosinata riciba. Darbaspgjigo skaita mazinaSanas
Latvija un iesp&jamie risindjumi. Apceréjumi par Latvijas iedzivotajiem, No. 13. Riga: SIA LZA
Ekonomikas institiits, pp. 16-14.

Krisjane, Z., 2005. Latvia: a centre oriented country in transition. Muller B., Finka M., Lintz G. (eds.).
Rise and decline of industry in Central and Eastern Europa. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer,
pp. 131-153.

94 Aleksandrs Dahs



New Challenges of Economic
@ and Business Development — 2014

May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia

Matthews, S. A. & Parker D. M., 2013. Progress in Spatial Demography. Demographic Research, 28(10),
pp. 271-312.

Moreno, R., & Trehan, B., 1997. Location and the Growth of Nations. Journal of Economic Growth, 2(4),
pp. 399-418.

Parr, J. B., 2002. Agglomeration economies: ambiguities and confusions. Environment and Planning. A,
34(4), pp. 717-732.

State Regional Development Agency [SRDA], 2013. Report ‘Attistibas centru ietekmes aredlu noteiksana
un analize. PlanoSanas regionu, republikas pilsétu un novadu pasvaldibu attistibas raksturojums’ (In
Latvian). [Online] Awvailable at: http://www.vraa.gov.lv/uploads/documents/petnieciba/petijumi/
regionu_attist final 2012.pdf [Accessed 25 February 2014].

State Regional Development Agency [SRDA], 2012. Report ‘Development of Regions in Latvia in 2011°.
[Online] Available at: http://www.vraa.gov.lv/uploads/Development of Regions_in_Latvia 2010
web ENG.pdf [Accessed 25 February 2014].

Tran, T. T. & Pham, T. S. H., 2013. Spatial Spillovers of Foreign Direct Investment: The Case of Vietham.
Vietnam Development and Policies Research Center paper No. 12.

Vaya, E., Lopez-Bazo, E., Moreno, R., & Surinach, J., 2004. Growth and externalities across economies:
an empirical analysis using spatial econometrics. Springer: Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 433-455.

Voss, P. R., White, K. J. C. & Hammer R. B., 2006. Explorations in spatial demography. In Population
change and rural society. Netherlands: Springer. pp. 407-429.

Ward, M. D. & Gleditsch, K. S., 2008. Spatial Regression Models. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.

Zvidrins, P., 2012. Demographic development in the Baltic Sea Region. Latvijas Zinatnu Akadémijas
Vestis. A 66, (5/6), 49.

Aleksandrs Dahs 95



New Challenges of Economic
@ and Business Development — 2014

May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia

L’HYPOTHESE DU MENSONGE MACROECONOMIQUE

Mindaugas Dapkus, Université de Vytautas Magnus, Lituanie®

Abstract

La problématique de recherche regroupe des questions comme: les acteurs économiques mentent-ils ?
Peut-on détecter ce mensonge ? L’auteur de cette recherche propose et vérifie I’hypothése de 1’existence
de communication mensongére au niveau macro-économique: il discute sur la possibilité que les firmes
industrielles (ou des personnes les représentant) puissent intentionnellement propager une information
fausse sur la situation de leur activité et surtout que cette “fausse” information puisse étre détectée au
niveau sectorielle (et méme macroéconomique). La recherche effectuée sur les données statistiques
clustérisées d’Allemagne, utilisant les méthodes de régression linéaire et 1’analyse corrélationnelle,
montre qu’un certain comportement mensonger est probable. La probabilit¢é de [’existence du
«mensonge » en Allemagne manifeste la possibilité de ’existence de ce phénoméne au niveau globale.
La révélation de la possibilité de mensonge macroéconomique ouvre espace aux discutions scientifiques
trés larges, commencant par la vérification de la fiabilit¢ des enquétes (méthodes qualitatives) et
terminant par 1’utilisation de « moment de mensonge » pour la prédiction de cycle économique.

Mots-clés: macroéconomie, asymétrie informationnelle, identification du mensonge, attentes, Allemagne
JEL code: C12, D82, D84, D22

Introduction

Dans cet article le terme « mensonge » est utilisé pour décrire un comportement des acteurs
économiques qui différe de ce qu’ils ont exprimé dans les discours publics. On peut trouver beaucoup de
recherches théoriques ou empiriques, qui traitent le probléme de détection de mensonge, mais ces travaux
sont menés dans le niveau soi-disant microéconomique ou méme personnel/individuel a cause de la
complexité du phénoméne analysé: le mensonge est déterminé par des facteurs divers, trés spécifiques a
la situation, par ex., les conséquences de mensonge pour un individu, le caractére des individus impliqués,
la réaction possible de I’entourage (société, communauté) ou également la culture générale de
I’environnement. C’est pourquoi le terme « mensonge » est employé dans les discussions théoriques ou
des exposés de problémes appliqués qui sont menés par les criminalistes, psychologues, méme
philosophes mais ces discussions portent sur le comportement, le « fonctionnement physiologique,
psychologique » d’un individu concerné (par ex., Crawford, 2003; Fischbacher, Utikal, 2011; Gurdal,
Ozdogan, 2013; Holm, 2010; Hurkens, Kartik, 2008).

L’auteur de cette étude tente de répondre a la question: peut-on détecter le mensonge au niveau plutdt
macroéconomique ? La réponse possible s’appuie sur I’analyse de comportements microéconomiques
mais la question est plus compliquée parce que les motivations des acteurs pour mentir différent lorsqu’on
passe du niveau microéconomique au niveau macroéconomique. Selon la vision de I’auteur, le risque de
« mensonge » macroéconomique Survient aux mouvements cycliques de 1’économie: il fait I’hypothése
que le « mensonge » puisse avoir lieu aux moments de changement de tendance économique (dans les
points hauts et bas des courbes de cycle économique).

! Corresponding author — e-mail address: m.dapkus@evf.vdu.lt, phone number: +370 615 21158
96 Mindaugas Dapkus



New Challenges of Economic
@ and Business Development — 2014

May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia

L’investigation des sources scientifiques sur les différents moteurs de recherche et les bases de
données a été menée utilisant les mots-clés anglais « lie detection », « macroeconmomy ». Les autres
recherches sur le plan macroéconomique de détection de mensonge n’ont €té pas trouvées, et ’auteur ici
développe ces idées, premiérement présentées dans la publication lithuanienne (Dapkus, Maksvytiené,
2012). Faut de manque des sources sur le « mensonge macroéconomique », 1’auteur de cette article
développe une idée sans 1’analyse profonde de littérature économique concernée.

La possibilité d’identifier le mensonge au niveau microéconomique et individuel est utile pour
détecter et prévenir la délinquance, et aussi pour développer des relations interpersonnelles dans la vie
quotidienne. La réponse a la question du mensonge macroéconomique peut étre utile par exemple pour
prévoir le développement de marché et chercher a détecter le moment de retournement du cycle
économique.

Donc, en généralisant, le but de cette recherche est de vérifier I’hypothése que les organisations
commerciales puissent essayer de dissimuler leur situation économique réelle par diffusion
d’informations mensongeres au niveau macroéconomique qui puissent étre détectées. Donc, pour arriver a
ce but nous devons répondre aux ces questions: qu’est que c’est le « mensonge macroéconomique » ?
Quel est le mécanisme de la détection du mensonge macroéconomique? Est-ce que le comportement des
acteurs ¢conomiques différe dans les groupes de données statistiques nommées ici comme
« mensongeres » et « véritables » ?

Pour arriver a ce but dans la premiére section de cet article une méthode de détection de mensonge
sera développée ; la vérification de ’hypothese sur les données de 1’industrie allemande sera effectuée
dans la deuxiéme section.

La méthode utilisée — c’est I’évaluation, par simple régression, de la corrélation entre le changement
de la production et les attentes exprimées des entreprises. L’hypothése est vérifiée dans le cadre de
I’estimation de comportement des firmes dans quatre groupes de données statistiques clustérisés ou le
critére de I’attribution au groupe est la coincidence (en cas de statistiques traitées comme « Véritables »)
ou I’écart (en cas de statistiques traitées comme « Mensongéres ») de direction des changements entre les
attentes exprimées dans les enquétes de conjoncture (indicateur de confiance de l’industrie) et les
nouvelles commandes industrielles.

Méthodologie de la détection du mensonge macroéconomique

Pour vérifier ’hypothése de mensonge intentionnel macroéconomique, la méthodologie de 1’examen
de celle-ci a été proposée. L idée de cette méthodologie repose sur la définition du « mensonge » qui,
d’aprés ’auteur, est I’écart simultané entre ce « qui est dit » et ce « qui est fait ». Cela signifie, que nous
devons distinguer les données statistiques, qui représentent « le dit » (I’information diffusée) et « le fait »
(la réaction réelle des acteurs économiques) et évaluer la divergence possible entre eux. Autrement dire,
nous devons comparer les soi-disant “données douces” (le « dit », données subjectif) avec les “données
dures” (le « fait », données objectifs).

Dans cette recherche, les données « dures », reflétant la réaction réelle, sont prises dans les statistiques
des nouvelles commandes industrielles et de la production industrielle ; ce sont les données, qui sont
prises dans des états financiers et donc reflétent la situation objective de I’unité économique. Les données
« douces », reflétant les informations « douces », les « dits », sont décrites par les statistiques regroupées
des enquétes de conjoncture économique (ici dans I’indice de confiance industrielle), donc reflétent plutot
les opinions que la situation réelle et c’est pourquoi cette information est subjective. L’enquéte, comme la
méthode de ’acquisition de I’information, ici est traitée comme le point faible informationnel qui permet
aux entreprises de délivrer une information subjective, douteuse sans aucun risque de perte morale ou
matérielle.
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Le processus de vérification de I’hypothése du « mensonge macroéconomique » est développé dans
2 étapes:

e Séparation des données statistiques en groupes (clusters) a partir du type de coincidence entre le
«dit » et le « fait »: la clustérisation est faite a partir de la coincidence de mouvements des attentes
industrielles- c.a.d. de I’indice de confiance industrielle (expression statistique du « dit ») et ceux
de la réaction réelle des nouvelles commandes industrielles (expression statistique du « fait »). Ici
on a distingué quatre groups des données (clusters), décrites comme:

— L’“Optimisme véritable” (OV), il est caractérisé par les propos des industriels exprimant des
attentes positives (les changements positifs de 1’indice de confiance industrielle) accompagnés
par la croissance des nouvelles commandes industrielles (pour les deux indices les
changements positifs doivent étre constatés — le « dit» ne contredit pas le « fait » — c’est
pourquoi ces données reflétent vraisemblablement le véritable comportement des industriels),

— Le “Pessimisme véritable” (PV): le cluster regroupe des données statistiques corrélant les
changements négatifs des attentes et les changements négatifs des nouvelles commandes: la
coincidence des directions de changements démontre la « vérité », mais le caractére négatif de
changements refléte I’existence de « pessimisme » dans le comportement et les discours,

— L’ “Optimisme mensonger” (OM): le cluster regroupe des données statistiques reliant des
attentes croissantes (changements positifs des indices de confiance industrielle) et des
nouvelles commandes en diminution (les changements négatifs de nouvelle commandes) —
donc I’écart entre le « dit » et le « fait » est apparent, et donc possiblement « mensonger »;

— Le “Pessimisme mensonger” (PM) — regroupe de données ou des changements négatifs des
attentes sont exprimées alors que croissent les nouvelles commandes industrielles; ici les
entreprises se plaignent, n’ayant pas de confiance a 1’environnement économique (pessimisme
exprim¢) alors méme qu'augmentent les nouvelles commandes (probable préparation a la
récupération de marchés).

Afin augmenter la fiabilité de recherche, la clusterisation des données a été faite aprés et a partir le
groupement des données moyennes de deux périodes successives (utilisant la technique du calcul de
moyenne mouvante de deux périodes t et t-1).

e Seconde étape. Evaluation des relations entre les changements des attentes (changement des

indices de confiance industrielle) et de production industrielle dans les quatre clusters distingués
(QV, PV, OM et PM). Par cette procédure, I’adéquation ou inadéquation de comportement réel
dans les clusters est vérifiée ; donc- nous vérifierons si les suspicions se confirme dans les actions
futures (la production réelle a suivre dans un a trois mois). Par régression statistique, les 4 sous-
hypothéses sont vérifiées:

— la régression entre des changements de production et des attentes doit étre positive dans les
clusters « véritables optimisme et pessimisme » (OV et PV): quand la communication des
firmes est ouverte et franche, leur expression des attentes doit étre directement liée a leur vision
réel de la production d’avenir (a leur réaction dans 1’avenir, pour lequel elles se sont préparées
par les « nouvelles commandes »).

— Mais, selon I’hypothése, aux moments de 1’« optimisme ou pessimisme mensonger » (OM et
PM) la relation doit changer: dans les clusters OM et PM, on s’attend a trouver une relation
négative entre des changements des attentes et celles de la production — plus les firmes
expriment des attentes positives, moins celles-ci ne se manifestent dans le niveau de
changement productif.

Afin vérifier la profondeur et fiabilit¢ des relations dans les quatre groupes clustérisées, les
3 relations ont été vérifié entre les changements des indices de confiances industrielles (clusterisation sur
la base de moyenne mouvante de 2 périodes t et t-1) et:
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e les changements des moyennes mouvantes de production de deux périodes a suivre t+1 et t+2
(le code P2);

e les changements des moyennes mouvantes de production de trois périodes a suivre t+1, t+2, t+3
(le code P3);

e et finalement les changements des moyennes mouvantes de production de quatre périodes a suivre
t+1, t+2, t+3 et t+4 (le code P4).

Résultats de cette étude

La recherche présentée ici, a été faite a partir des données mensuelles statistiques d’Allemagne de la
période 1995-2011: le groupement des périodes, suivant le principe de clustérisation décrit dans la section
précédente, a été réalisé utilisant les données de changement d’Indices de Confiance Industrielle et ceux
de changement des Nouvelles Commandes Industrielles ; 1’évaluation de relation entre les changements
de I’'Indice de Confiance Industrielle et les changements de I’Indice de Production Industrielle des Biens
de Consommation durables est réalisée, utilisant les données statistiques suivant ’EUROSTAT
NACE rev.2. Le recherche a été limitée par le fait, que la collecte des informations concernant
I’Indicateur de Nouvelles Commandes Industrielles (données « dures ») est arrétée administrativement
depuis 2012. La sélection de 1’Allemagne pour cette recherche a été déterminée par la présence de
données statistiques plus importantes. Afin d’éviter ’influence des fluctuations saisonniéres dans cette
recherche les données statistiques désaisonnalisées sont utilisées. La sélection de L’ Allemagne pour cette
recherche a été déterminée par la présence le plus vaste de données statistiques.

La premiére étape de 'investigation a révélé 93 groupes de données, attribuables au cluster de
données dites « Optimisme Véritable», 55 groupes de données — au cluster « Pessimisme Véritable» et 17
groupes de données attribuables a 1’« Optimisme Mensonger » ainsi que 36 groupes- au cluster
« Pessimisme Mensonger ». En totale il a été analysée 201 groupes de données.

La deuxieme étape de recherche a été conduite pour mettre en évidence la relation entre les attentes
industrielles et leurs effets en terme de la production réelle dans un futur proche, a partir des groupes de
données clustérisées. Tous les résultats sont présentés dans la table 1. Certaines particularités de
comportement macroéconomique révélées dans cette étape peuvent étre accentuées

a) une relation positive entre le changement des attentes et celui de la production, dans les données
dites « véritables », est constatée: 1’index de régression est positive dans les clusters de
« Pessimisme Véritable» et d’« Optimisme Véritable», mais la plus importante fiabilité de cette
relation est dans le cluster de PV, et surtout avec les données de production P2/P4 (index de
détermination est 0,2521 et 0,2714). Ceci peut étre interprété ainsi: les représentants des firmes
disent la vérité avec plus de fiabilité quand ils sont plutot sirs que la conjoncture est négative
(quand ils n'ont pas confiance dans l'avenir),

b) une régression négative est confirmée dans le groupe de données dites « Optimisme Mensonger »-
quand les firmes prévoient des problémes dans la production, elles tentent de dissimuler ceci par
de la « propagande » positive. Dans ce groupe de données ol nous avons trouvé la régression
négative, la plus grande fiabilité des résultats est constatée dans les relations entre attentes et
changements de production P3 (I’index de détermination est 0,2669): le comportement mensonger
peut étre dissimulée jusque 3 mois, apreés ce laps de temps les informations au niveau public
deviennent trop évidentes pour qu’il soit possible de tromper le marché ;
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Table 1
Relations entre les changements des indicateurs de confiance industrielle et ceux
de la production dans les quatre groupes de données clustérisées
Relation avec des Equation de Indice de
changements de . A . . Remarques
production ... regression détermination
Cluster de ,, Optimisme Véritable

..P2 y = 0.3482x — 0.4455 R?=0.079

...P3 y =0.2774x — 0.2381 R?=0.1134

..P4 y =0.194x — 0.1123 R?=0.07

Cluster de ,, Optimisme Mensonger

...P2 y =-0.6983x + 1.841 R?=0.0358 La régression négative

...P3 y =-0.9761x + 1.7775 R?=0.2669 La régression négative et
la corrélation importante

...P4 y =-0.452x + 1.2198 R?=0.0738 La régression négative

Cluster de ,, Pessimisme Veritable

...P2 y =0.4089x + 0.4116 R?=0.2521 La régression positive et
corrélation importante

...P3 y =0.2806x + 0.0204 R?=0.2228

...P4 y = 0.246x + 0.0114 R?=0.2714 La régression positive et
corrélation importante

Cluster de ,, Pessimisme Mensonger “

...P2 y = 0.3463x + 0.3987 R? = 0.0444

..P3 y = 0.3618x + 0.5407 R?=0.0964

..P4 y =0.3055x + 0.3 R?=0.0852

* Yy — changements de production (de [ ‘indicateur de production de Biens de consommation durables),

X — changements des attentes (de | ‘indicateur de confiance) (calculs faits par ’auteur sur la base des
données statistiques d’EUROSTAT)

c) la relation négative dans le groupe de données statistiques dite « pessimisme mensonger » n’est
pas confirmée: ’indice de régression est positif, bien que la confiance en cette relation soit trés
faible (coefficient de régression est entre +0,3055 et +0,3618 et le coefficient de détermination
inférieur a 0,25). Ceci contredit partiellement I’hypothése de cette recherche. A I’opinion de
I’auteur, la tentation de tromper I’environnement par ’information fausse doit exister, mais le
processus de la restitution de marché est plus prolongée dans le temps et plus dispersée parmi des
entreprises de différent secteurs. Ceci implique qu’on doit chercher des autres méthodes- plus
subtiles- pour essayer détecter le mensonge au niveau bas de cycle économique.

On peut constater, d’apres notre recherche, que les résultats paraissent les plus fiables dans les clusters
« pessimisme véritable» et « optimisme mensonger » ce qui signifie, d’une part, que nous pouvons avoir
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plus de confiance aux données statistiques recues par les enquétes aux moments de frustration, de
détérioration constatées du marché, et d’autre part, qu'un hypothétique mensonge est mieux détectable
aux moments de changement de conjoncture d’un point haut de cycle économique. En plus, I’indice de
régression dans le groupe OM démontre I’intensité le plus grande de la réaction de production au
changement de I’indicateur de confiance industrielle (allant jusque -0,9761 en cas avec de P3), mais au
sens contraire que ’idée de cette relation prévois étre (soit 1% de croissance de « confidence » des
industriels exprimée en réalité doit signifier 1% de diminution de production dans le période jusque 3
mois a suivre).

Résumé

Le but de cette recherche a été de vérifier I’hypothése que les organisations commerciales puissent
essayer de dissimuler leur situation économique réelle par diffusion d’informations mensongéres au
niveau macroéconomique. L’idée de la vérification de I’hypothése se couche sur la clustérisassions des
données statistiques a partir de critére de coincidence de I’information douce- « le dit » (regue utilisant les
questionnaires sur les attentes industrielles) et I’information dure- «le fait» (obtenu des états
financiéres) ; ces informations sont liées a travers le cycle de production. Donc, la divergence possible
entre « le dit » et « le fait » peut signaliser sur la « mensonge » potentielle ; cette possibilité dans quatre
clusters de données (dites- optimisme mensonger, optimisme véritable, pessimisme mensonger et
pessimisme véritable) a été vérifiée utilisant la méthode de régression linéaire et de I’analyse
corrélationnelle.

Les résultats de cette recherche ont confirmé certain probabilité de mensonge intentionnel dans le
cluster de données dit « optimisme mensonger »: si les entreprises proclament apprécier favorablement la
situation du marché, mais diminuent en fait leur nouvelles commandes, ce signifie probablement un
risque de diminution de la production dans 2-3 mois. Ceci est confirmé par la mise en évidence d’une
régression négative entre les changements de 1’indicateur de confiance et changements de production dans
le groupe de données mentionnées. Cette relation contredit au comportement général des individus, ce
que nous permet de discuter sur la possibilité d’utilisation de terme « mensonge ». D’autre coté, la
fiabilité des résultats de ce recherche puisse étre discutée a cause de la quantité pas vraiment suffisante de
donnes, nécessaires pour 1’évaluation des relations de régression: une hypothése de « optimisme
mensongere » a été vérifié juste avec 17 paires de données statistiques.

Au-dela du résultat principal, la recherche révéle d’autres questions pour des discutions scientifiques,
qui doivent étre étudiées afin approfondir la connaissance du sujet et celle de son influence sur le
fonctionnement de marché

e quels autres facteurs peuvent avoir un impact sur le possible écart entre les données « dures »-

objectives et « douces »- subjectives ?

e est-ce que la méthode actuelle du calcul de l’indicateur de confiance industrielle refléte

correctement les attentes du marché ?

e comment les méthodes prédictives du marché (cycle économique) doivent-elles étre changées afin

de refléter le phénomeéne du possible mensonge macroéconomique ?

e comment les entreprises peuvent-elles changer leur fagon de répondre aux enquétes (surtout sur les

« prévisions de nouvelles commandes »), sachant que la collecte des données « dures », servant au
contrdle de données « douces », est supprimée de fagon administrative par 'TEUROSTAT ?

La probabilité de I’existence du « mensonge » en Allemagne, trouvée dans cette recherche, manifeste
la possibilité de 1’existence de ce phénomene au niveau globale. Donc, ainsi on peut soulever encore une
question pour les futures recherches: quelles sont les caractéristiques de différents pays envers le sujet
traité dans cette recherche ?
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En guise des recommandations 1’auteur invite les scientistes de développer 1’idée proposée dans cet
article. L’idée décrite ici est juste au début de son chemin et ouvre large espace pour les nouvelles
révélations.
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THE NATURE OF TRADE RELATIONS BETWEEN LITHUANIA
AND RUSSIA: INVESTIGATION ON APPLICATION OF TRADE
BARRIERS IN PERIOD OF 2007 —2012

Rasa Daugéliené, Kaunas University of Technology, Lithuania®

Abstract

Lithuania being the member of European Union reveals very close international trade relations (based
on bilateral agreements) with its’ closest neighbour — Russia. The repetitive trade tensions between
Lithuania and Russia inspired theoretical as well as empirical investigation of a very actual economic -
political problem. Considering that the paper analyses the research problem: what tariff and non-tariff
barriers usually are applied for Lithuanian export to Russia? The aim of the paper is to investigate the
nature of international trade development between Lithuania and Russia from the standpoint of trade
barriers which were applied starting 1998.The object of the research is tariff and non-tariff trade barriers
which are applied for Lithuania’s export to Russia. It is a key to stress that Russia’s trade protectionist
policy concerning Lithuanian products has more prohibition and power demonstration but not the internal
market protection nature. The investigation is based on theoretical analysis of economic theory in order to
provide arguments for economic benefit of removing trade barriers as well as to systemize the structure of
existing tariff and non-tariff trade barriers. This structure could be used for further analyses of recognition
of trade restrictions application in other countries. The European Commission’s TARIC Consultation
methodology of application of trade barriers for EU’s export to Russia as well as methodology of World
Trade Organization for trade profiles were applied for systemization of different trade restrictions. The
empirical findings reflect international trade tendencies between Lithuania and Russia in the period of
2007 — 2012 and tariff and non-tariff barriers which were practically applied on export from Lithuania to
Russia. The results of the comparative empirical analysis could be used for organization of future actions
concerning Lithuania — Russia international trade relations.

Key words: tariff and non-tariff barriers, export restrictions, international trade, Russia — Lithuania
trade relations

JEL codes: F13, F51, O57, P16

Introduction

International trade is very important activity for such small European Union (EU) country as
Lithuania. The growth of GDP directly correlates with amount of export. EU is the biggest trade
partner however Russia is the second most important economic partner for Lithuanian producers.
The export to Russia composes 19 percent of total export. Lithuania exports to Russia mostly
mineral products (mineral fuels, mineral oils and products of their distillation; bituminous
substances; mineral waxes), foodstuffs, alcohol and tobacco products, furniture and chemicals. The
specificity of Lithuania’s international trade depends on Common trade policy of EU as well as
participation in World trade organization (WTO). Despite this fact, international trade relations are

! Corresponding author — e-mail address: rasa.daugeliene@ktu.lt, phone number: +370 37 300140
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based and on bilateral relations. Precisely such are developed between Lithuania and Russia. It is a
key to stress that these trade relations have very complicated economic — political nature. Despite
that, the paper addresses just economic nature of trade relations between Russia and Lithuania.
Considering that the paper analyses the research problems: what is the scope of Lithuania’s and
Russia’s trade relations? What restrictions usually are applied for Lithuanian export to Russia? This
represents the novelty of the research. Study is focused on trade barriers (tariff and non-tariff)
applied by Russia for the export from Lithuania. Detailed facts stimulate to investigate the real
nature of international trade between Lithuania and Russia. The aim of the paper is to investigate the
nature of international trade development between Lithuania and Russia from the standpoint of trade
barriers which were applied starting 1998.

The efficiency of international trade depends on many conditions and features. One of the most
important is different trade barriers (tariff and non-tariff). Bilateral trade relations between Lithuania and
Russia indisputably are interrelated with various trade barriers, especially in the sphere of food products
export. This presupposes the first task of this paper, e. g. to systemize theoretical arguments for a benefit
of removing trade barriers and to highlight gross economic benefits from reducing trade barriers.
Theoretical analysis is based on (Anderson K. and Martin W. 2012; Anderson K. and Nelgen S. 2012;
Anderson, K. and Strutt A. 2012; Anderson K. 2004; Anderson K. 2012; Baldwin R. E. 2004; Baldwin R.
E.2009; Francois J., van Meijl H., and van Tongeren F. 2005; Frankel 1999; Freeman R. B. 2003;
Grossman G. M., Helpman E. 1991; Hitiris Th. 1998; Lee J. W. 1995; Lejour A. M., deMooj R. A. 2001;
Li Y. and Beghin J. C. 2012; Molle W. 2006; Panagariya A. 2004; Philippidis G., Resano-Ezcaray H.,
Sanjuan-Lopez A. 1.,2013; Sanjuan A. 1., Philippidis G. 2007; Rivera-Batiz L., Romer P. 1991; Sachs J.
D. and Warner A. 1995; Sanjuan A. 1., Philippidis, G. and Resano; Taylor M. S. 1999; Tamini L.D.,
Gervais J.P. 2010; Wacziarg R. 2001; Wacziarg R. and Welch K. H., 2008; Winchester N. 2009)
scientific works.

Investigation of nature of Lithuania’s and Russia’s trade relations binds to systemize and classify
trade barriers which usually are applied in order to protect domestic producers from the foreign
competitors. The overview of economic literature as well as working papers showed that classification of
possible trade barriers is missing. Theoretically constructed classification could be applied for further
researches which will be oriented to the investigation of trade barriers application in any bilateral trade
relations. This is the second task of this paper. The third task is to present the main features of evolution
of Lithuania’s — Russia’s international trade relations in the period of 2007 — 2012. The fourth task is to
systemize tariff and non-tariff barriers practically applied on export from Lithuania to Russia.

Methods and results. The investigation is based on theoretical analysis of economic theory in
order to provide arguments for economic benefit of removing trade barriers as well as to systemize
the structure of existing tariff and non-tariff trade barriers. This structure (constructed by author)
could be used for further analyses of recognition of trade restrictions application in other countries.
The European Commission’s TARIC Consultation methodology of application of trade barriers for
EU’s export to Russia as well as methodology of World Trade Organization for trade profiles (WTO)
were applied for systemization of different trade restrictions. The empirical findings reflect
international trade tendencies between Lithuania and Russia in the period of 2007 — 2012 and tariff
and non-tariff barriers which were practically applied on export from Lithuania to Russia. The
results of comparative empirical analysis could be used for organization of future actions concerning
Lithuania — Russia international trade relations.

The paper is organized as follows. The first part (theoretical discussion) briefly surveys the arguments
for economic benefit of removing trade barriers. Analysing scientific literature as well as working papers
the structure of tariff and non-tariff trade barriers was systemized in research results first sub-part. The
second sub-part is dedicated for the investigation of international trade tendencies of Lithuania and Russia
in the period of 2007 — 2012. And finally, tariff and non-tariff barriers which were practically applied on
export from Lithuania to Russia were systemized in the last sub-part.
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Theoretical discussion: the arguments for economic
benefit of reducing trade barriers

Almost all empirical studies provide an affirmative answer to the question — does reduction or
elimination of trade barriers (tariff and non-tariff) stimulate the growth of international trade? There are
many scientific works (Panagariya A. 2004; Philippidis G., Resano-Ezcaray H., Sanjuan-Lopez A.L. 2013;
Philippidis G., Sanjuan A.L. 2007; Rivera-Batiz L. and Romer P. 1991; Sachs J. D., Warner A. 1995;
Sanjuan A. I., Philippidis G., Resano H. 2008; Taylor M. S. 1999; Tamini L.D. and Gervais J.P. 2010;
Wacziarg R. 2001; Wacziarg R. and Welch K. H. 2008; Winchester N. 2009) which are focused on
welfare implications for the removal of non-tariff barriers. Baldwin R. E. (2009) discussed about WTO
success in reducing non-tariff barriers. He made the conclusions, that “the average U. S. tariff rate on
dutiable import was 25.3% in 1946. With the tariff cuts proposed in the Doha Round the average tariff
peaks was below 7 — 9%. For the developing countries applying the proposed tariff-cutting formula the
majority of tariff rates was between 12% or14% and only limited number of countries had average bound
rates above 15%. Taking account of non-tariff barriers, particularly quantitative import restrictions, yields
an even more impressive picture of the decline in protectionism.” Anderson K. (2004) stressed that usage
of various trade — liberalizing opportunities in principle is beneficial economically. Summarizing, it could
be stated static and dynamic economic gains from own-country reform.

The static effects reflect in a short term period. According to comparative advantage theory, all
countries receive economic benefits from production specialization and exchange. The abolition of
most of tariffs directly correlates with size of benefit, as changes of goods or resources rises the
competitiveness and reduces costs of production. The static gains from trade tend to be greater as a
share of national output the smaller the economy, particularly where economies of scale in
production have not been fully exploited and where consumers value variety so that intra- as well as
inter-industry trade can flourish. The dynamic effects manifest in long term period. For example,
importation of intermediate and capital goods promotes investments that increase growth (Wazciarg
R. 2001). The higher the ration of imported to domestically produced capital goods for developing
country, the faster economy of it grow (Lee J. W. 1995; Mazumdar J. 2001). Despite that the dates of
trade liberalization characterize the breaks in investment (negative aspect of trade barriers abolition),
it depicts and GDP growth rates. Economies that commit no less market intervention tend to attract
more investment funds, which raise their stocks of capital. More — open economies also tend to be
more innovative, because of greater trade in intellectual capital. Trade liberalization cans higher
rates of capital accumulation and productivity growth in the reforming economy because of the way
reform energizes entrepreneurs. In order to keep those higher growth rates sustained the government
need to have in place effective institutions to efficiency allocate and protect property rights; to allow
domestic factor and product markets to function freely; maintain macroeconomic and political
stability (Rodrik D. 2003; Wacziarg R. 2008; Baldwin R. E. 2004).

Despite the arguments for a benefit of removing trade barriers, most developed countries protect at
least some of their industries from foreign competition. Different reasons why countries impose trade
barriers are suggested. For example, infant industry assistance, balance of payments maintenance,
unemployment prevention, tax revenue raising, protection of environmental or labour standards, specific
political actions, etc. It is a key to stress that most of imposed trade barriers usually are the consequence
of political economic relations. This especially reflects when we are analysing bilateral trade relations
between Lithuania and Russia. Restrictions which come from the Russia side not necessarily have just the
nature of protection of domestic market.

Molle W. (2006) distilled seven arguments why many countries protect their domestic producers from
foreign competition by introducing obstacles to free trade (most by import restrictions) (see Table 1).
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Table 1

Arguments for import and export restrictions

Arguments for import restrictions

Strategic independence

In times of war and supply shortages, a country should not depend on
unreliable sources in other countries as far as strategic goods are
concerned.

Nurturing so-called “infant
industries”

Young companies and sectors which are not yet competitive should be
sheltered in infancy in order for them to develop into adult companies
holding their own in international competition.

Defence against dumping

The health of an industry may be spoiled when foreign goods are
dumped on the market. Even if the action is temporary, the industry may
be weakened beyond its capacity to recover.

Defence against social
dumping

If wages in the exporting country do not match productivity, the labour
factor is said to be exploited; importation from such a country is held by
some to uphold such practices and is therefore not permissible.

Boosting employment

If the production factors in the union are not fully occupied, protection
can turn local demand towards domestic goods, so that more labour is
put to work and social costs are avoided.

Easing balance-of-payment
problems

Import restrictions reduce the amount to be paid abroad, which helps to
avoid adjustments of the industrial structure and accompanying social
costs and societal friction.

Diversification of the
economic structure

Countries specializing in one or a few products tend to be very
vulnerable; problems of marketing such products lead to instant loss of
virtually all income from abroad.

Arguments for export restrictions

Strategically important goods must not fall into the hands of other nations. This is true for military goods
(weapons) but also for incorporated knowledge (computers) or systems.

Export of raw materials means the consolidation of a colonial situation. It is hoped that a levy on exports
will increase the domestic entrepreneurs’ inclination to process the materials themselves. If not, then any
rate the revenues can be used to stimulate other productions.

If imported goods disrupt foreign markets, the importing country may be induced to take protective
measures against the product and a series of other products. Rather thank risk that, a nation may accept a
“voluntary” restriction of the exports of that one product.

Source: author’s construction based on Molle (2006)

The economic scientists state that reductions in trade barriers can induce better information
dissemination, technological change, unilateral opening of markets abroad as well as opportunities to join
international trade agreements.

1. Research results: the structure of tariff and non-tariff trade barriers

Countries more transparent in reporting their regulations appear to be more restrictive (Chen N. and

Novy Y., 2012). Theory shows that there are many classifications of trade barriers (Rodrik D. 2003;
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Wacziarg R. 2008; Baldwin R. E. 2004; European Commission, 2014; Hitiris Th. 1998; Molle W. 2006;
Pukeliene V. 2008; WTO, 2014.; Daugeliene R. 2011). Classic classification of trade barriers are tariff
and non-tariff measures or barriers. Figure 1 represents possible tariff and non-tariff barriers induced by
developed countries in order to protect domestic market from foreign competition.

The first group is tariff barriers (customs and import duties) — import or export tariffs which are
divided considering their application (ad-valorem; specific or mixed import tariffs) or by intentions of
their application (e. g. income, protection or prohibiting).

e Ad-valorem tariff barriers — the application is very often. The phrase “ad valorem” is Latin for
“according to value”, and this type of tariff is levied on a good based on a percentage of that
good’s value. E. g. ad valorem tariff would be a 15% tariff levied by Japan on U.S. automobiles.
The 15% is a price increase on the value of the automobile, so a 10.000 dollars vehicle now costs
11.500 dollars to Japanese consumers. This price increase protects domestic producers from being
undercut, but also keeps prices artificially high for Japanese car shoppers.

e Specific tariff barriers — a fixed fee levied on one unit of an imported good is referred to as a
specific tariff. This tariff can vary according to the type of good imported. E. g., a country could
levy a 15 dollars tariff on each pair of shoes imported, but levy a 300 dollars tariff on each
computer imported.

e Mixed tariff barriers — combined ad-valorem and specific trade barriers.

TARIFF
BARRIERS
Customs duties; Import duties By application By intentions
l = Ad-valorem = Income
- = Specific = Protection
Import tariffs = Mixed = Prohibiting

Quantitative restrictions (Import,
export quotas)

Import, export licences

= National health, Other political measures

safety and Buy national good policy
Fiscal treatment employment Intellectual property law
provisions Bribery and corruption
= Product Not fair customs procedures

Voluntary export restrictions

Legal regulations (standards, safety
norms, state monopolies, public

tenders)

T

classification
Foreign production
control
Competition law
Custom procedures

Restrictive licenses
Import embargo
Seasonal imports

NON-TARIFF BARRIERS

Types of subsidies

Direct

Export (trade promotion)

= Indirect - C
= Work = Buying
= Taxes = Consumption
i = Tax abolition
idi = Production
Subsidies = Favour = Dept guarantees
= Infrastructure = Controversial

Trade security (import)

Source: author’s construction based on Daugeliene R. (2011); WTO (2013); European Commission TARIC (2013)

Fig. 1. Structure of tariff and non-tariff trade barriers
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Tariff barriers can be applied considering by intentions of their application. This means, that
governments has different purposes when imposes the import tariffs. One of them could be to enhance the
incomes from the international trade. The second, in order to protect domestic infant producers from the
foreigners, they use different quotas as well as big tariffs for the export goods. Prohibiting import tariffs
usually are so high that any import is unprofitable.

The second group is non-tariff barriers. Since most world developed countries (members of WTO as
well as European Union implementing free movement of goods) dramatically reduced tariffs, more
attention has been paid to non-tariff barriers. Due to their intrinsic heterogeneity non-tariff barriers are
categorized into several relatively more homogeneous subgroups (Li Y., Beghin J. C. 2012). Health and
safety measures and technical standards, comprising sanitary and phyto-sanitary measures, technical
barriers to trade, competition laws, customs clearness procedures (Winchester N. 2009) and other
standard — as policies are often distinguished from other non-tariff measures. They controversial affect the
scope of trade. Standards and technical regulations have both the trade-impeding effects by raising the
costs of exporters and similar demand-enhancing effects by certifying quality and safety to consumers. Li
Y. and Beghin J. C. (2012) after their investigation concluded that agriculture and food industries tend to
be more impeded or less enhanced by technical tariffs than other sectors.

Concluding, the non-tariff barriers could be divided into seven big groups. For example, quantitative
restrictions (import, export quotas); import, export licenses; fiscal treatment; voluntary export restrictions;
legal regulations (standards, safety norms, state monopolies, public tenders); subsidies; other political
measures (as ‘buy national good policy’; intellectual property law; bribery and corruption; not fair
customs procedures; restrictive licenses; import embargo; seasonal imports).

2. International trade tendencies between Lithuania and Russia in the period of 2007 — 2012

As it was stressed in the recent research papers (Anderson K. 2012; Anderson K. and Martin W.
2012), for an individual small exporting country, the effect of the increase in its export tax it is to
reduce the domestic price relative to the newly-raised world price. Trade policy changes — and
particularly export restrictions (in this case — embargo) — are frequently discussed as contributing
factors to food price surges. Precisely such effect occurred when Russia applied embargo for the
Lithuanian milk and diary products in 2013 September. Not exported milk production (with labels in
Russian language) was sold in Lithuania with a discount. Russia is the second biggest import partner
after the EU and the fourth export partner. Lithuania’s export value to this country was 15 billion Litas
(4.34 mlird. Euro) (19% of total export).
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Source: author’s construction based on statistics of Lithuania

Fig. 2. Export of goods of Lithuanian origin in 2007 - 2012 (million LTL)
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In analysing trade relations between Russia and Lithuania in 2007 — 2012, the year 2008 should be
emphasized. In 2008, commodity circulation between these countries had reached the highest level and
was 30.7 billion LTL. Export made up 8.9 billion LTL (29%), while import —21.8 billion LTL (71%). In
2008, Russia was the first in the list of Lithuania’s largest export markets and first in the list of the largest
import markets. However, even 77% of all the export to Russia consists of re-export and based on the
export of products of Lithuanian origin, in 2007 — 2010, Russia is only in the 8" position within the list of
the largest markets. Nevertheless, Russia is the largest market for dairy products, meat and its products,
live animals, paper and cardboard industry, and some other items from Lithuania.

Lithuania’s balance of trade (see Table 2) with Russia is negative because energy related and other
raw materials that are necessary for Lithuanian industry and other needs to dominate in Russia’s import
structure. The import of only crude oil and natural gas exceed Lithuania’s export to Russia twice. Thus, a
positive balance of trade with Russia could be expected only if Lithuania's energy-related dependence on
Russia was considerably reduced.

Table 2
International trade between Lithuania and Russia in 2007 — 2012 (million LTL)
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Balance -4610.2 -12938.2 -8142.6 -1121.4 -13727.1 -12880.0
Export 6473.0 8916.5 5394 .4 8458.7 11532.7 15037.2
Import 11083.2 21854.8 13537.0 19880.2 25259.8 27917.2

Source: author’s construction based on statistics of Lithuania

Lithuanian Export to Russia. Export of goods of Lithuanian origin to Russia during the period of
2007-2012 made up around 23% of all the export (for values, see Table 3). Re-export was 77%. That is
why while analyzing it is necessary to distinguish export of goods of Lithuanian origin from re-export.

Table 3
Changes in export of goods of Lithuanian origin to Russia
Period 2007 in 2008 in 2009 in 2010 in 2012 in
comparison comparison comparison comparison comparison
with 2006 with 2007 with 2008 with 2009 with 2011
2007 2008 2009 2010 2012
change | value, | change | value, | change | value, change | value, change | value,
Variables min. Lt min. Lt min. Lt min. Lt min. Lt
Export 30.6%| 6473.0| 37.7%| 8916.5| -39.5% 5394.4| 56.8% 8458.7| 30.4%|15037.2
Import -14.6% | 11083.2| 97.2% | 21854.8| -38.1% | 13537.0| 46.9%| 19880.2| 10.5%|27917.2
Source: author’s construction based on statistics of Lithuania
Rasa Daugéliené 109




~ New Challenges of Economic
) and Business Development — 2014

May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia

In 2007 — 2012 the major part of goods of Lithuanian origin exported to Russia was milk and other
dairy products -1.55 billion LTL which is 22% out of all the export of the goods of Lithuanian origin
during the analysed period. Out of dairy products mainly cheese and curds were exported, which made up
93% of all the milk and dairy products export to Russia. 3.4% were dry dairy products made in the form
of powder or granular. Russia is the largest market for Lithuanian dairy products. Every year it receives
around 30% of all exported Lithuanian dairy products. Comparing 2007 to 2012 exports of milk and other
dairy products to Russia increased by 34.7% or, in other words, by 65 million LTL.

In the second place according to the exports of goods of Lithuanian origin to Russia in 2007-2012
were machines and mechanical equipment that made up 7.5% of total export of goods of Lithuanian
origin or, in other words, LTL 519 million. 27% out of all mechanical equipment exports were air
pumps, air or gas compressors and fans; 15.1% were centrifuges and liquid or gas filtration or cleaning
equipment, 12% — taps and valves. During the analysed period, Russia was also the largest market for
the machines and mechanical equipment of Lithuanian origin. Russia had 15.2% of all these products.
It is important to mention that during the year of crisis (2009) Germany claimed the largest market’s
position from Russia; however, in 2010 Russia again regained its leading role. Comparing 2011 to
2012 export of machines and other mechanical equipment to Russia grew by 21.9% or, in other words,
LTL 14.5 million.

In the third place, according to the exports of goods of Lithuanian origin to Russia during the
period of 2007-2012, was an export of live animals, which made up 7.3% of all the exports of
Lithuanian origin to Russia. 99.8% of all the exported animals were the export of pigs. Apparently,
Russia has the largest market for Lithuanian pigs as well. It accounts almost half of all the exports of
live animals. Comparing 2011 to 2012, the exports of live animals to Russia declined by 27.4%.
Such decline was influenced by the swine fever prevailing at that time. Because of it, Russia banned
the import of pigs to Russia from certain regions of Lithuania. Russia is also the largest market for
Lithuanian meat and meat products, 25% of these products are exported to Russia every year.
Comparing 2011 to 2012, transport re-export to Russia increased by 68.5% or 241.5 million LTL.
Out of mechanical equipment, the biggest parts of re-exported items are machines, laboratory and
industrial equipment. They make up 7.5% of all the re-export of machines and mechanical
equipment; and re-export of printing machines make up 7.3%. Comparing 2011 to 2012, the exports
of machines and mechanical equipment to Russia increased by 56.3% or 322.4 million LTL. Russia
is also the largest market for Lithuanian paper and cardboard. 20% of all the paper and cardboard
products exported annually are exported to Russia.

In 2007-2012, the major part of the re-exported items was transport that made up 14.7% of all the re-
export. However, from the year 2009 re-export of machines and other mechanical equipment had the first
position among all the goods re-exported to Russia and in 2007-2012 re-export of machines and
mechanical equipment made up 14.6% of all the re-export. In the case of re-export of transport, the major
part of re-exported items was used vehicles. They make up around 63.3% of all the re-exported transport.
15.4% were re-exports of trailers and semi-trailers. Russia is the largest market for re-export of machines
and mechanical equipment and the second-largest market (after Belarus) for transport re-export. A quarter
of transport and 43.1% of machines and other mechanical equipment are re-exported to Russia. Besides
the above mentioned goods, many electric machines (11.3% of all the re-export), fruits (10.4%) and
vegetables (7.1%) are also re-exported to Russia.

Lithuanian import from Russia. The biggest part of Lithuanian import from Russia makes up energy-
related and other raw materials. In 2007-2012 crude oil imports dominated. During the analysed period, it
made up even 67.4% of all the import while gas was 14.4% of all the import. Therefore, almost 82% of
all the import from Russia was crude oil and gas. An import of electric energy made up 1.42% while
petrol and diesel — 3.9% of all the import.

The second largest group of imported goods in 2007-2012 were sulphur, phosphates and other
minerals that made up 2.7% of all the import from Russia. 83.7% out of them were imported natural
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phosphates and 9.8% — sulphur. The major part of these minerals is consumed in Lithuanian chemical
industry. In 2012, comparing to 2007, the import of natural phosphates increased the most - by 56
million LTL (32.5%). However, the major part of phosphates was imported (raw amber, etc.) for 730
million LTL in 2008. It was 3.2 times more than in 2012. In 2011 compared to 2010 import of other
minerals increased the most — by 3 times, which is 19.7 million LTL and also import of sulphur — by
63.3%, — 9.5 million LTL.

The third largest group of imported goods in 2007-2010 was fertilizers that made up 1.3% of all the
imports from Russia in 2007-2010. 48.9% of all the import of fertilizers was fertilizers which contained
3 elements in their chemical structure: nitrogen, potassium, phosphorus. 27.9% were nitrogen fertilizers
and 12.7% were potassium fertilizers. Comparing 2010 to 2007, fertilizers that have 3 elements in their
structure: nitrogen, potassium, and phosphorus increased the most (LTL 89 million or 2.4 times). In 2011
compared to 2010, the import of nitrogen, potassium and phosphorus fertilizers increased 2.5 times,
which is 29.2 million LTL and the import of nitrogen fertilizers almost doubled (18.7 million LTL).
Inorganic chemicals make up 1.22% of all the imports from Russia and 90% of all the imports of
inorganic chemicals is anhydrous ammonia.

In 2012, commodity circulation between Russia and Lithuania was 42.95 billion LTL and, comparing
it to the year 2011, increased by 15.5%. Lithuania’s trade balance with Russia was again negative. It
was — 12.88 billion LTL. In 2011 compared to 2010, import from Russia increased by 33.6% or 3.6
billion LTL. Such growth was mostly influenced by the increase of mineral fuel exports (3.4 billion LTL)
and export of fertilizers. The most promising sectors for Lithuanian products and services for export to
Russia are transport and logistics, food products, furniture and tourism.

Analysing the data of Lithuanian export to Russia, it is seen that export from Lithuania to Russia
made up 15.04 billion LTL. It increased by 30.4% from the year 2011. Lithuanian export to Russia made
up almost 19% of all Lithuanian export. The main groups of products exported to Russia were: transport
(around 1.3 billion LTL), dairy products (around 0.5 billion LTL), vegetables (0.4 billion LTL), also
wine, furniture and fruits. Out of all the exports to Russia, the goods of Lithuanian origin made up 16.5%,
which was 2.48 billion LTL.

In 2012, Lithuanian import from Russia reached 27.92 billion LTL. Comparing it to the year 2011, it
increased by 8.84%. Lithuanian import from Russia made up 32.32% of all the Lithuanian import. The
main groups of products imported from Russia in 2012 were oil products, electric energy, mineral or
chemical fertilizers, natural phosphates, ammonia and other products. Around 99.8% of crude oil, 97.42%
of natural gas and 60.61% of electric energy out of all the amount of these products brought in Lithuania
in 2012, were imported from Russia.

In 2012, Russia was first in the list of Lithuania’s largest export markets and first in the list of the
largest import markets. Export to Russia made up almost 19% of all the exports from Lithuania while
import from Russia made up around 32% of all the import to Lithuania.

3. Tariff and non-tariff barriers applied on export from Lithuania to Russia

In the first decade of XXI century economic and political relations between Russia and Lithuania were
quite complicated. Energetic dependence, problems in trade and customs influenced the nature of
international trade. According to all factors, Russia, being one of the biggest worlds’ economies, is
normal market economy country. However, certain actions of government considering export restrictions
form certain EU countries (especially Lithuania) distort the market. It is obvious that Russia applies
different protectionist measures for export in order to show its dominant position (economic and political)
in the world. Protectionist measures will be applied and in the future not only for the political reasons but
in order to protect internal economy.

During the last decade almost a half of EU member states had trade conflicts or various economic
consequences with Russia: 1999-2000 — steal conflict; 2006-2007 — Russia-Poland “meat war”; export
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tariffs on wood raw materials from Sweden and Finland; Russia-Estonia “bronze soldier” conflict, which
consequence was blockade of transportation of Russia’s oil and coal via Estonian railways; application of
taxes for the flights over the territory of Russia; customs for the export of production of machinery
industry, agricultural equipment, steal production, television and radio engineering from EU were
increased; prohibition of pork import to Russia was applied as well.

Russia’s membership in the World trade organization (WTO) does not impose any better conditions
for the export. It is a key to stress that after the join to WTO in August of 2012, Russia applied more
protectionist measures. One of the most salient discriminating examples is the tax for the utilization of
cars and heavy machinery (350 Euro for each imported car and 15000 Euro for apiece heave machinery).
Other restrictions (very painful for Lithuanian producers) — prohibition of import of beef cattle and diary
products, did not reduce import tariffs for hundreds of products, including the wood.

Table 4

The most famous trade restrictions applied by Russia for Lithuanian export

Date Description of trade restrictions

1998 | Russia’s market actually was closed for the Lithuanian goods (especially for food products,
textile and other consumption goods). Export for Lithuania meaningfully decreased.
Payments were disarrayed as well. Many of exporters from Western countries were forced to
retreat from Russian market.

2009 | Restrictions for the export of diary products. The reason — the “law quality” (too high
quantity of yeasts and molds).

2011 | Russia’s Customs Service instructed to suspend imports of Lithuanian pork.

2013 | Russia’s Customs Service instructed to suspend imports of Lithuanian milk and diary
products (Russia accounted for 33.7 percent of Lithuanian dairy exports in January through
July. This fact confirms that export of diary products is very important for Lithuania’s
economy).

Custom checks on Lithuanian trucks. (Tightened customs checks of Lithuanian haulers had
been lifted on the Lithuanian-Russian border and in internal customs checkpoints of Russia).

Source: author’s construction based on statistics of Lithuania

The most famous of tariff and non-tariff barriers which where and are applied by Russia for
Lithuanian export are summarized in Table 4. It is very important to stress that approximately for the 83%
of Russia’s export production is tax-free. Moreover, EU applies generalized preference system for many
types of goods from Russia.

The reality shows that Lithuania still do not have effective mechanisms, which would allow
operatively and adequate react to the actions concerned with Russia‘s trade restrictions applied to
Lithuanian export. The lack of prognostic abilities — is one of the important problems of Lithuania’s
experts. Russia applies different protectionist measures instead of structural reforms of its economy,
opening the market for foreign direct investment as well as liberating the trade.
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Tariff barriers Non-tariff barriers
e Import duties Veterinary Import Permit
e Import taxes State Sanitary Registration of Goods
e Export embargo Veterinary Health Certificate for
¢ Quotas Animal Products
e Discriminatory railway fees Quality standards

Example: Dairy produce; birds’ eggs; natural honey;
edible products of animal origin, not elsewhere specified
or included.

Milk and cream, not concentrated nor containing
added sugar or other sweetening matter — export tariff
is from 5% or 15%.

Buttermilk, curdled milk and cream, yogurt, kephir
and other fermented or acidified milk and cream,
whether or not concentrated or containing added sugar
or other sweetening matter or flavoured or containing
added fruit, nuts or cocoa — mix tariff — 15%, but not
less than 0.18 EUR/kg.

Whey, whether or not concentrated or containing
added sugar or other sweetening matter; products
consisting of natural milk constituents, whether or not
containing added sugar or other sweetening matter,
not elsewhere specified or included — 10%; 13.3%;
15%.

Butter and other fats and oils derived from milk; dairy
spreads — 17.5%, but not less than 0.19 EUR/Kg;
18.3%, but not less than 0.27 EUR/Kg.

Cheese and curd — 18.3%, but not less than
0.23 EUR/Kg; 18.3%, but not less than 0.37 EUR/Kg;
20%, but not less than 0.4 EUR/kg; 15%, but not less
than 0.3 EUR/kg; 20.3%, but not less than
0.41 EUR/Kg; 22.5%, but not less than 0.45 EUR/kg.
Birds’ eggs, in shell, fresh, preserved or cooked — 0%;
13.3%; 15%.

Birds’ eggs, not in shell, and egg yolks, fresh, dried,
cooked by steaming or by boiling in water, moulded,
frozen or otherwise preserved, whether or not
containing added sugar or other sweetening matter —
13.3%; 14%; 15%, but not less than 0.6 EUR/kg;
16.5%; 17%; 21.3%; 21.7%.

Natural honey — 15%.

Edible products of animal origin, not elsewhere
specified or included — 15%.

Specific technical requirements for
trucks

Antidumping measures

Customs valuation

Requirement to produce export
declaration

Road taxes

Customs clearance procedures

Border congestion

Certification and conformity assessment
Government procurement “buy
Russian”

Lower domestic energy prices, notably
gas

Control, inspection and approval
procedures

Stringent requirements on pesticide and
antibiotic residues

Sanitary requirements for milk and
dairy products

Source: author’s construction based on European Commission TARIC Consultation (2013)

Fig. 3. Trade barriers for Lithuanian (as well as EU) export to Russia
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Conclusions

1. Theoretical analysis showed that there are no doubts that reduction of trade barriers (tariff and non-
tariff) stimulate the growth of international trade and are beneficial economically. It enhances better
information disseminations and technological change between countries. These are probably the
main arguments why international trade restrictions should be controlled in the intergovernmental
level. However the research results are consistent with political-economy theories of the
determinants of trade protection. It could be stressed that even after evaluation of industry and
country specific factors, states tend to protect markets (industries) that are weak or in decline,
politically important or threatened by import competition.

2. Economic benefit from trade-liberalizing opportunities can reflect in short or long period.
Respectively, static and dynamic effects could manifest. In order to achieve these effects
governments of countries should accept appropriate political — economic actions. It is a key to
stress that trade liberalization is not a precondition for governmental actions eliminations.

3. According to theoretical analysis, despite the positive arguments of free trade most developed
countries protect their industries from foreign competition. The most important arguments for
import restrictions are strategic independence; nurturing infant industries, defence against dumping,
boosting employment, diversification of the economic structure. And, the most important arguments
for import restrictions are defence of strategically important goods from foreign competition;
defence raw material market.

4. Theoretically all trade restrictions could be divided into to groups: tariff and non-tariff barriers.
Respectively import tariffs (customs and import duties); and, quantitative restrictions; import,
export licenses; fiscal treatment; voluntary export restrictions; specific legal regulations; subsidies.

5. The analysis of international trade tendencies between Lithuania and Russia in the period of 2007 —
2012 showed that Russia was second biggest import partner of Lithuania (after the EU) and fourth
export partner. In the latest period Lithuania’s export to Russia consisted of 19% of total export.
Export of goods of Lithuanian origin (despite different tariff and non-tariff barriers application for
food goods) had tendency to increase. Lithuania’s balance of trade with Russia was negative
because energy related and other raw materials that were necessary for Lithuanian industry and
other needs dominated in Russia’s import structure.

6. Statistical analysis allowed to sum up that the main Lithuanian origin goods to Russia (in the period
of 2007 — 2012) were: milk and other dairy products; machines and mechanical equipment; live
animals (especially pigs); paper and cardboard. The biggest part of Lithuanian import from Russia
consisted of energy related and other raw materials. This fact confirms Lithuanians inevitable
dependence on Russia’s energetic sector (this depicts complicated nature of trade policy). It was
forecasted, that the most promising sectors for Lithuania products and services for export to Russia
will be transport and logistics, food products, furniture and tourism.

7. After the analysis of EU and WTO working papers as well as EC TARIC system the conclusion
considering trade barriers application could be done that during the last decade almost a half of
all EU member states had trade conflicts or different trade — economic sanctions from Russia.
Lithuania — no exceptions. It is a key to stress, that Russia, even being a member of WTO did not
refused application of many of trade barriers. Starting the 1998’s, the main trade restrictions
(tariff and non-tariff) were applied by Russia to Lithuanian export of food products. Export
duties, standards and other specific requirements, export suspensions and even embargo were
applied for milk and diary products, pork. Specific custom checks on Lithuanian trucks had
negative economic consequences for Lithuanian producers. Listed restrictions had obvious
political — economic nature.

114 Rasa Daugéliené



~ New Challenges of Economic
) and Business Development — 2014

May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia

Bibliography

Anderson K., 2012. Government Trade Restrictions and International Price Volatility. Global Food
Security, Vol. 1(2), pp. 157-166.

Anderson K., 2004. The Challenge of Reducing Subsidies and Trade Barriers. Economist, 39(May), pp.
24-28. [Online] Available at: http://www-wds.worldbank.org/serviet/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB
/2004/10/14/000160016_20041014091046/Rendered/PDF/WPS3415.pdf.

Anderson K., Martin W., 2012. Export Restrictions and Price Insulation During Commodity Price
Booms. American Journal of Agricultural Economics, 94(2), pp. 422-27.

Anderson K., Nelgen S., 2012. Trade Barrier Volatility and Agricultural Price Stabilization. World
Development, 40(1), pp. 36-48.

Anderson K., S.A., 2012. The Changing Geography of World Trade: Projections to 2030. Journal of
Asian Economics, 23(4), pp. 303-323.

Baldwin R. E., 2004. Challenges to Globalization.An Overview. In Baldwin Robert E. and Winters L.
Alan, ed. Challenges to Globalization: Analysing the Economics. University of Chicago Press, pp. 1-14.
[Online] Available at: http://www.nber.org/chapters/c9530.pdf.

Baldwin R. E., 2009. Trade negotiations within the GATT/WTO framework: A survey of successes and
failures. Journal of Policy Modeling, 31(4), pp. 515-525. [Online] Available at: http://linkinghub.
elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0161893809000398 [Accessed December 20, 2013].

Chen N., Novy Y., 2012. On the Measurement of Trade Costs: Direct vs. Indirect Approaches to
Quantifying Standards and Technical Regulations, 15 p. [Online] Available at: http://www?2.warwick.
ac.uk/fac/soc/economics/staff/academic/novy/wtr.pdf [Accessed February 14, 2014].

Daugeliene R., 2011. ES ekonomine integracija: priezastys, raida, perspektyvos, KTU: Technologija.

European Commission, Export and Import rules. 2013. [Online] Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/
trade/import-and-export-rules/.

European Commission, TARIC Consultation methodology. 2013. [Online] Available at:
http://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/dds2/taric/taric_consultation.jsp?Lang=en&Taric=&EndPub=&
MeasText=&Area=RU&Requlation=&LangDescr=&MeasType=&SimDate=20131025&StartPub=&
OrderNum=&GoodsText=&L evel=&Expand=true.

Francois J., van Meijl H., van Togerent F., 2005. Trade liberalization in the Doha Development Round.
Economic Policy, 20(42), pp. 349-391. [Online] Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1468-
0327.2005.00141.x [Accessed December 20, 2013].

Frankel J.A., Romer D., 1999. Does Trade Cause Growth? American Economic Review, 89(3), pp. 379-399.

Freeman R. B., 2003. Trade Wars: The Exaggerated Impact of Trade in Economic Debate, pp. 1-35.
[Online] Available at: http://www.nber.org/papers/w10000.pdf?new window=1.

Grossman G. M., Helpman E., 1991. Innovation and Growth in the Global Economy, Cambridge, Mass.:
MIT Press.

Hitiris Th., 1998. European Union Economics 4th ed., Prentice Hall.

Lee J. W., 1995b. Capital Goods Imports and Long-Run Growth. Journal of Development Economics, 48,
pp. 91-110

Lejour A. M., deMooj R. A., Nahuis R., 2001. EU enlargement: economic implications for countries and
industries. , 123 p.

Li Y., Beghin, J.C., 2012. A meta-analysis of estimates of the impact of technical barriers to trade.
Journal of Policy Modeling, 34(3), pp. 497-511. Available at: http:/linkinghub.elsevier.com/
retrieve/pii/S0161893811001232 [Accessed December 20, 2013].

Mazumdar J., 2001. Imported Machinery and Growth in LDCs. Journal of Development Economics, 65,
pp. 209-224.

Molle W., 2006. The Economics of European Integration: Theory, Practice, Policy 5th ed., Ashgate.

Rasa Daugéliené 115



~ New Challenges of Economic
) and Business Development — 2014

May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia

Panagariya A., 2004. Miracles and Debacles: Do Free-trade Skeptics Have a Case? , 73 p. [Online]
Auvailable at: http://www.columbia.edu/~ap2231/Policy Papers/miracles and debacles-panagariya-rev-
March_04.pdf.

Philippidis G., Sanjuan A.L., 2007. An analysis of Mercosur’s regional trading agreements. The World
Economy, 30, pp. 504-531.

Philippidis G., Resano-Ezcaray H., Sanjuan-Lopez A.l., 2013. Capturing zero-trade values in gravity
equations of trade: an analysis of protectionism in agro-food sectors. Agricultural Economics, 44,
pp. 141-159.

Pukeliene V., 2008. Ekonomine integracija: teorija, ES politika ir procesai, Kaunas: VDU.

Rivera-Batiz L., Romer P., 1991. International Integration and Endogenous Growth. Quarterly Journal of
Economics, 106, pp. 531-556.

Rodrik D. (2003). Growth Strategies. [Online] Available at: http://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/
73289/1/wp0317.pdf.

Rodrik D. (2003). Growth Strategies. [Online] Available at: http://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/
73289/ 1/wp0317.pdf.

Sachs J. D., Warner A., 1995. Economic Reform and the Process of Global Integration, 118 p. [Online]
Available at: http://earthinstitute.columbia.edu/sitefiles/file/about/director/pubs/brookings g195.pdf.
Sanjuan A. I., Philippidis G., R.H., Gravity estimation of non tariff measures (NTMs) on EU-USA agri-
food trade: Implications for further analysis, 2009, pp. 1-19. [Online] Available at: http://citarea.cita-

aragon.es/citarea/bitstream/10532/2256/1/2013_087.pdf.

Taylor M. S., 1999. Trade and Trade Policy in Endogenous Growth Models. In J. P. and A. Woodland,
ed. International Trade Policy and the Pacific Rim. London: Macmillan for the 1AE.

Tamini L.D., Gervais J.P., L.B., 2010. Trade liberalization effects on agricutultural goods at different
processing stages. European Review of Agricultural Economics, 37(4), pp. 453-477.

Wacziarg R., Welch K.H., 2008. Trade Liberalization and Growth: New Evidence. World Bank Economic
Review, 22(2), pp. 187-231.

Wazciarg R., 2001. Measuring the Dynamic Gains From Trade. World Bank Economic Review, 15(3), pp.
393-429. [Online] Available at: http://www.anderson.ucla.edu/faculty pages/romain.wacziarg/
downloads/trade.pdf.

Winchester N., 2009. Is there a dirty little secret? Non-tariff barriers and gains from trade. Journal of
Policy Modeling, 31, pp. 819-834.

WTO, International trade and market access data. 2013. [Online] Available at: http://www.wto.
org/english/res_e/statis_e/statis_e.htm.

116 Rasa Daugéliené



New Challenges of Economic
& and Business Development — 2014

May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia

THE ROLE OF INCENTIVES IN ATTRACTING
FDI TO THE REGION OF LODZ

Tomasz Dorozynski, University of Lodz, Poland®;
Janusz Swierkocki, University of Lodz, Poland;
Wojciech Urbaniak, University of Lodz, Poland

Abstract

Incentives for attracting foreign capital in order to modernize production may be used at various levels
of government: central, regional or local. Analyses of the role of incentives and their economic rationale
have been usually carried out for the first two groups, and most often for the central government. Local
government efforts have been rather omitted by researchers.

Yet local authorities, due to their legal and political obligations to their communities, should be
very interested in the positive long-term outcomes of FDI entry. The attitudes and professionalism of
local authorities can be decisive in fostering a good economic/business climate, which has been
identified by foreign entrepreneurs as an important factor in choosing a location for their investments.
So two questions could be asked: (1) whether local governments are sufficiently aware of these
opportunities and of the instruments which could help make them happen; and (2) whether foreign
investors are sensitive to incentives offered by local authorities in selecting the location for an
investment project in a host country.

This paper aims to study the role of the local government in attracting foreign capital to the Province
of Lodz as of the end of 2011. Conclusions are drawn based mainly on the results of a questionnaire
study. The results confirm that investment incentives were of little importance for the inflow of FDI to the
communities and counties of the Province of Lodz.

Key words: FDI, Incentives, Lodz Province
JEL codes: F21, R11

1. Introduction

The role which Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) play in the process of economic modernization is still
a hotly debated issue, especially in transition countries trying to catch-up with the developed world. The
entry of a foreign enterprise with a fixed investment can influence the host economy through various
channels, like the inflow of financial and physical capital, availability of know-how, diffusion of
technology, and access to international production and sales networks. However, with these new
resources FDI can bring both advantages (e.g. technical upgrading) and disadvantages (e.g. crowding out
of local businesses) to a domestic economy. Their net balance for growth and development is not always
positive, because according to numerous theoretical and empirical researches (e.g. Moran, Graham,
Blomstrom eds. 2005; Tytel, Yudaeva, 2006; Herzer, 2012; Temiz, Gokman, 2014), it is dependent on
many specific factors, both from the side of an investor (form of market entry, level of technology
transferred) and from the side of the host country (business climate, openness of the economy, market

! Corresponding author — e-mail address: tdorozynski@uni.lodz.pl, phone number: +48 504 270 777
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size and its growth potential). For these reasons, empirical studies provide no grounds for drawing general
conclusions on the impact of FDI on the economic growth and development of individual regions in the
host country, nor on their influence on the level of income of the local population (e.g. Bajo-Rubio et al.
2010; Mullen, Williams, 2005; Mullen, Williams, 2007; Tondl, Vuksic, 2008).

The above academic misgivings concerning the effects of expansion are surely not shared by
investors, whose aim is exclusively to achieve a satisfactory rate of return abroad, mostly disregarding
increases in the well-being of the host economy. According to the OLI paradigm (Dunning, 1978), the
achievement of the above goal depends on where the production is located. External factors, which
impact the selection of concrete sites in concrete countries or regions, have been widely described in
the economic literature (for an overview, see e.g. Blonigen, 2005), but the researchers have failed to
explain many issues and the matter will probably remain open still for a long time (Blonigen, 2005).
On one hand, in a uniform general equilibrium-based model of location selection only aggregated FDI
flows can be considered, and then the inflow depends on the size of the market, trade costs and
abundance of production factors. These are very general incentives, referred to as fundamental and
long-term (Azémar, Desbordes, 2010), i.e. not very useful for recommendations vis-a-vis current
economic policy. On the other hand, the analysis of detailed factors that together make up the size of
the market, trade costs and abundance of resources makes the researchers use partial equilibrium
models and focus on concrete cases, which allow them to draw conclusions on what attracts investors,
always with the reservation “it depends”.

There is a long list of external factors which impact FDI inflow. Independent variables used by
researchers include: economic and social stability (Asiedu, 2001), foreign exchange rate, taxes,
institutions, barriers to trade, trade with FDI home country (Blonigen, 2005), size of the host market and
the ease of entry into neighbouring markets, cost of labour, employees’ skills, availability and quality of
infrastructure, agglomerations benefits (Cheng, Kwan, 2000), subsidies (James, 2009), a liberalised
labour market (Azémar, Desbordes, 2010), promotion activities (Harding, Javorcik, 2011), and the size of
domestic investment (Lautier, Moreau, 2012). However, despite the plethora of analyses devoted to
individual variables, the only one certain conclusion is that FDI inflow depends on demand as estimated
by an entrepreneur (market size) and the estimated investment risk (stability of the business environment
and conditions), i.e. it is subject to the general investment decision rules formulated already by Keynes
(Lautier, Moreau, 2012).

Despite many reservations raised by numerous researchers with reference to the effects of FDI for the
development of the host country, and the absence of certainty when it comes to the importance of
individual factors which attract FDI, politicians’ attitude to such capital inflows, previously strongly
differentiated, has become mostly positive since the 1990s. This change is particularly evident in
developing countries, where other ways of complementing domestic savings remain limited (e.g. foreign
assistance) or more risky (e.g. foreign portfolio investment), and domestic technical progress cannot keep
pace with global solutions. Based on the expectation that foreign entrepreneurs, by starting their business
activities in the host country, will help alleviate these barriers to growth, in many countries the
regulations on FDI entry have become both more liberal and more selective in the last dozen or so years
(WIR, 2013). Furthermore, most governments actively compete for projects through an array of
incentives, from open grants and tax relief regimes to various promotional activities (Harding, Javorcik,
2011; James 2009, Cass, 2007).

The use of incentives to attract foreign investors carries with it various costs, and is theoretically
justified if the positive external effects of the investment in question exceed such costs (Corden, 1997),
but usually it is not an effective policy of for improving the overall welfare of the host country
(Blomstréom, Kokko, 2003). Due to the complexities around the estimation of externalities, empirical
studies on FDI incentives focus on their importance as a decisive factor in investment location. The
results of such studies provide different answers, depending on the concrete circumstances in which
incentives are applied. Let’s take promotion (providing information on conditions for running a business
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and support in dealing with administrative formalities) as an example. It is pursued in 124 countries by
specialized government agencies and has no effect in developed countries, but clearly helps FDI inflow to
developing countries because it compensates for the weaknesses of the state, red tape, corruption and
information asymmetry (Harding, Javorcik, 2011). Tax incentives and labour cost subsidies are also more
effective in developing countries, but labour market liberalization (easier dismissal procedures) (Azémar,
Deshordes, 2010) and better quality of business regulations (Busse, Groizard, 2008) are more attractive
solutions to investors. Earlier studies show that tax incentives are of secondary importance, as they are
considered only when fundamental factors (political and economic stability, infrastructure, cost of
transport) are similar in potential locations (Morisset, Pirnia, 2000). As we can easily notice, the above
examples indicate that politicians should take divergent actions addressed to foreign investors.

Incentives for attracting foreign capital in order to modernize production may be used at various levels
of government: central, regional or local. Analyses of the role of incentives and their economic rationale
have been usually carried out for the first two groups, and most often for the central government, which is
the main actor competing for FDI in the global economy. Local government efforts have been rather
omitted by researchers — at least to our knowledge?. This lack of interest could well be explained by the
difficulties with accessing reliable data on FDI inflows to local economies, and by the poor portfolio of
instruments available to local authorities management.

However, at this level of governance a separate analysis would be necessary, as an extension of the
conclusions formulated for central and regional levels to local levels seems unjustified. Firstly, local
governments, due to their legal and political obligations to their communities, should be very interested in
the positive long-term outcomes of FDI entry: new production facilities, more employment opportunities,
better paid jobs, connection of local suppliers to more advanced enterprises, and additional tax revenues.
Economic successes which improve the standard of living of the population are strong arguments for
winning votes in an election campaign. At the same time, the arrival of a foreign investor may easily
destabilize the local economy by, e.g., increasing demand for specific categories of workers and
skyrocketing their wages (Mullen, Wiliams, 2007). Secondly, in contrast to the central or even regional
levels, foreign investors are not anonymous to local authorities, who often engage in direct contact with
them. Thus, effective dealing with the investment at administrative level, cross cultural sensibility, and
readiness to help the investor, especially in recruiting adequate employees, are much more important.
Also the ability to moderate potential conflicts between an investor and the local community is important
(Calvano, 2008).

In sum, the attitudes and professionalism of local authorities are decisive for economic climate,
which is an important factor for foreign entrepreneurs in choosing the right place for their
investments. So two questions could be asked: (1) whether local governments are aware of these
opportunities and of the instruments which could help make them happen; and (2) whether foreign
investors are sensitive to the incentives offered by local authorities in selecting the location for an
investment project in a host country.

This paper aims to study the role of the local government (representatives of communes (districts) and
counties) in attracting foreign capital to the Province (Voivodeship) of Lodz as of the end of 2011. The
Lodz Province is not an economic leader among Polish provinces,® and in order to stimulate growth of
production and employment it undoubtedly needs the crucial assets provided by foreign enterprises: more

The study by Blonigen, O’Fallon (2011) is an exception. It is focused on management issues rather than
economics, as the authors compared relationships between local authorities and communities in the US and foreign
companies against the relations with domestic businesses. The assessment concerned the propensity of both groups
to get involved in charity and to help local charity organizations. In this case differences were obvious.

% In 2011 GDP per capita in PPS for the Voivodeship of Lodz was 60% of the EU-28 average. This was below the
average for Poland (65%), and the Lodz Voivodeship ranked 6th among 16 Polish voivodeships (Eurostat 2014).

Tomasz Dorozynski, Janusz Swierkocki, Wojciech Urbaniak 119



New Challenges of Economic
& and Business Development — 2014

May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia

capital, better technology, superior management skills. Therefore making concrete efforts to attract FDI
would be a reasonable policy.

Poland can be considered as a transition country which has extensively used various incentives to
attract FDI (Cass, 2007). Despite the above, the importance of incentives for the inflow of FDI to Poland
and its regions has seldom been analyzed, and the activities of the local governments in this respect,
whose competences were expanded after the administrative reforms in 1999, have not been of great
interest to researchers. Summing up the outcomes of these macro- and microeconomic studies it seems
justified to conclude that the role of incentives in stimulating FDI inflow to Poland and in shaping their
structure (sectoral, technological, territorial) and economic effects remains little known, although it most
probably has been marginal (Swierkocki, 2011). On one hand, this may mean the applied incentives were
too weak and they should be strengthened or modified. On the other hand, however, in the light of
empirical studies in other countries, the Polish experiences confirm the general pattern, whereby for
weaker economies major importance is attached to fundamental factors (Morisset, Pirnia, 2000), and it
seems justified to say that quite many foreign companies would invest in Poland (in a particular region)
regardless of the incentives given by the authorities.

In our paper we try to broaden the scope of the current research on FDI in Poland, concentrating on
local economies (communes and counties), and we point out the implications for the practices and
policies of local authorities. Our conclusions are drawn based on the results of a questionnaire study.

2. Study description and method

The assessment of local government activities with respect to attracting FDI was a part of a broader
study on the role played by FDI in the economy of a region.* The study was conducted in 2011 and
included 275 participants. It was a direct questionnaire-based study, with two types of questionnaires (one
for enterprises and one for LGUs). Each questionnaire included demographics and was composed of
several dozen closed and open questions. Some of them included rating scales.

Random and quota sampling was applied. In selecting the local government units, quotas were based
on the type of unit (type of commune, type of county). For companies, we used the REGON database®
and the results of our own statistical analyses.

Based on a questionnaire survey, we evaluated the expectations of entrepreneurs in relation to the
incentives provided by local government. For this purpose, LGUs were divided into different categories
depending on the type and scope of the incentives used. The survey results were digitalized. Various
statistical tools were used for processing the questionnaire data, such as: cross analysis, mean assessment,
coefficients of variation, variance analysis, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and Cronbach’s alpha reliability
coefficient for the scale.

In order to identify the accuracy of the study, statistical surveys and tests were conducted. A large
number of statistical hypotheses concerning the distribution of characteristics were verified. These
hypotheses were related to the occurrence of a central tendency, dispersion, and coexistence. The
correlation between FDI location and the incentives used by local government for attracting FDI to the
Lodz region was tested and evaluated. In order to verify the correlation hypotheses, the eta coefficient and
regression testing were used.

* In the paper we used partial results of a direct study conducted for the Project Role of foreign direct investment in shaping
current and future economic profile of the voivodeship of Lodz, delivered in the period 2009-2011 by the research team of
the University of Lodz. The Project was co-financed from EU resources of the European Social Fund.

5 National register of businesses kept by the Main Statistical Office.
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3. Study results

3.1. Incentives offered by LGUs to attract FDI

The majority of LGUs declared, firstly, that they sought investors; and secondly that they did so
regardless of whether they were domestic investors or came from abroad. There were few activities
addressed only to foreign investors. These activities were conducted by just 7% of communes and
counties, including only one rural commune (which had just printed information materials in English)
(Figure 1). The main reasons for this included: lack of knowledge of the specificity of promotion
activities; unfamiliarity with the needs of foreign investors; and low assessment of the possibility to
attract FDI to some communes because of the lack of investment opportunities. The chances of bringing
in foreign investors were especially estimated low by rural communes with poorly developed hard and
soft infrastructure.

6.90%

14,94% ® Yes

mbutonly as a part of activities
addressed to all investors,
domestic and foreign

No

Source: own study.

Fig. 1. Does your commune/county act to attract foreign investors?

Analysts and politicians commonly believe (James, 2009) that financial support is one of the most
effective policy instruments used for attracting external capital. However, as many as three quarters of
communes did not have a ready-made offer of such support, neither for foreign nor for domestic
investors. Some of them stressed they did not offer such support due to the lack of interest in it on the part
of investors. Respondents with ready-made financial offers for foreign investors represented 70% of
urban communes and just 13% of counties. Their share in the metropolitan area of Lodz was close to the
average of 25%.

But the responses suggested that the absence of a ready-made offer did not mean that potential
investors should not expect, under certain circumstances, to receive financial incentives, nor that such a
support was not made available in the past. It was often stressed that the scope of assistance was
considered only when an investor appeared. Attention was drawn to individual nature of negotiations in
this matter. Unfortunately, this discretionary method is not very transparent and may induce corruption.
Only very few LGUs attempted to approach the issue in a systematic way, by passing appropriate
resolutions concerning the possibilities of granting financial aid to investors (domestic or foreign)
depending on the value of the undertaking and the size of planned employment.
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Representatives of LGUs which financially supported foreign investors agreed that when making their
decisions they did not distinguish between capital based on its origin (foreign or domestic), and that they
followed the same rules. They declared that discrimination against one of the groups would be
unacceptable as incompatible with State aid rules and it would involve the risk of ineffective allocation of
resources. This confirms a good command of the legal and economic regulations of the group of local
government officials surveyed.

Tax relief and allowances in property and local charges were the most popular forms of financial
support granted to investors by all the LGUs. This most probably resulted from the fact that such
incentives are decided by communes and could become effective relatively quickly.

Potential investors could also receive non-financial support of a promotional type. Firstly, LGUs were
generally ready to provide information concerning the terms on which one could operate in their
respective territories. Relatively speaking, such assistance is the simplest, the cheapest and the least
absorbing for local authorities. Information on how to start and pursue economic operations (e.g.
availability of land, infrastructure, workers, suppliers) does not require the officials to be familiar with
FDI mechanisms. And learning, free of charge, about the concrete realities of a given location is
important to investors, as it accelerates their decision-making and reduces their transaction costs
(Figure 2).

120,00%
100,00%
80.,00%
60,00%
40,00%
20,00%
0,00%

100,00%

Allowances in taxes and Tax allowances/subsidies for Tax allowances/subsidies for
local charges employingunemployed training workers
people

*  This question was asked only to those respondents who claimed their LGUs offered financial support to foreign
investors.

Source: own studies.

Fig. 2. Forms of financial support offered by LGUs* to foreign investors

Secondly, most LGUs (60%) offered assistance in dealing with various formalities connected with the
starting of business in a given area (e.g. in acquiring land). Sometimes LGUs were even willing to offer
legal and financial consultancy. Such cases, however, were very rare probably due to the low
competences of people employed there and restrictions in the number of full-time jobs in these units, or
perhaps because they find this type of engagement awkward and operating on the edge of corruption.
Usually respondents highlighted that their units only provided legal and financial information connected
with business and investment activities, but did not offer legal and financial consultancy as such.

Thirdly, most of the LGUs (64%) could offer developed land ready to start an investment, and this
land was of course also available to foreign investors.
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In practice, especially in rural communes, all the above forms were usually declarative or were used
only by domestic investors, as in most cases there was no foreign operator interested in investing its
capital (Diagram 3).

3.000 2.667
2,500 21
o 1,896
2,000
A7
1.500 1,342
1,000
0,500
0,000 . . .
Provision of Legal consultancy Financial Individual Ottfering land with
mformation consultancy registration of’ mfrastructure
companies

* The mean answer was calculated using the following scale: non-financial assistance offered to a large extent — (3),
to a small extent — (2), not offered — (1)

Source: own study.

Fig. 3. Non-financial assistance offered by LGUs to foreign investors, mean answers*

3.2. Companies’ opinions about LGUs activities aimed at attracting FDI

In order to assess the activities of LGUs aimed at attracting FDI, companies with foreign capital were
asked to specify the importance of proposed investment incentives against other factors that could make
them select the Province of Lodz as a location for their investment. In fact CFCs were asked to specify
the degree to which the factors outlined in the questionnaire encouraged or discouraged them from
selecting the Lodz region. In their answers respondents evaluated 27 suggested reasons on a seven—degree
scale. In analysing their responses we used both distributions and statistical indicators: mean answers,
variance, standard deviation, average relative error, median and mode. The calculated Cronbach’s alpha
index of reliability was 0.884, which indicates a very high reliability of the received answers (Ferguson,
Takane, 2004).

As expected, the Province of Lodz was selected by foreign investors mostly because of its attractive
resources, in particular low labour costs, good availability of workers with relatively high qualifications,
convenient location of the region at the cross-roads of main transportation routes of Poland, and Lodz’s
relatively rich offer of land with infrastructure. The promotion and investment support activities of the
LGUs were much less important. Their impact upon location decision was assessed by respondents in
their reactions to seven listed factors (Table 1).

According to half of companies with foreign capital, the attitude of local authorities (at various levels)
was of little importance when they selected the Province of Lodz. This suggests that the promotion and
support tools applied by the LGUs were indifferent to foreign investors in considering potential locations.
Half of CFCs decided the possibility to get support from the authorities was of no importance to their
choice to invest in the Province of Lodz instead of another region of Poland. This means the offered
support was relatively unimportant compared to the comparative advantage of the region resulting from
the availability of production factors. The distribution of opinions and mean answers in this area were
very close at the commune, county and province levels. There were no major differences in the
distribution of answers of companies representing various sectors and intensity of export operations.
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Table 1
Administrative activities as factors encouraging or discouraging the location of FDI
in the Province of Lodz*
Ranking
position Mean Standard Average
Factor Variance A relative | Median | Mode
by answer deviation
means®* error
12 Attitude of commune 4.627 1.844 1.358 0.293 5 4
authorities to foreign
investors
15 Attitude of county 4.489 1.563 1.250 0.278 4 4
authorities to foreign
investors
17 Attitude of provincial 4.435 1.416 1.190 0.268 4 4
authorities to foreign
investors
18 Access to data and 4.435 1.132 1.064 0.240 4 4
information about the
province
19 Support offered to foreign 4.321 1.760 1.327 0.307 4 4
investors by a commune, a
county, or province
23 Quick action and flexibility | 3.871 2.621 1.619 0.418 4 4
of administration at
different levels in the
Province of Lodz
24 Stability of regulations 3.863 1.558 1.248 0.323 4 4
issued by authorities at
different levels in the
Province of Lodz

* Statistical indicators were calculated using the following scale: factor discouraging from location: to a large
extent (1), to medium extent (2), to a small extent (3); neither encouraging nor discouraging (4); encouraging to a
small extent (5), encouraging to a medium extent (6), encouraging to a large extent (7).

** This ranking covered 27 factors

Source: own study.

The investors clearly criticized the rate at which decisions are issued by local authorities at different
levels in the Province, their flexibility vis-a-vis declared needs, and the stability of legal regulations. The
means (below 4) indicate the prevalence of negative answers. They prevailed among CFCs representing
all industries and sectors of the economy, which is definitely a sign of bad promotion of the region among
foreign investors.

It may be interesting that a certain regularity in the answers was observed — the bigger were the CFCs,
the higher they evaluated available incentives, both financial and promotional ones. We could suppose
then that the LGUs were more favourably disposed towards those foreign investors which had more to
offer to the local economy, first of all in the form of additional jobs. However there were no significant
differences in the opinions between CFCs oriented towards export and those oriented towards the
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domestic market. Some authors have indicated that the former, as more mobile and selling in a more
competitive environment, regard incentives more highly, especially financial ones (James, 2009).

In order to define the distribution of answers to the scaled question, we can use typical ranges of
variation. For a seven-degree scale an appropriate range is 2.5-4.0. Its upper edge corresponds to a
distribution of answers equally distributed across all the points of scale. The bottom edge of the range is
interpreted as a situation in which the values of answers are rather concentrated around a given point on
the scale, like in the normal distribution (Churchill, 2002). In the study of activities by the administration
all the variances were below the lower extreme, meaning the answers were very uniform.

3.3. Efficiency of FDI support in the assessment of LGUs

The opinions of the CFCs concerning the quality of support for FDI in the region of Lodz should be
supplemented by the perspective of the LGUs which offer such support. To this end representatives of
communes and counties assessed, on a seven-degree scale, six factors connected with selected aspects of the
work of local administration on behalf of investors (Table 2). Similarly to the study among CFCs, the
distributions of answers and statistical measures were used in the analysis of them. The calculated Cronbach’s
alpha index of reliability was 0.62, meaning that the factors included on the scale are correlated in an
acceptable way.

Table 2
Incentives to locate foreign investments in regions — self-assessment of LGUs *
Average
No. Factor Mean | Variance Stal.]dz.lrd relati\ge Median | Mode
deviation
error

1 Availability of land for 5.988 | 2.812 1.677 0.278 7 7

investment in LGUs:

o with CFCs in their area 6.105 | 2.881 1.697 0.278 7 7

e without CFCs in their area | 5.590 | 3.206 1.791 0.320 6 7
2 Auvailability of information about | 6.082 | 0.993 0.997 0.164 6 6

a commune/county in LGUs:

o with CFCs in their area 6.193 | 0.480 0.693 0.112 6 6

e without CFCs in theirarea | 5.571 | 1.188 1.090 0.196 6 6
3 Possibility to receive support 6.448 | 0.512 0.715 0.110 7 7

from commune/county autho-
rities in obtaining information

4 Possibility to receive support 5.942 | 1.467 1.211 0.204 6 6
from commune/county
authorities in dealing with legal
and financial formalities

5 Tax relief and allowances in 5,518 | 2.350 1.533 0.278 6 6
local charges
6 Possibility to receive support 5.459 | 1.442 1.201 0.220 6 6

from commune/county autho-
rities in applying for EU funds

*  Statistical indicators were calculated based on the following scale: factor discouraging location to a large extent
(1), to a medium extent (2), to a small extent (3); neither encouraging nor discouraging (4); encouraging to a
small extent (5), encouraging to a medium extent (6), encouraging to a large extent (7).

Source: own study.
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The self-assessment by LGUs was very positive. A large majority of them highly assessed the
engagement of their units in attracting foreign investors. The high medians, modes and mean answers, all
above 5.5 (on a scale from 1 to 7), indicate a significant prevalence of answers at the two highest levels of
the scale, meaning that a factor in question encourages companies to locate a foreign investment to a
medium or large extent. Contrary opinions, stating that a particular factor discourages companies from
locating FDI in a respondent’s commune or county, were few and accounted for less than 6% of answers.
Variances were below the lower extreme, which shows that the answers were strongly concentrated
around the means, i.e. they were very uniform. Under such circumstances a relatively low saturation of a
region with FDI would result from structural reasons (e.g. relatively low level of development),
independent of the current policy of the LGU.

Provision of information about the conditions for economic operations in the LGU was identified as a
strength, encouraging investments to be located in their area. This is confirmed by the highest mean and
low variance, which means the respondents’ opinions were the most uniform.

Local government units with no CFCs in their area clearly offered worse access to information, and
did not have land available for potential investors. That could be caused by their pessimistic evaluation of
the possibilities to attract foreign capital. In all other instances they assessed their support for investors
similarly as the LGUs which have CFCs in their area.

3.4. Incentives and attracting FDI in the Province of Lodz

We analysed the relationship between incentives used by local authorities and the attraction of FDI in
the Province of Lodz from the statistical point of view. With reference to the main objective of the paper,
we formulated a thesis on positive impact of incentives offered by local authorities on attracting FDI to
regions. The study was conducted for the counties in the Province. We used the eta ratio, the measure of
correlation, which examines the relationship between interval/ratio variables (treated as dependent) and
nominal/ ordinal (independent) variables (Roszkiewicz, 2002).

_ 25:1(321‘ —X)?-n )
K Z?il(xij —X)?
where:
n - etaratio,
Xj — value of a dependent statistical characteristics for unit j in group i, distinguished based on

independent statistical characteristics,
X; — mean value of dependent characteristics of a unit in group i, distinguished based on independent
characteristics,

ni — number of units in group i, distinguished based on independent characteristics,
X — mean value of dependent characteristics,
k — number of categories of the dependent characteristics.

In this part of the study the main problem consisted in construing an independent variable that would
describe the activities of communes and counties in attracting FDI. Such data are not collected or
published by statistical offices, in particular at local or regional levels. This is why we used partial results
of questionnaire-based studies. Independent variables which describe the engagement in attracting FDI
were based on financial and non-financial incentives used by county authorities and selected communes
in a given county. Data from all 24 counties in the province was supplemented with the opinions of the
representatives of communes, due to statutory premises and business practice. Communes enjoy much
more extensive competences and definitely use financial and non-financial investment incentives,
including state aid schemes, much more often than counties.
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With respect to the category of financial incentives, we focused mostly on information about tax
allowances and subsidies for hiring unemployed people, tax allowances and reduced local charges, and
tax allowances and subsidies for training workers. Among non-financial incentives we assessed the
involvement of the LGU in the provision of information, legal advice, financial advice, and individual
services to investors when they start their businesses or are offered developed investment land. Hence our
independent variables were:

1) financial and non-financial incentives offered by communes and county authorities (based on the

answers of county authorities),(X,);

2) financial incentives offered by communes (based on aggregated answers of representatives of

communes in individual counties), (Xy).

Both independent variables were of a dichotomist nature and were accompanied by two categories
each that were provided on the basis of yes or no answers. Dependent variables included:

1) the number of CFCs present in counties as of the end of 2011 (y,);

2) cumulated value of FDI as of the end of 2011 in the counties of the Province of Lodz (y,).

Calculations were made assuming that there are two possibilities for each of the two dependent variables,
which take account of both independent variables. Calculations were made in two versions: for all the counties;
and leaving aside the county of the City of Lodz, which hosts over half of all FDI in the province and strongly
differs from the rest. Altogether, there were eight eta ratios. Then we validated the hypothesis on the statistical
significance of eta ratios using the F-ratio of the following formula (Részkiewicz, 2002):

S -0 n—k

i = (2)
o1 Z;lzl(xij -%)? k-1
where:
F — ratio used to analyse the significance of eta ratio,
n — number of categories of dependent characteristics,
for other symbols see (1).
Table 3

Eta ratios and statistical significance test calculations in option I (all counties)

Dependent variables
Y1 | Y2
Independent variables: Eta ratios
Xy 0.0434 0.0701
X5 0.1630 0.1984
Eta ratios calculated in statistical significance test
Number of tested categories 2 2
of independent variables
Number of tested categories 24 24
of dependent variables
F — theoretical 4.30
F — calculated 0.0415 0.1092
0.601 0.920

Calculations in the tests of statistical significance were conducted at the level of statistical significance o. = 0.05

Source: own calculations.
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Table 4

Eta ratios and statistical significance test calculations in option Il (excluding City of Lodz County)

Dependent variables
Y1 ‘ Y2
Independent variables Eta ratios
Xy 0.383 0.1152
Xo 0.023 0.1440
Eta ratios calculated in statistical significance test

Number of tested categories of 2 2
independent variables
Number of tested categories of 23 23
dependent variables
F — theoretical 431
F — calculated 3.615 0.281

0.011 0.457

Calculations in the tests of statistical significance were conducted at the level of statistical significance a = 0.05

Source: own calculations.

Calculated eta ratios remain low in both options. This prevented us from dismissing the zero
hypothesis on the statistical insignificance of the relationship in all analysed cases. The results obtained
are not clear-cut. They definitely indicate the absence of statistical links between variables.

Summing up, we can say that the relationship analysis we conducted has made us dismiss the thesis
of the positive effect of incentives offered by local government units to attract foreign investors into
the region.

We also conducted a study using the regression function. Already initial results suggested the lack of a
relationship between the variables that describe FDI inflow to counties and incentives. The role of various
factors decisive for attracting foreign capital to a region may become the subject of further in-depth
analyses, conducted based on quantitative methods.

4. Conclusions

Empirical studies conducted in Poland show that investment incentives were of little importance for
the inflow of FDI to the country and its regions. This is also true of the counties and communes of the
Province of Lodz. Representatives of local governments in the Lodz region were aware that competing
for foreign investors was necessary to accelerate the development of the local economy, but very few of
them engaged more actively in attracting foreign capital as opposed to domestic capital. Only 7% of local
governments prepared special offers for foreign investors. Financial incentives at their disposal were
relatively modest and usually “tailor made” to assist a concrete candidate. Most of the LGUs did not have
any specific strategy with respect to, e.g., preferred type of investment project or making the investment
dependent upon the compliance of the proposed project with specified conditions. Incentives were
complemented with promotional activities, mostly involving the provision of information, consultancy
and assisting investors in dealing with formalities. Incentives and promotion were not accompanied by
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any more general reflection on the cost-benefit analysis of the outcomes of FDI compared with the cost of
attracting it.

However, to half of foreign investors included in the study, mostly SMEs, the modest financial
incentives offered by LGUs and available information were completely irrelevant to their selection of the
region for location of their investments. As far as promotion efforts were concerned, investors assessed
the quality of cooperation with the local government as average, and evaluated the actions of communes,
counties and the province similarly, even though the province has the largest contacts with other
countries, the greatest resources and the best possibility to offer various types of assistance. Much
attention was given to financial incentives as an important factor for remaining in a region (reinvestment).
In this respect the CFCs also felt that the professional level of local administration was far from that
desired, and it often hampered economic operations, which turned into counterproductive bad promotion
rather than assistance. They also criticized the stability and enforcement of legal provisions, which,
however, largely depend on the central government.

The impressions of foreign investors diverged from the generally high opinions of LGUs about their
own engagement in attracting foreign capital. Probably by making local administration aware of this fact
and by improving its operations we could mobilize significant reserves at a relatively low cost to attract
and keep foreign investors. For the time being officials have too much discretion and too much depends
on their personal commitment and their interpretation, especially on how they see the role of foreign
capital in the development of the local economy.

Bibliography

Asiedu, E., 2001. On the Determinants of FDI to Developing Countries: Is Africa Different, World
Development, 30(1).

Azemar, C., Deshordes, R., 2010. Short-run Strategies for Attracting Foreign Direct Investment. World
Economy, 33 (7). pp. 928-957.

Bajo-Rubio O., Diaz-Mora C. and Diaz-Roldan C., 2010. Foreign Direct Investment and Regional
Growth: An Analysis of the Spanish Case, Regional Studies, Vol. 44.3, pp. 373-382, April.

Blomstrom M., Kokko A., 2003. The Economics of Foreign Direct Investment, Working Paper 168,
Bundesbank Conference, January.

Blonigen B., 2005. A Review of the Empirical Literature on FDI Determinants, Atlantic Economic
Journal, 33, pp. 383-403.

Blonigen B., O’Fallon C., 2011. Foreign Firms and Local Communities, 2011 CESifo Venice Summer
Workshop on Globalisation, Trade, FDI, and the Multinational Firm.

Busse M., Groizard J. L., 2008. Foreign Direct Investment, Regulations and Growth, The Word
Economy, pp. 861-890.

Calvano L., 2008. Multinational Corporations and Local Communities: A Critical Analysis of Conflict,
Journal of Business Ethics (2008) 82, pp. 793-805.

Cass F., 2007. Attracting FDI to Transition Countries: The Use of Incentives and Promotion Agencies,
Transnational Corporations, Vol. 16, No. 2 (August) pp. 77-122.

Cheng L. K., Kwan Y. K., 2000. What Are the Determinants of the Location of Foreign Direct
Investment? The Chinese Experience, Journal of International Economics 51, pp. 379-400.

Corden W. M., 1997. Trade Policy and Welfare, Clarendon Press, Oxford.

Churchill G.A., 2002. Badania marketingowe, podstawy metodologiczne, Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN,
Warsaw.

Dunning J. H., 1978. Explaining Changing Patterns of International Production: In Defense of Eclectic
Theory, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics vol. 41.

Eurostat, 2014. Newsrelease: Regional GDP, STAT/14/29 27 February 2014,

Tomasz Dorozynski, Janusz Swierkocki, Wojciech Urbaniak 129



New Challenges of Economic
& and Business Development — 2014

May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia

Ferguson G.A., Takane Y., 2004. Analiza statystyczna w psychologii i pedagogice, Wydawnictwo
Naukowe PWN, Warsaw.

Harding, T., Javorcik B. S., 2011. Roll Out the Red Carpet and They Will Come: Investment Promation
and FDI Inflows, The Economic Journal 121 (December), pp. 1445-1476.

Herzer D., 2012. How Does Foreign Direct Investment Really Affect Developing Countries’ Growth?
Review of International Economics 20(2), pp. 396-414, 201.

James, S., 2009. Incentives and Investments: Evidence and Policy Implications. ICAS of the World Bank
Group.

Lautier M., Moreau F., 2012. Domestic Investment and FDI in Developing Countries: The Missing Link,
Journal of Economic Development, Vol. 37, No. 3, September.

Moran, T. H., Graham E. M., Blomstrom M. (eds), 2005. Does Foreign Direct Investment Promote
Development?, Washington, DC: Institute for International Economics.

Morisset J., Pirnia N., 2000. How Tax Policy and Tax Incentives Affect Foreign Direct Investment: A
Review, Policy Research Working Paper 2509, Washington, D.C.: World Bank and International
Finance Corporation, Foreign Investment Advisory Service.

Mullen J. K., Williams M., 2005. Foreign Direct Investment and Regional Economic Performance
KYKLOS, Vol. 58, No. 2, pp. 265-282.

Mullen J. K., Williams M., 2007, Foreign Direct Investment and Regional Productivity Spillovers in US
Manufacturing, RURDS Vol. 19, No. 3, November.

Roszkiewicz M., 2002, Metody ilosciowe w badaniach marketingowych, Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN,
Warsaw, pp. 141-143; p. 148.

Swierkocki J., 2011, Znaczenie zachet dla naplywu bezposrednich inwestycji zagranicznych do Polski,
Przeglad Organizacji, No. 6, pp. 28-32.

Temiz, D., Gékman, A., 2014. FDI Inflow as an International Business Operation by MNCs and
Economic Growth: An Empirical Study on Turkey, International Business Review 23 (January),
pp. 145-154.

Tondl L. G., Vuksic G., 2008. What Helps Regions in Eastern Europe Catch Up? The Role of Foreign
Investment, Human Capital and Geography, [in]: Regional Economic Policy in Europe, ed. By U.
Stierle-von Schulz, M.H. Stierle, F.B. Jennings, Jr. and A.T.H. Kuah, Edward Elgar, Cheltenham.

Tytel 1., Yudaeva K.., 2006. The Role of FDI in Eastern Europe and New Independent States: New
Channels for the Spillover Effect, Centro Studi Luca d’Agliano Development Studies Working Papers,
No. 217, July.

WIR, 2013. Global Value Chains: Investment and Trade For Development. United Nations, New York
and Geneva.

130 Tomasz Dorozyiski, Janusz Swierkocki, Wojciech Urbaniak



New Challenges of Economic
@ and Business Development — 2014

May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia

THE IMPACT OF EU POLICY ON SOCIAL
DEVELOPMENT OF LATVIA

Elena Dubra, University of Latvia, Latvia®;
Kristaps Soms, University of Latvia, Latvia

Abstract

The purpose of this research is to introduce evaluation of European Cohesion Policy in Latvia,
especially on eventual social development in the context of the new strategy “Europe 2020”. The strategic
goals of EU cohesion policy are discussed as well as the development challenges for improvement of the
socio-economic well-being of states and regions in the European Union and also to avoid disparities. The
objective of this study is to assess Latvian social level and its development, in order to reach goals of
“Europe 2020 strategy by applying latest developments of convergence economic theory to the situation
in Latvia. The main emphasis of this research lies in the complex approach to the EU cohesion policy
analysis and its implementation in Latvia.

The research methodology is based on the EU cohesion and convergence economic theories analysis
and on external and induced variables estimations: situations of the economic and welfare level. This
research investigates major variable factors and presents information about various different
socio-economic indicators and indexes. A major focus in this study is devoted to social cohesion analysis
in Latvia. This study contains and discusses changes of key concepts related to the cohesion policy of the
European Union and compares objectives and general outlines of the cohesion period 2014-2020 in the
framework of Europe as a whole, as well as its impact on Latvian economics and living conditions.

The main results and conclusions reflect the overall social-economic situation in the EU and Latvia
and present current and future European Cohesion policy’s impact on social development of Latvia. The
discussion consist socio-economic situations analysis in the EU and Latvia, national economy
development estimations and trends in the context of the future’s strategies of Latvia and “Europe 2020”
strategy goals.

Key words: EU strategies, cohesion policy, socio-economic development
JEL codes: E24, F15, F42, 138, 019, O52

Introduction

The socio-economic policy improvement in general connected with the “Europe 2020 strategy targets
for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth. Trends of the recent years (2014-2020) of Latvian economy
are taken as the important priorities developing of social legislation, situation in the income’s growth,
pension’s policy improving, education system and labour market development.

The flagship initiatives of the “Europe 2020 strategy, including the Platform against Poverty and
Social Exclusion and the Agenda for New Skills and Jobs, support efforts to reach these targets.

Through its Social Investment Package, the Commission provides guidance to Member States to
modernise their welfare systems towards social investment throughout life.

! Corresponding author — e-mail address: elena.dubra@Ilu.lv, phone number: +371 67034762
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The package complements the Employment Package, which sets out the way forward for a job rich
recovery, the White Paper on Pensions, presenting a strategy for adequate, sustainable and safe pensions,
the Youth Employment Package, which deals specifically with the situation of young people.

As social policies are an integral part of the Europe 2020 Strategy, the Commission also supports EU
countries’ efforts to address their social challenges through the actions foreseen in the Platform against
Poverty and Social Exclusion and Social Investment Package as well as the EU funds, in particular the
European Social Fund.

Now EU countries are far from reaching the 2020 target and the worsening social situation caused by
the economic crisis is undermining the sustainability of social protection systems. European statistics
show that in 2012 24% of all the EU population are at risk of poverty or social exclusion and this includes
28.1% of all children in Europe, 19.3% of those is over 65 age old and 25.4% of adults (Eurostat, 2014,
Income and living conditions database).

This research presented information about main convergence socio-economic indicators as well as
GNP growth, welfare, inflation and unemployment levels and its possible improvement for 2014-2020. In
order to achieve socio-economic growth and social convergence goals Latvian government must identify
main social priorities and deliver the best results in social efficiency. The social development
investigations needs to be pragmatic approach into financing in order to create employment and reduce
poverty level and social disparity in the national economy. The Latvian social policy improvement is
general connected with productivity growth. The European budget spending will have to be more
effective on 2014-2020 for Latvia’s economic and social convergence promotion to the EU-28 average
level. The main tasks of Latvian economy for the recent years are taken as the important priorities
developing of social legislation, situation in the income’s growth, pension’s policy improving, education
system and labour market development.

Aim of this research is to assess Latvian social level and its development in order to reach goals of
“Europe 2020 strategy.

1. Types of Convergence

European convergence policy is a place-based policy which gives a role to each European state in the
sense that it is not an obstacle to the optimal allocation of economic activity but can become a source of
growth on its own. Recent economic theory confirms this approach in numerous case studies which show
that convergence policy can make a difference. In fact, the EU has achieved impressive economic and
social convergence since 1988.Convergence policy must be connected with a judgement of the likely
future evolution of the national economy. In particular, as experience has shown, the sustainability and
robustness of the convergence process after euro adoption is to a significant extent endogenous and it
depends on a member state’s domestic policy orientations after it has joined the euro area. Convergence
processes for the EU states must be based on the strong economic growth of GDP per capita.

When discussing the concept of convergence, it is important to understand difference between real
and nominal convergence. The process of real economic convergence suggests catching up in standards of
living in EU New Member States with those of the old EU member states. This process is usually
accompanied by nominal convergence and is usually related to the Balassa-Samuelson effect. Economic
literature suggests that the term convergence in its economic essence describes gradual elimination of
disparities in the income level. Economic growth theory provides two types of the convergence:
o-convergence (sigma) and B-convergence (beta) (Barro, Sala-i-Martin, 2004). The first kind serves as
an indicator to measure weather the distribution of income across regions or countries has become less
uneven over time. In contrast, B-convergence, attempts to describe the mobility of income within the
same distribution and predominantly serves to find out whether the convergence occurred because poorer
regions and/or countries have grown faster than the rest.
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The results from convergence analysis are usually used to test the validity of the two economic growth
models — neoclassical and endogenous. The former one predicts 3-convergence regardless full, partial or
absence of the capital mobility (Marzinotto B., 2012).

2. Development of social situation in Latvia

The economics of Latvia continued its growing at a rapid pace in 2012 and the gross domestic product
increased by 5.2% (Central Statistics Bureau, 2013) compared to the previous year. It was the fastest
growth among the European Union member states. Despite the unfavourable environment in external
markets, growth remained rapid throughout 2012 and 2013. Fast evaluation from statistic office shows
GDP increase by 4.2% compared 9 months of 2013 to 2012 and GDP increase by 3.5% compared 0.4 of
2013 to 2012 (Eurostat, 2013)

The strong economic growth in 2012 and 2013 was based on both external and domestic demand.
Trade, manufacturing, construction and transport sectors contributed the most to the growth. The volume
of public services sectors remained at the level of the previous year. It was influenced by the implemented
fiscal consolidation measures.

“The Latvian labour market demonstrated a high degree of flexibility during the crisis. Job seekers also
showed high mobility within the EU as emigration increased substantially in the process of structural
adjustment. More recently, as of 2012, the economic recovery and the steady pace of job creation not only
reduced emigration but raised significantly the number of immigrants in Latvia. Underpinned by a
decentralised wage-setting system, a considerable wage in Latvia over 2009 and 2010 and wages moved
adjustment took place broadly in line with productivity afterwards. In 2013-2014, wages are projected by the
Commission services’ 2013 Spring Forecast to remain consistent with productivity. Vacancy rates remain
among the lowest in the EU indicating that at aggregated level labour supply is adequate. Nevertheless,
regional differences and skills mismatches on specific labour market segments keep structural
unemployment relatively high. However, the latest statistics show that youth unemployment, though still
high, has moved slightly below the EU average while long-term unemployment remains a major challenge.
All these structural deficiencies on the labour market amount to a significant loss in potential output and
pose risks of excessive wage adjustments; they need to be properly addressed by active labour market
policies and education reforms, as stipulated in the Commission and Council country specific
recommendations” (Convergence Report 2013 on Latvia. European Economy N° 3/2013, pp. 45-46).

The situation in the labour market is improving along with the economic growth. The number of
employed aged 15-74 years reached 900 thousand in Q4 2013, which was by 26.2% or about 23 thousand
more than in 2011. The share of job seekers dropped to 11.8% in Q3 2013, which is by 1.9 percentage
points lower than a year ago (Central Statistical Bureau, 2013).

The registered unemployment was among the most vulnerable problems during economic crisis. After
decrease during several years before 2009 and level of 7.7% during one year unemployment rate reached
17.5% and continued to increase in 2010 up to 19.5% in 2010. Since 2011, Latvia continued decrease of
unemployment, which goes in hand with economic development. In 2011 unemployment reached 16.2%,
but in 2013 unemployment rate declined to 11.9%. It is needed to admit that unemployment rate is
geographically quite diversified with Riga having unemployment rate 6.2% compared to Latgale region
with unemployment rate 19.3% (State Employment Agency, 2013).

The main conclusions on the progress towards the achievement of objectives prescribed by
the ”Europe 2020 strategy in areas related to the labour market development are as follows: high growth
rates of Latvia allow forecasting that in 2010 the GDP of Latvia per capita expressed as the purchasing
power parity standard, will be close to the objective stated in the Strategy — 62% of the average level in
the EU 15. During the recent years the economic growth observed in Latvia has had a positive impact on
the labour market: the employment level increases and the unemployment rate declines, which suggests
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that objectives stated in the 2020 concerning the employment and unemployment levels (the employment
rate — 73% and the unemployment rate — 7%) can be achieved.

Although the economic growth rate remained high, the dynamics of inflation showed a tendency to
decline significantly to -0.4% in November 2013. The dynamics of annual average inflation was similar,
dropping from 4.4% in 2011 to 0% in 2013. Latvia has been complying with the Maastricht inflation
criterion for the euro introduction since September 2012 but introduced in January 1 2014.

Table 1
National targets of Latvia for 2020 in the context of the “Europe 2020 strategy
EU-27 Latvia
Target Targets
2020 2020 2030
Persons at-risk-of- 20 million people lifted 21.0% (121 000 people | Persons at-risk-of-
poverty (%) out of the risk of poverty | lifted out of the risk of | poverty after social
or exclusion poverty or exclusion) transfers < 16%

Source: author’s construction based on National reform program (Ministry of Economics), Sustainable Development
Strategy of Latvia 2030 (Crossectoral coordination office)

The National Reform Programme of Latvia for the Implementation of the “Europe 2020” strategy
and the Convergence Programme of Latvia were approved simultaneously by the Cabinet of Ministers on
April 26, 2011 and submitted to the European Commission on April 29, 2011. The National Reform
Programme of Latvia describes the medium-term macroeconomic scenario and reflects the main macro-
structural bottlenecks of Latvia and the key measures for 2011-2013 to eliminate them, as well as
national quantitative targets of Latvia for 2020 in the context of the “Europe 2020 strategy and the key
measures for 2011-2013 to achieve them.

Number of person’s at-risk-of-poverty or social inclusion has decreased since 2011 by 4.6
percentage point and reached 35.2 in 2013, which count to 703 thousand persons. This level is still below
the level of 2008 when only 33.8% of total population was at-risk-of-poverty or social exclusion, but it is
by 28 thousand people less than a year ago when this indicator was 731 thousand or 36.2%. Out of these,
we have assessed additional two most vulnerable groups: children and elderly people (age group: over 65)
(Central Statistical Bureau of Latvia, 2013).

Numbers for children at-risk-of-poverty or social exclusion shows that as of total population 38.4%
were at-risk-of-poverty or social inclusion, which is 1.6 percentage points lower than year ago, but still it
is 6.2 percentage points more than pre-crisis level.

Most interesting numbers in situation of Latvia we can see for age group “over 65”, where numbers
for at-risk-of-poverty or social exclusion have been decreased rapidly even during crisis period with a
slightly increase in 2013 by 2.5 percentage points. Overall decrease for this age group compared to
highest number in 2008 which is before crisis level is 22.6 percentage points.

The at-risk-of-poverty rate in Latvia has increased from 19.4% in 2005 to 26.4% in 2009 and
decreased up to 19.4% in 2013. At the highest risk of poverty were households with dependent children
and single parent (38.3%), as well as households with 3 or more children and both parents (33.2%)
(Central Statistical Bureau of Latvia, 2013).

The at-risk-of-poverty rate or the share of the population below the poverty line increased during the
period when the total income of the population was increasing substantially and the unemployment rate
was comparatively low. It means that the increase in income of the population was unequal and not all
people were able to adapt to the changes and benefit from the growth opportunities.
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Table 2

Social poverty assessment in Latvia

2005 | 2006 | 2007 | 2008 | 2009 | 2010 | 2011 | 2012 | 2013

At-risk-of-poverty or social 458 | 414 | 360 | 338 | 374 | 381 | 404 | 36.2 | 352
exclusion (% of total population)

At-risk-of-poverty or social 457 | 42.7 | 328 | 32.4 | 38.4 | 42.2 | 44.1 | 40.0 | 384
exclusion of children (% of total

population)

At-risk-of-poverty or social 553 | 51.8 | 51.4 | 58.8 | 55.5 | 36.8 | 33.0 | 33.7 | 36.2

exclusion of elderly (over 65
years) (% of total population)

At-Risk-of-Poverty rate 194 | 235 | 212 | 259 | 26.4 | 20.9 | 19.0 | 19.2 | 194
(% of total population)

Source: author’s construction and calculation based on Ministry of Welfare, Ministry of Economics, Eurostat data

Additional to assessment of at risk-of-poverty and social inclusion it is needed to assess situation with
household disposable income. In 2012, household disposable income at current prices increased by 5.3%
and reached euro 321 per household member monthly, as compared to euro 304 in 2011, which is more
than the level of 2007 —euro 316. Income rise at constant prices (considering inflation) accounted for 3%.
The amount is still below pre-crisis level of 2008, when household disposable income at current prices
reached euro 355 (Central Statistical Bureau of Latvia, 2013).

Assessing the situation in regional dimension it is noted that the most notable increase in household
disposable income was recorded in Riga (8.7%), while income rise in regions varied 4.6% in Vidzeme,
4.1% in Kurzeme, 3.9% in Latgale and 3.4% in Zemgale. It is important to note, that in 2012 income gaps
between different regions has increased. Income in Riga households reached 121% of Latvia average, in
Pieriga — 105% and in Kurzeme — 96%, Zemgale 87%, Vidzeme — 81% and Latgale - 75%.

There are the following challenges to reduce the high poverty rate in Latvia:

e Income inequality, including low income of the employed and rather high tax burden on low

income employees (‘working poor’ problem);

e Limited budget resources in the upcoming years;

¢ Insufficient availability of different services and lagging-behind territories in terms of service

provision.

The key priorities in reducing poverty and social exclusion are the increase in income from paid
work, highlighting families with children as a special target group. (The Sustainable Development
Strategy of Latvia until 2030). These measures comply with the priority of the Annual Growth Survey
2013 to tackle unemployment and the social consequences of the crisis, facilitate the achievement of
employment, poverty and social exclusion targets of the Europe 2020 strategy and the implementation of
the flagship initiative European platform against poverty.

3. Catching up Trend of Latvia to EU-28 level

Convergence reflects the measure of progress, while catch up measures the distance to be travelled.
Economic theory provides wide set of indicators how to measure convergence of one country to other or
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to set of others. Here we have taken to indicators. However, majority of them used data of GDP per capita
in PPS as a main data.

Till now assessment of Latvia’s catching-up trend has never been assessed in on a systematic way
based on latest development in economic literature on convergence theories. To improve this issue, there
has to be significant improvements and efforts needed to assess Latvia’s situation based on different
approaches mentioned in economic literature.

For our paper and analysis we have taken two indicators which use data of GDP per capita in PPS as a
main data.

Firstly let us start with recap of achievements done so far.

In the case of Latvia Eurostat data show continued tendency to convergence with the EU-27 level.

100 +
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70 64
60 -
50 - L 4t
w0 3 3 35 3 I3
30 -
20
10
0

1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Source: author’s construction based on Eurostat
Fig. 1. Convergence level of Latvia’s GDP per capita to EU 27 (EU-27=100)

For convergence estimation used new measure how to calculate country’s convergence of compared
to average EU-28 level (Halmai P., Vasary V., 2010). They introduced catch-up rate, which is calculated
as follows:

AWit—=yi)

1
Vit-1—Yi-1) M

Catch-up rate = 100 *
In this formula (1):
Vi is the level of GDP per capita at purchasing power standard for country i at time t;
y tis the average of Y;; for the EU-28;
A indicates the difference between tand t-1;
y is the weighted average of the EU-28.

The Catch-up rate is calculated by means of the historical actual growth rate. It gives a framework for
ex-post analysis of the catch-up dynamism. In the case of negative catch-up rates the disparity between
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the country concerned and the EU average decreases, while the positive catch-up rate shows the increase
of this difference.

Looking back at Latvia’s economic development, we can see several cycles of development ending up
with crisis. Firstly in period from 1998-2000 average catch up rate has been 5.96 which indicates that
Latvia had not have any convergence and differences between Latvia and EU-28 increased. In period
from 2001 up to 2008, before crisis Latvia’s average catch up rate was -0.8 which means, that during this
time, Latvia increased convergence with EU-27. It is also visible in Figure 1, where GDP per capita
increased from 39% as of EU-27 level in 2001 up to 58% in 2008. After overcoming global financial
crisis since 2011, average catch-up rate climbed up to -14.9, which indicates rapid convergence.

GDP data of period from 2001 until 2008 shows that average GDP growth rate in Latvia was 7.3%,
but in EU-27 area GDP growth rate was 2.1%.

Comparing catch up rate with the development of GDP growth we can conclude that to achieve
Latvia’s convergence with EU-27 with a catch-up rate of 0.8 Latvia’s GDP need to grow 5.2 percentage
points faster than EU-27 GDP growth. In other words, we can conclude that every percentage point of
Latvia’s GDP growth that is higher than EU-27 GDP growth increases convergence with a catch-up rate
of 0.154.

Based on our conclusion we can predict development of future convergence (National Development
Plan of Latvia for 2014-2020, 2012). But next forecasts from Ministry of Economic of Latvia specify
trends for Latvian GDP growth for 2015-2020 years at the level of 4.5% per year with diminishing
development of GDP at the level of 3.5%.

240
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2020.-2030. GDP 1
220 avg 3.5% per year

200

180 2015.-2020. GDP
avg 4.5% per year

160
2012.-2014.

GDP 5%
per year
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120 2020.-2030. GDP

avg 1,5% per year

2015.-2020.
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per year

100

80
2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024 2026 2028 2030

Source: author’s construction based on Ministry of Economics, European Commission

Fig. 2. Forecasted GDP growth rates (2004=100, comparable prices)

In comparison, European Commission forecasts EU GDP growth for 2015-2020 in the average level
of 1.7% per year with diminishing development of 1.5% per year for 2020-2030 (European Commission,
2013). This means that difference of Latvia’s GDP growth versus EU-28 GDP growth will be 2.8
percentage points in period 2015-2020 and in period 2020-2030 difference between GDP growths will be
2 percentage points. Converting it to catch up rate and using our calculated data based on historical
development gives us result of forecasted average catch-up rate for period 2015-2020 of 0.431 and
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forecasted catch-up rate for period 2020-2030 of 0.308. As described earlier catch-up rate gives us
necessary information about development of convergence, but not the forecasted level of it.

To assess the forecasted level of convergence of Latvia’s GDP per capita to the EU-28 level we have
referred back to the GDP and GDP per capita development in comparable period 2001-2008. Average
GDP per capita growth rate to EU-28 level in this period was 2.71 percentage point annually, while data
for GDP growth rate from 2001 until 2008 shows that average GDP growth rate in Latvia was 7.3%, but
in EU-28 GDP growth rate was 2.1%. Both growth rates allows us to calculate relationship between
growth rate of GDP and development of GDP per capita. We have calculated that every percentage point
of Latvia’s GDP growth rate that is higher than EU-28 GDP growth rate increases GDP per capita
convergence level by 0.522.

As the calculation is based on historical data set for economic development in Latvia which is similar
to those forecasted for future. Taking into account this, we can estimate development of GDP per capita
level of Latvia compared to EU 28 for upcoming years. We have chosen to assess short term medium
term and long term forecast. According to our calculations based on data mentioned earlier, the level of
Latvia’s GDP per capita compared to EU-28 level in 2015 will increase up to 68.1%, with future increase
up to 75.3% in 2020 and up to 87.0% in 2030. This calculation gives us macro level forecast taking into
account that other development factors will be the relevant to those that were into force in 2001 until
2008 and when Latvia achieved significant progress in Cohesion Policy.

The socio-economic Latvia’s grows revealed the different dynamics of several indicators (GDP,
employment and unemployment, wages), but as well as increasing in absolute values till 2011.Social
situation in Latvia is improving development level after s hardly hock influenced by crisis. Until now the
process of social convergence in Latvia show steady grows.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1. The EU cohesion policy is the EU development policy and provides new evidence on the evolution of
regional and social disparities in Europe. Cohesion policy designed to reduce socio-economic
disparities in the development capacity and contribute social situation of the regions and the EU
Member States, including its large single market and its currency — euro. The EU strives to improve
living standards by protecting the environment, job creation, reducing regional social disparities.

2. Convergence policy must bet connected with a judgement of the likely future evolution of the national
economy. In particular, as experience has shown, the sustainability and robustness of the convergence
process after euro adoption is to a significant extent endogenous and it depends on a member state’s
domestic policy orientations after it has joined the euro area. Convergence processes for the EU states
must be based on the strong economic growth of GDP per capita.

3. Cohesion Policy is a place-based policy which gives a role to each European state in the sense that it
is not an obstacle to the optimal allocation of economic activity but can become a source of growth on
its own. Recent economic theory confirms this approach in numerous case studies which show that
‘geography matters’ and that convergence policy can make a difference. In fact, the EU has achieved
impressive economic and social convergence since 1988. At the level of the state, relatively strong
economic growth of those with a low GDP per capita has meant that EU state have been converging
living standards.

4. European Union convergence the past years showed a relatively steady pace. The inverse relationship
between growth and the level of income is considered B-convergence. If this factor is present, poorer
countries get closer to the richer ones. Socio-economic convergence of the new member states like
Latvia has been considered as one of the most important economic development targets in the EU. It
supports job creation, competitiveness, economic growth, improved quality of life and sustainable
development.
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5. The main tasks of Latvian economy for the recent years 2014-2020 are taken as the important priorities
developing of social legislation, situation in the income’s growth, pension’s policy improving,
education system and labour market development in order to reach goals of “Europe 2020 strategy.

6. The situation in the social policy in Latvia continues improving According to author’s calculation
based on methodological framework of latest convergence theories, the level of Latvia’s GDP per
capita compared to EU-28 level in 2015 will increase up to 68.1%, with future increase up to 75.3% in
2020 and up to 87.0% in 2030.

7. European national economies strategies have been related to the influence of several internal and
external factors. Latvian participation in EU convergence process can be sufficiently supports for
improvement sustainable development, job creation, economic and competitiveness growth and
quality of life. Socio-economic development of Latvia reflecting goals and tasks defined by EU
program’s documents and social strategies. In order to improve the information support researchers
offer a unified flowchart of the research information for the social situation and convergence
estimation and forecasts in Latvia.

8. EU national economies strategies have been related to the influence of several internal and external
factors. Latvian participation in EU convergence process can guarantee political stability and
sufficiently consistent implementation of economic and social strategies and programmes. developed
level The development of economic situation in Latvia and its future forecasts will allow Latvia to
increase level of social convergence with EU-28 level on sustainable but strongly developed level,
reaching 87.0% in 2030.

9. Taking into account the actual socio-economic problems in the EU countries European cohesion
policy should provide more attention for countries with minimum income level and high income’s
disparity with target to reduce unequal between EU countries and improved social convergence
between EU Member States

10. The macroeconomic and social development scenario in Latvia for 2014-2020 is based on the
assumption that the situation in the euro area will continue stabilising and growth in the euro area will
gradually recover from the 2014. Therefore, as growth resumes in the euro area, external demand for
Latvian exports of goods and services is expected to increase, thus promoting further economic and
social development of Latvia. As one of Latvia’s biggest external market — EU market will resume in
growth, external demand for Latvian exports of goods and services is expected to increase, thus
promoting further economic and social development of Latvia.

11. The social conditions and employees in Latvia also become more and more aware of the possibilities
offered by the global EU market. It requires not only a structure of national social models but also on
the strategic choice of countries concerning the social policy. For Latvian future’s social development
investigations and governmental decisions needs to be pragmatic approach into financing in order to
create employment and reduce poverty level and social disparities in the national economy.

12.The socio-economic policy improvement in general connected with investment flows, new
technologies and productivity growth. Trends of the recent years of development of Latvian economy,
which shows significant development of GDP compared to other EU countries, are taken into account
in order to forecast future growth with an overage GDP development by 3.5-4.5% per year and this is
taken into account when developing priorities of social legislation, situation in the income’s growth,
pension’s policy improving, education system and labour market development.
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INTERNAL AUDIT SYSTEM CHANGES IN LOCAL
GOVERNMENTS OF LATVIA

Ivita Faitua, University of Latvia, Latvia®

Abstract

To ensure effective performance of the internal audit function local government may enter into
cooperative agreement with the relevant ministries of the person into the ministry of internal audit system.
The aim of this article is to find out what internal auditing methodology is used by internal auditors in
local governments of Latvia. The tasks of this research are: to make survey of Latvia local governments,
to make data collection and analysis. In Latvia is still not in place an internal audit system in local
government’s level and because of that this research is topical.

Author made survey of Latvia local governments, made data collection and data analysis. Data from
30.25% local governments were collected and analysed.

Each internal auditor in Latvia local governments makes audits by internal audit methodology (46%),
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing (23%), International Audit
Standards (8%), Latvian legislation and Local government binding rules (85%). Just one Local
Government internal auditor is member of the Institute of Internal auditors, just in 54% of local
governments is approved internal audit methodology.

From the results of the research the author has come to the following conclusions that no Internal
audit system in Latvia local government level and no common approach in Latvia local governments
internal auditing because of Latvian legislation rules. Authors’ suggestion — common system (authors
research is not finished yet, but one of them could be budget indicators — table 3) for local governments
internal auditing is necessary for comparable and transparent information of local government’s
activities.

Key words: internal audit, local government, methodology
JEL codes: M42, H790

Introduction

The various interpretations of internal audit were provided by experts in the public internal control
sector of the EU Member States, and it is possible that the understanding of internal audit would have
been more varied and vague if managers had also been asked to give their interpretation of the concept of
internal audit.

In Latvia Internal Audit law there is stated that internal audit systems, internal audit organization and
conducting internal audits shall be determined by the Authority. To ensure effective performance of the
internal audit function local government may enter into cooperative agreement with the relevant
ministries of the person into the ministry of internal audit system.

The aim of this article is to find out what internal auditing methodology is used by internal auditors in
local governments of Latvia.

! Corresponding author — e-mail address: ativi@inbox.lv, phone number: +371 26141974
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The tasks of this research are: to make survey of Latvia local governments, to make data
collection and analysis. The methods of this research are survey method, monograph method,
statistical methods.

In Latvia is still not in place an internal audit system in local government’s level and because
of that this research is topical. In Latvia were defended one dissertation on state administration
internal audit (Magone I., 2010) and one dissertation on internal audit system in local governments
(Sulca R., 2010).

Author considered that internal audit system changes at the level of Latvia local governments is the
main instrument for improvement of the state and local administration system if combining state control
audits, certified auditors (zv@rinats revidents) audits and internal auditors functions according to
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing and International Standards on
Auditing (in using other auditors work).

Research results and discussion

Internal audit situation in EU and Latvia

International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing clarify that the chief
audit executive must effectively manage the internal audit activity to ensure it adds value to the
organization; the chief audit executive must establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of
the internal audit activity, consistent with the organization’s goals, the chief audit executive must
establish policies and procedures to guide the internal audit activity, the form and content of policies
and procedures are dependent upon the size and structure of the internal audit activity and the
complexity of its work (l11A., 2012).

According to data from the Compendium (Compendium of the Public..., 2012) on public internal
control systems within the member states of the EU in 2012, the vast majority of the 27 EU member
states have an internal audit function in place. Three countries presently rely on other arrangements, but
have plans to introduce internal audits within their public sector (Greece, Spain, and Italy). Most of the
existing internal audit systems do not cover all parts of the public sector, or, they do not cover every part
in the same way. Even the coverage of the various central governments varies from country to country.

For example, Lithuania plans to amend its existing legislation for a better elaboration of local
government internal audits. In Estonia, work is continuing on the implementation of both internal control
systems and on an internal audit function within local government authorities. In both of these countries
there is a need, and an objective, to ensure that more coherent and comparable information is made
available on the performance and accountability of the public sector. Efforts aimed at achieving cost
efficiency within government also explain the variations in internal audit coverage.

In Romania, internal audit structures have been established within each public entity and undertake
the same tasks, which range from issues of legality to audit of economy, efficiency, and effectiveness.

In Sweden, only those few agencies that manage complex or sensitive operations, possess large assets,
transfer huge funds, or have a high cost base are required to set up internal audits.

Belgian regulations explicitly allow for internal audit activities to be carried out in three different
ways: by a permanent, dedicated audit service; by a permanent, shared audit service for a number of
institutions; or by an external service. These methods are already possible, or will soon be possible, in
other countries as well, under certain conditions (e.g. Denmark, Estonia, the Netherlands, and Slovenia).

The Spanish contribution serves to illustrate the new complexities, which arise from a public audit and
control point of view, whereby a centralised public sector becomes fundamentally re-organised and the
demand for control and audit affects different types of organisations, which have different reporting
requirements. One way forward which has been suggested in this contribution is with the implementation
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of a broader and more common application of the single audit concept, including techniques, procedures,
and reporting arrangements, which would allow for a more cohesive action by all control/audit bodies
(Compendium of the Public..., 2012).

EU Member states are in different situation with internal audit implementation, internal audit system
in public sector.

The various interpretations of internal audit were provided by experts in the public internal control
sector of the EU Member States, and it is possible that the understanding of internal audit would have
been more varied and vague if managers had also been asked to give their interpretation of the concept of
internal audit.

While most EU Member States assert that they have internal audit in place, at least at the central
government level, it could nevertheless be assumed that the goals of internal audit have no been perfectly
achieved, given the situation of many public structures in Europe (Chapon N., 2012).

Under the coordination of The UK’s Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors and effective from 1
April, 2013, new standards which had applied, respectively, to central government, the National Health
Service end local government entities across UK. Whilst those disbanded standards inevitably had some
commonality with the IIA’s global standards, they were not the same. Now these new standards are
verbatim identical to those of the 1A (Chambers, 2014).

In January, 2012 (local government structure research, interview of the personnel departments) author
find out that just in 19 local governments out of 119 is internal department formed or one internal auditor
is working in unit of Finance or Accountancy department of local government.

At the end of 2013 author made survey of Latvia local governments, made data collection and data
analysis. Data from 30.25% local governments were collected and analyzed. This sample is representative
if we have assumed that 10% sample is enough for data analyses.

Each internal auditor in local governments makes audits by internal audit methodology (46%),
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing (23%), International Audit
Standards (8%), Latvian legislation and Local government binding rules (85%). Just one Local
Government internal auditor is member of the Institute of Internal auditors, just in 54% of local
governments is approved internal audit methodology.

From the results of the research the author has come to the following conclusions that no Internal
audit system in Latvia local government level and no common approach in Latvia local governments
internal auditing because of Latvian legislation rules. Authors’ suggestion — common system for local
governments internal auditing is necessary for comparable and transparent information of local
government’s activities.

Author considered that internal audit system changes at the level of Latvia local governments is the
main instrument for improvement of the state and local administration system if combining state control
audits, certified auditors (zve€rinats revidents) audits and internal auditors functions according to
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing and International Standards on
Auditing (in using other auditors work).

Latvian Local Governments budgets and internal audit

Author made research on Latvia local government budgets indicators (revenue and expenditures).
From research results (Table 1) we can see significant differences between Latvian local government’s
budgets indicators.
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Tablel

Latvia Local Governments Expenditures (lats) Dependent of Revenue 2013 Statistics Data

Revenue, 2013

Expenditures, 2013

Valid

Missing

Mean

Median

Mode

Std. Deviation
Variance
Minimum
Maximum
Sum

119
1
12924790,44
5135077,00
1066121a
45106486,449
2034595119812672,500
1066121
488670968
1538050062

119
1
13648302,50
5263931,00
995595a
48882486,982
2389497533553167,000
995595
528592054
1624147997

a. Multiple modes exist. The smallest value is shown

There are 11.7% smallest local governments with revenue from 1 to 2 million and Riga local
governments revenue is 31.77% of total amount of revenue of Latvia local governments.

Table 2

Results of Regression Analysis of Local governments Expenditures Dependent of Revenue, 2013

Unstandardized Coefficients | Standardized Coefficients )
Model t Sig.
B Std. Error Beta
1 (Constant) -354718.451 108247.781 -3.277 .001
Revenue, 2013 1.083 .002 1.000 467.800 .000

a. Dependent Variable: Expenditures, 2013

Model R

R Square

Adjusted R Square

Std. Error of the Estimate

1 1.000a

.999 999

1134797.109

a. Predictors: (Constant), Revenue, 2013

ANOVA a Model Sum of Squares df Mean Square F Sig.
Regression 281810040515213440.000 1| 281810040515213440.000| 218836.631 | .000b
1| Residual 150668444060214.900 | 117 1287764479147.136
Total 281960708959273664.000 | 118
a. Dependent Variable: Expenditures, 2013, b. Predictors: (Constant), Revenue, 2013
Source: author’s calculations based on data from Ministry of Finance
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From data in Table 2 we can see that regression is significant (p value is less than 0.05) and we can
maintain that expenditures of local governments are dependent of local governments revenue.

Author make suggestion that implementation of internal audit in local governments can be organized
based on budget indicator- revenue (see Table 3).

Table 3
Internal audit Activity charters in Latvia local governments
Local governments revenue, EUR Auditors in local government (minimum)
1 000 000 — 29 999 999 2 auditors
30 000 000 — 59 999 999 3 auditors
60 000 000 — 89 999 999 4 auditors
More than 99 000 000 5 auditors

Source: author’s construction.

Like we can see in Table 3 authors suggestion is audit unit with minimums 2 auditors in the audit unit
to ensure four eye principles.

Author’s suggestion is that the internal audit activity in Latvia local governments must be established
by the Audit Committee, which is highest level of internal audit in public sector.

The internal audit plan will be developed based on a prioritization of the audit universe using a risk-
based methodology, including input of senior management. The internal audit report may include
management’s response and corrective action taken or to be taken in regard to the specific findings and
recommendations (Model Internal ..., 2013).

The management is respectively responsible for providing oversight and monitoring risk management
strategies and processes. To effectively assume these duties, they seek assurance from various sources
within the organisation.

This model, which is rapidly gaining universal recognition, is illustrated in Figure 1.

Audit Committee

Senior management

1 Line of Defence 2% Line of Defence 2" 1 ine of Defence

Operational Management Risk Management Internal Audit

Internal Controls Compliance External Audit
Other

Source: Guidance for Boards and Audit Committees..., 2010.

Fig. 1. Three lines of Defence Model
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Operational management has ownership, responsibility and accountability for a assessing, controlling
and mitigating risks together with maintaining effective internal controls. The risk management function
facilitates and monitors the implementation of effective risk management practices by operational
management. The internal audit function will, through a risk based approach, provide assurance to the
organisations management, on how effectively the organisation assesses and manages its risks, including
the manner in which the first and second lines of defence operate.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

No Internal audit system in Latvia local government level and ho common approach in Latvia local
governments internal auditing because of Latvian legislation rules.

Authors research results shows that each internal auditor in Latvia local government makes audits by
internal audit methodology (46%), International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal
Auditing (23%), International Audit Standards (8%), Latvian legislation and Local government binding
rules (85%).

Just one Local Government internal auditor is member of the Institute of Internal auditors, just in 54%
of local governments is approved internal audit methodology.

The common system (authors research is not finished yet, but one of them could be budget indicators-
Table 3) for local governments internal auditing is necessary for comparable and transparent information
of local government’s activities.

Author considered that internal audit system changes at the level of Latvia local governments is the
main instrument for improvement of the state and local administration system if combining state control
audits, certified auditors (zve€rinats revidents) audits and internal auditors functions according to
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing and International Standards on
Auditing (in using other auditors work).

The internal audit activity in Latvia local governments must be established by the Audit Committee,
which is highest level of internal audit in public sector.
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INTERNATIONAL FRANCHISE PARTNERN
SELECTION MODEL

Christiane Gaul, University of Latvia, Germany*

Abstract

Cooperations are the base for many business activities ever since. Especially vertically cooperating
systems have developed in many commercial sectors at present. One of their advantages is the unification
of main distribution channel members under one umbrella. Therefore, they present themselves externally
as one unit, although internally, several units work hand in hand. One example of a vertically operating
system is franchising. Selecting adequate partners to expand the systems and to trigger growth, coverage,
market share, and popularity has turned out to be a challenge in franchising. Researchers are united in the
thought of selecting qualified franchisees; it is perceived as the franchisor’s single most pervasive
operating problem (Clarkin and Swavely 2006), which prevails for national and international franchising
alike. The goal of this academic contribution is developing a two-step model for successful partner
selection in international franchising. The model is based first on cross border literature review elements,
and second, paired with expert interviews from German speaking countries to finally determine a
questionnaire for franchisors, in order to build the ideal profile of franchise candidates for Germany based
franchisors. The main result of this paper is the model. It is based on three franchisee attributes found
relevant for selection: local knowledge, soft skills, and hard skills. Final results will help any German
franchisor to fine tune its approach of franchisee selection and to professionalize the selection phase in
order to chose more profitable candidates. Reliability of the model will be considered after testing the
two-step model in the near future.

Key words: model, franchising, franchisee selection
JEL code: M16

Introduction

A vertical cooperation system succeeds in unifying its main distribution channel members, working
together as one team, meeting consumer needs. It is the connection between steps in the value chain,
meaning between producers and suppliers (Haas & Neumair 2006). Classical cooperation channels
include an independent producer, a wholesaler, and a retailer. Each of the parties works its ‘input-
processing- output chain’ separately and hands it on to the next party. Vertical cooperation systems act
together and represent themselves externally as one unit. Still, one channel member takes over the power
over the others and guarantees cooperation (Kotler & Keller 2008). Vertically integrated systems keep
competing over customers with non-integrated systems (Ahlert & Schefer 2013). This competitive
setting allows dynamic process of change. It further supports continuous improvement in channel
operation. Franchising is one example of a vertical cooperation system and has gained reputable
popularity in the last decades, as it has been growing acceptance all around the world.

! Corresponding author — e-mail address: c.gaul@andre-media.de, phone number: +49-941-69530-0
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Franchising is the alternative to vertical integration of producing and distributing a good or service
within a company. Via franchising, cost of production and the respective coordination of it decrease,
while flexibility of the business rises (Caves & Murphy 1976). The reasons why to opt for franchising as
an entrepreneur are foremost a high possibility of gaining superior standard of living, the offer to
receiving training on the job, and the chance to being one’s own boss, (Bennett et al. 2010) while being
backed up by an entire system. Moreover, franchising on the one hand is an expansion form permitting
easy access to capital, rapid market penetration, development of a network distribution system,
cooperation with striving entrepreneurs, and quick growth rates (Hoffman & F. Preble 1991, D. Ahlert &
M. Ahlert 2010, Alon 2006), while on the other hand, it relaxes several other growth constraints a firm
may have (Lafontaine 1992).

Amongst many challenges, such as to triggering growth, coverage, market share, and popularity,
selecting adequate partners to expand the systems has turned out to be a key aspect with potential long-
term benefits or losses, depending on the quality of the selection. Business partnerships need to prosper;
otherwise they are not worth the compound effort. Challenges have existed for a long time and have not
only kept business parties occupied, but also academic researchers. Researchers and practitioners are
united in the thought of selecting qualified franchisees; it is perceived as the franchisor’s single most
pervasive operating problem (Clarkin and Swavely 2006), which prevails for national and international
business alike. The ultimate goals of searching suitable candidates are to minimize the risk of inadequate
selection, to increase the probability of finding the right candidates, and to diminish the component of
lucky guessing and gambling for a qualified partner (Ahlert, Brock, & Evanschitzky).

The research for this paper is the quest for developing a franchisee selection model. Therefore the
research question is formed as follows: What does model contain to include the most favourable
franchisee criteria, which lead to a higher chance of choosing a well performing future franchisee
candidate. The goal of this contribution consists of the creation of a selection model, which can be tested
within the franchisor community. One contribution to the discipline of franchising is the collection of
examined selection criteria across international literature of the last three decades. This collection then is
filtered and summed up by several independent latent variables and their possible relation with dependent
variables. The model will allow a deeper insight into qualifications and criteria necessary for favourable
franchisee selection.

Limitations of the presented model to date include its theoretical nature. To achieve a well-rounded
approach for future testing, practical input certainly improves the approach. Only after discussing the
model during several occasions with additional experts in the near future, the author will be able to
modify and improve the theoretical to a realistic and practical approach. The novelties of the model are
twofold. For once it is the categorization of soft and hard skills for a selection process. Second it displays
another category, the category of local knowledge, which adds to the existing categories, in order to
establish an even more suitable framework.

Problematic questions may arise regarding further relevant categories of independent latent variables,
which may complement the model. Therefore this model is no claim of perfection, but a start of capturing
the selection process, displaying measurable variables, and suggesting them for future testing. Main
results are yet to be found after verification of the model. Final results will help any franchisor to fine-
tune its approach of franchisee selection and to professionalize the selection phase based on relevant
criteria gathered in international literature.

Research results and discussion

Generally, researchers distinguish between strategies of selection processes and a combination of
selection characteristics. Establishing well-conceptualized processes inside the company before entering
the selection procedure is a necessary step to discovering talented individuals. No matter whether
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strategies of selection processes of a combination of selection characteristics are emphasised during the
process or not, first, decision-making needs the involvement of numerous department heads. More critical
eyes generally enhance the quality of the finally selected applicant and the combined effort helps
screening a wider spectrum of demanded skills. Altinay (2006) observed this procedure in large
international corporations. Second, the understanding of the difference of country markets, including
culture is another relevant focus the headquarter needs to include in its expansion strategy. The research
and preparation for these potential knowledge gaps brings a franchisor closer to understanding the
individuals interested in a specific franchise market. Then, a franchisee selection process flows
empathetically, and later misunderstandings can be minimized.

The overall topic of franchising also touches distinct well-known economic theories. Amongst the
most commonly cited in franchising are transaction cost theory, principal-agent theory, and resources
scarcity theory, which all play vital roles in the area of national and international franchising
environments. Franchising emerged by strongly being affected by transaction cost theory and developed
into being a significant business strategy to reduce transaction cost (John Stanworth & Curran 1999
citing Jones 1995). To reduce transaction cost, frictions that result in interruptions and failures of
business need to be reduced (Williamson 1989). Moreover, agency problems influence the decision
whether to own or franchise, since monitoring cost of employed company managers can turn out higher
than the cost of franchising the unit. Brickley and Dark (1987) refer to these behavior as inefficient risk
bearing. Transaction cost can be seen as combination of rational assumptions and self-interest seeking
assumptions. The result is a taste of guile amongst others (Williamson 1996). Resource scarcity is a
general economic theory and strongly applicable in the case of franchising (Combs, Ketchen, et al., 2011)
The short summary of mentioned theories affect franchisees and franchisor alike, as well as they are
applicable to the franchisee selection process.

Also several key success factors in franchising are of high relevance. Amongst them is partner
selection. Franchisees need to have a special mix of entrepreneur and employees characteristics. Many
discussions arise about the entrepreneurial aspect of franchisees and whether they can be seen as “real”
entrepreneurs. One group of researcher argues against franchisees reflecting the entrepreneurial spirit
since the franchisee follows the given paths of the franchisor of which many are legally defined in the
franchise contract. Another argument is, that the risk of a new market entry is shared between franchisor
and franchisee; and business opportunities are normally identified by the franchisor. Others critique and
argue for franchisees to be managers. In their view, franchisees only manage their franchised units, but
do not pursue a significant overall growth strategy (Ketchen Jr. et al. 2011).

Expansion tactics for franchisors can be multiple, such as growth plans, gaining market share, or as
tactics for national and international market entry strategies. From an opportunistic angle, franchisors can
select adequate international franchise partners to complement the franchisors strategy abroad.
“International franchising is one of the most efficient and successful expansion strategies in cross-border
distribution,” (Hero 2010) it bears minimal risks and a rapid entry strategy (Alon 2006). Nevertheless,
selecting suitable business partners abroad stays a noteworthy research problem (M. Thompson & Stanton
2010). Some franchisors do not favour the internationalization of their operations, as they prefer focusing
on their respective national markets to bundle their resources (Oxenfeld & Thompson 1969).

Resulting from the urge to internationalize, various challenges of internationalization reach out to
institutions engaging in cross-border business. In franchising local knowledge is necessary for franchisee
candidates to pursue a licence in their selected geographic area (Ahlert & Wunderlich 2002). Local
knowledge is a relevant (Doherty 2009), yet little examined aspect, for successful partner search.
“Langston and Teas (1976) found that the international orientation of US firm's top management
correlates with whether or not they had lived abroad, could speak foreign languages and whether their
foreign experiences were favourable or not” (Eroglu 1992 citing Langston & Teas 1976). Also Doherty
and Quinn (2007) reflect that problems in international retail franchising may arise from cultural and
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language barriers, plus different local operating practices. For this reason, the local candidate is seen as
rich source of information, beside a fincial empowerment of the sytem (Eroglu 1992 citing Langston &
Teas 1976).

Therefore, the author claims local knowledge to be a relevant factor for successful partner search, and
in the case of franchising, it is a applicable factor for successful international franchisee search. Thus, the
first hypothesis is stated as:

H1: The better the local knowledge of a franchisee candidate, the higher the quality of the selected
franchisee.

Many researchers, Altinay, Jambulingam, Ahlert, Clarkin, and Stanworth amongst others, have
dedicated their contribution to franchise expansion topics. Relevant authors contributing to the topic are
mostly publishing about the North American, Australian, and European market. Summarizing the
examined literature, it is clear, that the core literature comes from societies, influenced by western
civilization. Due to this prevailing situation, required skills as displayed in the following paragraphs, may
differ depending on the prevailing societal influences in other countries or cultural areas. The author
keeps this aspect in mind during further exploration of the topic.

As local knowledge can only be one part of the ideal franchisee profile category, other criteria are yet
to be determined. Considering selection criteria apart from the selection process, several authors have
grouped abilities, talents, and skills for certain business tasks. In 1991 Geringer brings an approach of
task-related and partner-related abilities into the field of discussion. Specifically in the hotel industry,
Altinay found out that both, task and partner-related criteria should be identified early in the selection
process to find hints on whether the applicant has the necessary potential to fit the required profile
(Altinay et al. 2013 citing Altinay 2006). The distinction of abilities in the field of business partner
selection is therefore an already known fact.

In this paper, the author decides to take on a combination of soft skills and hard skills to determine the
fruitfulness of the fit between franchisor and franchisee. Criteria, such as the will to work hard
(McCosker 2000, DeCeglie 1993, Lim and Frazer 2004, Ramirez-Hurtado et. al 2011) and appropriate
financial background were found to be among the most relevant hard and soft facts (Doherty 2009,
Rahatullah and Raeside 2009, Clarkin and Swavely 2006, Olm et. al 1988, DeCeglie 1993, Hsu and Chen
2008). Also education (Doherty 2009, Clarkin and Swavely 2006, DeCeglie 1993), and experience (Hsu
and Chen 2008, Clarkin and Swavely 2006, McCosker 2000) are often rated highly towards a fitting
candidate profile. As per definition soft skills are generally referred to customer handling, communication,
problem solving, teamworking, loyalty, enthusiams, punctuality, and strong work ethics (Oxford
Reference online). Hard skills are generally defined as numeracy, literacy, fluency in a foreign language,
and specific job-related technical abilities (operating a machine, creating a spreadsheet, touch-typing,
driving, dressing a wound) (Oxford Reference online).

Resulting from the above, hypothesis two and three are stated:

H2: The higher developed soft skills of a franchisee candidate, the higher the quality of the selected
franchisee.

H3: The higher developed hard skills of a franchisee candidate, the higher the quality of the selected
franchisee.

Based on the three mentioned hypotheses, the points to be taken a close look at are soft skills, hard
skills, and having local knowledge in the geographic area of operating the business. As far as the
operationalization of the specific variables is concerned, the following measurements can be assumed. For
local knowledge different measurements of the ability of speaking the local language, period of how long
the person has lived in the region claimed franchise territory, and general business, social and legal
knowledge are captured. Soft skills can be operationalized through measuring general work ethics,
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punctuality on the job, loyalty to the business, enthusiasm for work, and general communication skills.
Hard skills for franchisee candidates can be operationalized by measuring literacy, numeracy, job related
abilities, being fluent in another language, type of academic schooling, and financial background of
candidate. As for the total performance of a franchiseship, indicators such as number of years in the
network, the increase of number of employees at the franchisor, and sales growth are relevant information
sources.

Three independent variables are chosen for finding a suitable partner: first local knowledge, second
soft skills, and third hard skills. These three categories lead to an internationalization fit, interpersonal fit
between franchisor and franchisee, and an objective fit respectively. All components influence the total
performance of the franchiseship, while performance is the dependent variable.

In detail, the model consists of attributes found in previous studies to be significantly influencing the
ideal franchisee profile. Cross-border partner selection adds to the difficulty overall. For this reason, a
special feature in this model is the understanding that national franchisee selection may differ from
international franchisee selection. Difficulties of international business may arouse in the absence of
awareness of certain challenges. These obstacles in the target market include distribution of wealth,
egalitarian of society, types of laws, foreign investment procedures, communication styles, human
relationship dimensions, freedom of press, political and religious boundaries, gender issues, consumer
and commercial spending, and many more topics (Hero 2010). Both parties, franchisor and franchisee,
have to be aware of prevailing differences and resulting challenges, as it is equally difficult for a
franchisor to export a certain system into problematic market, as it is for a franchisee to import a non-
fitting system structure into a certain market. In addition, compatibility of the parties, goodwill, and trust
are needed for any relationships, and so they are needed for franchiseships.

Gaul’s franchisee selection model

(1) Local language knowledge
(2) Lived in region

(3) Cultural knowledge

(4) Business knowledge

(5) Social knowledge

(6) Lepal knowledge

Local
knowledge

Internationali-
zation fit

Total performance
of franchiseship

- Years in
(1) Strong work ethics network
(2) Punctuality Interpersonal fit —
(3% Loyalty N P - Increase in
(4) Enthusiasm number of
(5) Communication employees

- Sales growth
(1) Literacy
(2) Numeracy
(3) Job related abilities Objective fit

(4) Fluent in foreign language
(5) Academic schooling
(6) Financial background

Fig. 2. Author’s model to date

The model demonstrates the dependent variables on the right side “total performance of
franchiseship”, and the independent variables on the left side “local knowledge” determining the so called
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internationalization fit, “soft skills” to determine the so called interpersonal fit, and “hard skills” to
determine the so called objective fit. All fits together influence the quality of a candidate. The author
proposes the use of expert questionnaires for verifying the elements of the model. Based on this input and
an improved model, a second questionnaire shall be distributed to franchisors, in order to receive
feedback from actual decision makers in the selection process.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

The conclusion of this paper is the construction of the Gaul’s selection model. The model is based on
literature review aspects and has so far no practical verification. The model takes into account that several
factors influence the quality of franchisee selection, which again influences the performance of the
member in the systems. To date, the model is build on three selected criteria.

1. Internationalization fit: Local knowledge is seen as key element for future franchisees to
successfully establish their business as entrepreneurs. Local knowledge gives the franchisor the
competitive advantage entering a market. Especially for foreign markets this qualification is of
high value for the franchisor.

2. Interpersonal fit: Soft skills are necessary to progress in the franchise network, as they include
skills to externally and internally operate the new business.

3. Objective fit: Hard skills complement the well-rounded qualification packet of a franchisee
candidate. In combination with high soft skills and great local knowledge, the candidate may
resemble high potential for entrepreneurial activities within the system.

4. As suggestion, to ascertain a higher robustness of the model, the developed hypotheses shall be
tested with the presented model to give answers to vital aspects of national and international
franchising.

The author has started gathering expert opinions to improve the model. In further research, these
finding shall be presented and form the base for a robust model and additional data collection from actual
franchisors. In the current state of the research project and with an intense review of specific literature,
the author believes that the stated hypotheses are highly likely to be temporarily accepted.
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ETHICAL CODES IN LITHUANIAN SMALL AND MEDIUM-
SIZED ENTERPRISES: PROBLEMS AND SOLUTIONS

Jolita Greblikaite, Kaunas University of Technology, Lithuania

Abstract

Nowadays competitiveness is very strong in the market, economic situation is complex, sometimes
rough, and tentative. A lot of depends of effective management, on solutions based on new paradigms,
new views, and approaches. Business ethics is still one of the spheres which is not fully used in
Lithuanian enterprises. Lithuania remains as one of the countries applying ethical principals in enterprises
rather reserved. Ethical issues are rather complicated and might be an object of intensive discussions. The
scientific problem of this article is how ethical codes might be more effectively implemented in activity
of Lithuanian small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). The aim of the article is to analyse the
importance of ethical codes in enterprises disclosing the results of empirical research made in Lithuanian
SMEs. Research object of this article is appliance of ethical code in an enterprise. The tasks of the
article are: to ground the importance of ethical codes in enterprise activity, to present situation of ethics’
implementation in Lithuania, to reveal the results of empirical research about ethical codes, fulfilled in
Lithuanian SMEs; to evaluate practical situation and propose solutions how more effectively implement
ethical codes in Lithuanian SMEs activity. The empirical research was made in Lithuanian SMEs
applying ethical codes in their casual activity. Research methods used in preparing the article are
scientific literature analysis, pilot structured interview in Lithuanian SMEs.

The main outcomes of the article are: ethical code might be rather useful instrument in strong
competition; Lithuanian SMEs have some problems implementing ethical codes in their activity, but
overall effect of implementation of ethical codes in enterprises is very positive as to the enterprises
themselves and society in a whole. Enterprises need to have good examples in order to implement ethical
principals in their own activity. Being ethical must supply some added value that enterprise could really
experience. Lithuania and other rather new EU countries should develop and use research for their
enterprises and rising ethical problems there.

Key words: ethical codes, business ethics, Lithuanian SMEs
JEL code: M140

Introduction

Strongly competitive environment fosters to take various measures in organisations for strengthening
position in the market. One of them is appliance of ethical code. The main reason why enterprises apply
ethical codes in their activity is improving of organizational climate “so that individuals can behave
ethically” (Shaw B. and Barry J., 1995; Adams J. S. et al., 2001). Ethical codes help to institutionalize
ethical norms and values in organisations. Such institutionalization helps keeping some rules in different
situations for members of enterprise as well as helps for adapting to new ones to organizational climate.
Ethical codes fulfill very important function: they are managerial and legal tool in enterprises (Adams J.
S. et al., 2001). As a legal and administrative instrument, codes of ethics may have a leading role in the
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infrastructure of ethics. At the same time, they establish and publicize the behavioral norms and standards
gaining control function. Most of the codes generally have dual purpose:

e Discipline;

e Set aspirational standards.

The arguments for and against ethical codes still exist. Researchers are arguing about effectiveness
and necessity of ethical codes in business (Rayborn C. A. and Payne D., 1990; Donaldson T., 1996; Bass
B. M., Steidlmeier P, 1999; Adams J. S. et al., 2001; Wotruba T. R. et al., 2001; Pater A., van Gils A.,
2003; Lawton A., 2004; Coughlan R., 2005; Schwartz M. S., 2005; Garcia-Marza D., 2005; Vasiljeviene
N., Vasiljevas A., 2006; Waldman D. A. et al., 2006; Rodriguez-Dominguez L. et al., 2009; Kinney J. A. ,
Emerson T. L., Neubert M. J., 2010; Svennson G. et al., 2010; Forsyth D. R., O’Boyle E. H. Jr., 2011;
Williams S., 2011; Winkler 1., 2011; Sanchez-Garcia I. M. et al., 2013; Schwartz M. S., 2013).

The aim of the article is to analyse the importance of ethical codes in enterprises disclosing the
results of empirical research made in Lithuanian small and medium-sized enterprises (SMESs). Research
object of this article is appliance of ethical code in an enterprise. The tasks of the article are: to ground
the importance of ethical codes in enterprise activity; to present situation of ethics’ implementation in
Lithuania; to reveal the results of empirical research about ethical codes made in Lithuanian SMEs; to
evaluate practical situation and propose solutions how more effectively implement ethical codes in
Lithuanian SMEs activity. The empirical research was made in Lithuanian SMEs applying ethical codes
in their casual activity. Research methods used in preparing the article are scientific literature analysis,
pilot structured interview in Lithuanian SMEs.

Novelty/ Value of findings. The results of this research are rather new and valuable to SMEs in
Lithuania preparing implement ethical codes in their activity as well as results are valuable to further
research about implementation of ethical codes situation in Lithuania. Findings are important for
politicians and society, supporting ethical values in business environment.

Limitations of empirical research are related with rather narrow research based on SMEs. But from
the other side SMEs are more lacking of resources and inspiration for implementing ethical codes in their
activity and this research may serve as inspiration for real actions.

Theoretical considerations in this article are made on importance and effectiveness of ethical codes
in enterprises, main functions and values cherished by ethical codes.

Modern business ethics is based on three main statements:

e A company must create and provide the society not only with material products but also create and

cherish moral values.

o A profit of business organizations and other incomes must be directed to achieve socially

beneficial aims.

e When solving problems encountered in the business world, coordination of interpersonal interest

must be prioritized and production issues should be taken into account only after all.

Ethical code is a system of principles governing morality and acceptable conduct?. “Organisational
codes of ethics are intended to capture the key values on a firm and to convey values to both internal and
external stakeholders” (Coughlan P., 2005). Forsyth D. R., O’Boyle E. H. (2011) define code of ethics as
“a set of principles, both general and specific, that by identifying actions, emotions, and psychological
states that are prescribed and proscribed, provides guidelines for actions in morally complex situations”
(p. 355). If organization does not have an ethical code it might be considered as it ignores morality and
social values (Adams J. S. et al., 2001). Ethical codes are not the tool for obeying the legal acts, but they
should be tightly connected with law and especially oriented to specific values, moral norms in
enterprises. In the codes corporate values and the corporate expectations of managerial and employee
conduct can be expressed (Williams S., 2011)

2 http://www.thefreedictionary.com/ethical+code
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The code’s primary function may be to signal what behavior (in this case — ethical) is expected in
organization (Adams J. S. et al., 2001). “Codes of ethics are documents that both define a set of specific
behavioral guidelines for members of the company and propose how social actors should understand their
position and the position of others within the company” (Winkler 1., 2011, p. 662). Ethical codes are
important in corporate model of sustainable business from ethical perspective (Svennson G. et al., 2010).
Sustainability and integrity of enterprise activity are important components in overall status and position
of enterprises (Lawton A., 2004). The purpose of ethical codes is using them to solve the ethical
contradictions and inconsistencies in organisations and to transmit the organisation’s moral principles to
employees (Pater A., van Gils A., 2003, p. 764). Wotruba T. R. et al. (2001) state that the main function
of ethical codes is solving some ethical dilemmas in organisations and transmitting of moral principles,
cherished by organization, to the employees. Lawton A. (2004) marks out the following functions of
ethical code (p. 95):

1) Ethical codes offer a clear statement of values, roles and duties, rights and responsibilities;

2) Codes clarify ethical behavior expected from stakeholders, public officials, society;

3) They act as guidelines in developing ethical conduct;

4) Ethical codes form an independent, consistent and predetermined set of criteria for ethical conduct;

5) Help resolve possible ethical dilemmas;

6) Clarify processes and sanctions when appears some misconduct;

7) Ethical codes help minimize ambiguity and reduce uncertainty;

8) Offer a coherent statement of ethical conduct;

9) Promote public trust;

10) Generate pride amongst staff;

11)Establish external credibility and indicate that ethics are being taken seriously.

Throughout the history of ethical codes their content have evolved from focusing on illegal activities,
strict compliance with the law and employee misconduct towards environmental issues, workplace safety,
and the achievement of long-term relationship with customers and suppliers (Rodriguez-Dominguez L. et
al., 2009; Sanchez-Garcia I. M. et al., 2013). According Pater A. and van Gils A. (2003), ethical codes
have the potential to affect the behavior of employees in two ways:

1) By fomalising expected behavior;

2) By changing organizational ethical climate (p. 764).

Formalisation of employees’ behavior is fulfilled by systematic detecting and sanctioning unethical
behavior. It is important that measures would be taken not accidently but in every unethical case.
Employees should know that no exceptions exist in their behavior and actions. Scrutiny is recommended
in solving ethical dilemmas in organisations. Wotruba T. R. et al. (2001) state that ethical climate in
organization a lot of depends on how the members of organization are familiar with the content of ethical
code. The practical application and usefulness of the code is also very important. Raiborn C. A. and
Payne D. (1990) suggest a model based on values for creating effective ethical codes (pp. 48-49). Those
main values are: justice, competence, utility, and integrity. Justice involves impartiality and good faith in
dealings with others. Justice is very important in interpersonal dealings. Competence is a high value
standard for an organization. Utility is connected to societal improvement and responsible usage of
resources. Integrity according Raiborn C. A. and Payne D. is based on grounding ethical codes on moral
values. Work values are specific individual behavior guides important to interpersonal stability when
compared to an alternative (Williams S., 2011), for example, being loyal to the company or not.
Donaldson T. (1996) distinguishes such values important in workplace: respect for human dignity; respect
for basic rights; good citizenship.

In the companies transformation of traditional moral values is needed. Values should be adapted in
specific business environment. Consideration about following justification: “I did it because it was legal”
must be made because it is better than ethical codes are tightly connected with legal acts; there is little

Jolita Greblikaite 159



New Challenges of Economic
@ and Business Development — 2014

May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia

space for interpretations (Raiborn C. A., Payne D., 1990, p. 51). Authors emphasize three important
factors influencing use of ethical codes by employees: culture, communication and compensation
practices. Strong organizational culture helps to provide grounded ethical decisions in enterprises.
Everyday communication and appliance of ethical code in everyday situations allow reaching the
appropriate level in organizational ethical behavior and ethical standards. Compensation mechanisms
should be clear and understandable for all members in organization informing that unethical behavior is
not tolerated and even non useful.

According Schwartz M. S. (2013), many individuals accept 20-60-20 rule (p. 40). 20 % of a given
workforce will always do the right thing; it means will act legally or/ and ethically regardless any
circumstances at the workplace. The other 20 % of workforce will always engage in illegal or unethical
behavior when the opportunity occurs. The remaining 60 % will decide of acting legally or illegally,
ethically or unethically depending on the surrounding environment. So, decision rests upon top
management how to create such organizational environment that those 60 % of workforce will act to the
interests of company. Shwartz M. S. (2013) suggests that there is needed to build ethical corporate culture
(41 p.), where should be:

1. A set of core ethical values;

2. A formal ethics program, including a code of ethics, an ethics hotline, and an ethics officer;

3. Regular ethical leadership is needed in organization (good examples from top managers, board of
executives).

Earlier Schwartz M. S. (2005) proposed a set of universal core ethical values:
Trustworthiness, including honesty, promise keeping, integrity, transparency, reliability, and loyalty;
Respect, including respect for human rights;
Responsibility, including accountability, accepting fault, and not blaming others;
Fairness, including notions of process, impartiality, and equity;
Caring, including sensitivity towards others and avoiding harm;
Citizenship, including obeying laws, assisting the community, and protecting the environment.

The code of ethics is the most important document in which core ethical values should be included.
Values should be also included in annual report, public accountability statement, or social report
(Schwartz M. S., 2013). Enterprise homepage is also the place where values should be reflected. The
processes going in the companies should include core ethical values, for example, hiring of new
employees. Ethical training should be included in agenda of important events in the enterprises. Leaders
and executives need to establish internal organization-specific definitions and descriptions of each core
work value (Williams S., 2011).

Very important role goes to general managers in the enterprises because they are responsible for
ethical leadership. Showing example by behavior of top managers is very important and has strong
positive impact on employees (Trevino L. K. et al., 2005, p.117). Quiet often senior managers do not have
appropriate perception of ethics by themselves or keeping ethical standards are very poor from their side.
Lack of good examples from top managers influences overall organizational climate and ethical culture in
enterprise. The involvement of Board of executives in designing and implementing ethical codes has
grown considerably (Berenbeim R. E., Kaplan J. M., 2004; Sanchez-Garcia I. M. et al., 2013). Leaders at
all levels should be seen as examples of value implementation practices in the companies. Tepper B. J.
(2010) suggests that managers should be trained of cherishing and promoting ethical values.

Trevino L. K. et al. (2003) suggested dimensions to ethical leadership. One dimension is a “moral
person” dimension, the other — “moral manager” dimension. Moral person’s characteristics obligate
manager to act in work environment keeping societally common moral norms and keeping moral
behavior in decisions and relations with customers, employees, competitors, society. Moral manager’s
characteristics are more related to being a strong moral manager and a strong moral person (Schwartz M.
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S., 2013, p. 45). The most important point of ethical leadership is that actual managerial behavior would
be identified with declared ethical behavior and ethical attitudes. Sanchez-Garcia I. M. et al. (2013)
emphasize that CEO’s characteristics may influence organizational culture, from another side CEOs
change organizational culture themselves by strong leadership. CEOs can be considered as an essential
ethical agent inside organisations.

Ethical codes play key role in relations with stakeholders as well (Kinney J. A. et al., 2010). “A code
of ethics is a critical component of an ethical infrastructure that is likely to contribute toward developing
an organizational character that can maintain or restore a firm’s ethical reputation in the eyes of its
stakeholders” (p. 513). The role of ethical code is related with internal and external stakeholders (Winkler
I., 2011). Often in ethical codes employees are separated from the company as top management states
about themselves “we” and apply in the codes “our employees” (Winkler, 2011, p. 661). Language of
ethical codes becomes very important ensuring good relations in the companies (Fairclough N., 1995;
Winkler 1., 2011). It is rather doubtful application language for good organizational climate formation.
From one side ethical code sometimes hold a tension between top managers and employees, from another
side ethical code ensures that moral and ethical face of company depends on employees. It is very
important to choose appropriate tone and language in ethical codes as the positive results of ethical code
depends on authors and readers common result (Winkler 1., 2011, p. 663).

The other very important question for discussion is the effectiveness of code. Here the most important
are the criteria of effectiveness (Winkler, 2011, p. 663). Employees are the group that should ensure
ethical behavior according to the other stakeholders groups. Ensuring of power relations according the
codes shows the effectiveness of the codes in enterprises. The effectiveness of ethical codes might be
tightly connected to integrity of ethical norms in practice (Pater A., van Gils A., 2003). When sanctions
are taken for every unethical behavior in organization it is perceived as rather positive effect. But if, for
example, salaries are not paid in time, it is also perceived by employees as unethical managers’ behavior
without sanctions. Integrity principal is broken.

Effectiveness of ethical code is tightly connected with how employees perceive ethical climate in
organisations. Often the appropriate behavior of top managers is more important than existence of ethical
codes. The position of moral manager strengthens the connection between top managers and employees
because good relations could be kept by training and education. The effectiveness of ethical codes might
be measured by ethical auditing (Garcia-Marza D, 2005; Svensson G. et al., 2010).

Lawton A. (2004) emphasizes that a consideration of context, content, implementation and
enforcement of codes can enhance their effectiveness (p 94). But it should be considered that ethical
codes have been recognising a lot of critique. Most of it goes for that codes cannot provide guidance in all
situations might be difficult to implement and enforce, might cause disagreement among groups (CSR) of
stakeholders (Vasiljeviene N., Vasiljevas J., 2006). The arguments against corporate social responsibility
of enterprises still exist (Bernatonyte D., Simanaviciene Z., 2008). In Lithuanian enterprises such
initiatives are prompted by foreign partners or mother enterprises. The economic barriers for slow
development of corporate social responsibility might be various, tightly connected with innovation and
technological development (Vasiljeviene, Vasiljevas, 2006), corruption level in the country.

How to act that ethical codes become effectively implemented in activity of enterprises? There are
some important points that might be stressed:

1) The ethical principles should be embedded in organizational culture attracting all stakeholders

groups into the process.

2) Members of enterprises should see that ethical codes are active and usable for unethical behavior

situations; the effectiveness of ethical codes should be marked out clearly.

3) Consulting, learning and training are very important for developing understanding in enterprises of

overall use of ethical codes as well as developing appropriate skills.

4) Strong civil society with moral values and participation activity is needed for effective

implementation of codes.
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Effective implementation of ethical codes is tightly connected with rising of ethical leaders in
organisations. Waldman D. A. et al. (2006) stress that charismatic leadership of CEOs may also affect
engaging level in ethical concerns, and CSR development. Managers might be involved in moral values
and ethical norms implementation in enterprises for very simple reason — they must be effective leaders.
CEOs need to intellectually stimulate leaders who are related to altruism, justice, and humanistic
approach (Bass B. M., Steidlmeier P., 1999). As Sanchez-Garcia I. M. et al. (2013) research results
provide “the decision to adopt a code can be considered as an overall choice undertaken by the company
as a whole or imposed from stakeholders *wishes and expectations, and not significantly influenced by
specific CEO’s values and perspectives (p. 309).

The effective implementation of ethical codes in enterprises a lot of depends on systematic approach
to rising ethical problems and dilemmas. Ethical code is just one element in that system, but plays an
important role.

Research results and discussion

1. Situation of ethics implementation in Lithuania

In Lithuania, as well as in many other countries, a rapid spread of creation of codes of ethics was
noticed. Reacting to higher society’s expectations, codes of ethics, that define target values,
responsibilities, boundaries of certain actions, etc., are being created They are regarded as one of the
means of management and control that helps to achieve greater efficiency of government institutions and
business organizations. Importance of such documents is publically recognized, however, there are also
many doubts within the academic discourse about the actual power of such documents.

Having analysed the information provided by a professor of Kaunas University of Technology Jolanta
Palidauskaité (2010) on codes of ethics in Lithuania (public sector) it was determined that the status of
some existing codes is different. While most of the codes have a legislative status, others were adopted by
a decision made at the official meeting. Resources of most of the codes of ethics in Lithuania are
legislation of the Republic of Lithuania and general ethical standards. In some of the codes of ethics two
types of provisions are distinguished: general and specific emphasizing only those questions that are
relevant to a particular institution or occupation. Codes of ethics in public and private sectors in Lithuania
differ in their scope, objectives, structure, questions discussed and mode of analysis. In many of the
codes, questions of responsibility or supervision of codes are only mentioned, but not analyzed further.

Examples of codes of ethics in public sector of Lithuania are rather many. Codes of ethics are used
also in organizations of a private sector. For example (Palidauskaite, 2010):

Lithuanian Brewers Code of Honour (Lietuvos aludariy garbés kodeksas);
Code of Ethics of Lithuanian Medical Association (Lietuvos gydytojy sgjungos profesinés etikos
kodeksas);

e Ethical Rules of Lithuanian Corporate Lawyers (Lietuvos jmoniy teisininky profesinés etikos taisyklés);

e Code of Ethics of Lithuanian Association of Public Relations Specialists (Lietuvos rysiy su visuomene

specialisty sajungos etikos kodeksas);

e Code of Ethics of Lithuanian Builders Association (Lietuvos statybininky asociacijos etikos kodeksas);

e Code of Ethics of Lithuanian Journalists and Publishers (Lietuvos zurnalisty ir leidéjy etikos kodeksas);

e Code of Ethics of Lithuanian Social Workers (Lietuvos socialiniy darbuotojy etikos kodeksas).

It is claimed that good understanding of business ethics, respect to the norms and unwritten rules
recognized in the business world is a way to success. However, in Lithuania, many things are different.
Next relevant question is whether everything is exactly how it has to be. Socialization is highly dependent
on the model of behavior of high public figures. Many management situations show that people are
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inspired to act in one or another way by the examples that they see, and not from what they hear. What
people see now in Lithuania? Let’s start with government. Government is that institution which is
basically example for the whole country. High officers steal money and care only of their own well-being.
Moral or ethical norms seem to be only an imaginary thing, something meant for others but not for them.
They cheat, lie, steal, get caught, and do that again. Corruption is one of the main issues related to ethics
in Lithuania. Ethics is a vital factor in creating and maintaining trust, first of all, in government and its
institutions and in business. Everything starts with government. If a bad example is demonstrated in
governing bodies, so how can we expect the norms of ethics to be followed by the rest of the nation,
especially the owners of various forms of business and then employees.

If government ignores ethical norms or codes of ethics why business people should care about
following them? Lithuanian government’s reputation is very low within the society. Almost everyday
people hear in the news and read in the newspapers about unethical behavior and actions of the highest
governing bodies. According to OECD (The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development)
society‘s trust in government and other public institutions is getting lower and lower every day not only
in Lithuania. It looks like people are not willing to believe in persons that make important decisions and
think negatively about activities of institutions. This kind of so called trust deficit is caused by various
scandals and inappropriate actions of responsible government bodies. Officers are caught drunk at work,
they use State’s money for their own purposes, police officers, doctors, lawyers take bribes disregarding
the existence of codes of ethics adapted especially to avoid unethical behavior in their professions,
working spheres. And there are many other similar examples every day.

In the world, Wall Street manipulates and plays with global markets. Ethical standarts applied for
ordinary employees is nothing compared to what is going on behind the scenes when the great “players”,
investors, bank magnates perform their own speculations with fluctuating, unstable markets. There is a
serious problem seen: business ethics and codes of ethics and various institutions meant to deal with
violation ethical norms are impotent to prevent from what is happening. They can only reflect the things
that already happened. Ethical standards are not able to prevent from these things because financial
machinations, transactions and other unethical things are being done along with ethical declarations.

Business ethics in Lithuania started in a very difficult way. The main obstacle was prevailing attitude
that business and morality are incompatible. Especially hard the years were of Lithuanian Independence
and all related events: crises and collapse of banks, privatization of most of the companies, their
bankrupts and etc. Business ethics became especially relevant for Lithuanian businessmen when they
started cooperating with foreign partners. Searching for ways into the Western markets, seeking civilized
cooperation between the partners, encouraged businessmen to realize that ethical norms of business are
not only nice and in a way funny theory. More and more companies started implementing the ideas of
honest behavior with employees, clients and business partners.

However, it did not last long. Economic crisis revealed the real face of some of Lithuanian
businessmen. For many of them ethical norms remained only words written in the websites of their
companies. There were seen attempts to save by making use of the employees, bankrupts of companies,
shareholders’ hiding from their clients or partners and avoiding liability for debts. Such actions extremely
decreased society’s trust in business, which is basically of the same level nowadays.

According to a philosopher Tomas Kavaliauskas®, there is no such thing as a model of Lithuanian
business ethics. He claims that Lithuanians are very nimble, however, not in a positive sense. This is an
ability to take benefit from a changing situation. In cases of unstable economic situations people that are
nimble know how to recognize changes and find ways to take advantage from them and eventually make
profit. During Soviet period businessmen were trying to find roundabouts by means of presents. Today
the situation basically has not changed. A person can run business if he/she is nimble, can maneuver in

® Kairitinaité A. (2013). T. Kavaliauskas: letuvisko verslo etikos modelis — gebéjimas prasisukti. LRT klasikos laida

e

,,Manasis a$“. Available on the internet: www.delfi.lt
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changing circumstances. Codes of ethics are mostly an obligation that has to be followed but which is not;
it is applied only in theoretical sense. Many companies declare their ethics related rules, however, are far
away from following them. Lithuanian news website www.delfi.It carried out a very simple online survey
about ethical norms and codes in Lithuania. Most of the respondents claimed that in Lithuania businesses
do not care about moral issues.

Society is worried about the effectiveness of codes of ethics. It is assumed that the codes are too
specific or too general, inappropriate to implement, unused, unknown or even offensive to the employees.
One of the weak points is vague responsibility and question of monitoring of the document. Also, it is
claimed that a relatively simple arrangement of rules is not the best way to deal with complex ethical
issues that people face. No arrangement of rules will help to solve every ethical dilemma. Other problems
related to the codes are confusion regarding their purpose or inappropriate/poor implementation.

Usually, in society, it is very difficult to come up with an agreement what is moral or, in other words,
ethical and what is not. That is why various controlling structures are being established. Various
institutions, committees, agencies are established to control general ethical structure and ensure
compliance with codes of ethics. In Lithuania, there are many institutions and associations fighting with
unethical behavior in business and in government, corruption nationwide, ecological crimes,
discrimination or fraud within society or its separate groups. These agencies, institutions or committees
typically perform one or more of the following three roles: monitor, advice or encourage. Depending on
the circumstances, their influence is defined as coercive or educational, and sometimes by both together.
If an institution is established in response to a scandal or a crisis, it is more coercive in nature. If it works
according to general ethical program, it is more educative.

Dominating ethics supervision institutions in Lithuania:

e Vyriausioji tarnybinés etikos komisija (Chief Ethics Commission);

e LR Seimo etikos ir procediiry komisija (Ethics and Procedures’ Commission);

e Lygiy galimybiy kontrolieriaus tarnyba (Service of Equal Opportunities Inspector);

e LR Seimo kontrolieriy jstaiga (State’s Ombudsman's Office).

Others:

e Lietuvos zurnalistg ir leidéjy etikos komisija (Journalists and Publishers’ Ethics Commission);
e Vyriausioji tarnybinés etikos komisija (Chief Commission of Ethics);

e Prokurory etikos komisija (Ethics Commission of Prosecutors);

o Teiséjy etikos ir drausmés komisija (Judicial Ethics and Discipline Commission).

Basically every code of ethics has to have a certain controlling institution, committee, commission,
etc. Even it seems that mechanism of ethical control is rather big and integrating, but overall ethical
morality situation in Lithuania remains rather doubtful. A lot of ethical problems exist in public sector.
The unclearness of public institutions provides dual behavior situations for business and other society
members. In the research made by Bernatonyte D. and Simanaviciene Z. (2008) about implementing
corporate social responsibility in Lithuanian SMEs were identified that 47 % of researched enterprises
were not acquainted with the concept of social responsibility, additional explanation was necessary.
Respondents often CSR identified with holidays in enterprise, charity or some social projects (59 %).
Especially respondents missed state attitude and real actions in the area of social responsibility in the
enterprises. Authors state that CSR concept was still in more theoretical level than in practice.

2. Research results in Lithuanian SMEs, applying ethical codes

Empirical research presented in this article was made in order to clarify situation about
implementation of ethical codes in Lithuanian SMEs. The research was fulfilled in selected Lithuanian
SMEs acting in service sector, because this sector is very important in Lithuanian economy. 32 percent of
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SMEs in Lithuania act in service sector’. The main motive of the research was to select such enterprises
which are applying ethical codes in their activity®. For selection of enterprises was applied task selection.
There were selected four SMEs enterprises with different activity for pilot research. Selected enterprises
are described below:

1) Enterprise “A” acts from 2008. Its activity is based on photo and video services, design, layout,
printing services. Enterprise has 15 employees.

2) Enterprise “B” acts from 2007. This enterprise provides services of projecting and designing in
construction and building, interior design. Enterprise employs 22 employees.

3) Enterprise “C” was established in 2003. The enterprise provides services of translation from/ to
35 languages, synchronic translation, and legal affirmation of translations. Enterprise employs
28 people.

4) Enterprise “D” was established in 2007. It provides various cleaning services: office cleaning,
window, glass wall partition cleaning, cleaning after maintenance refit, dry cleaning of carpets,
general cleaning, waxing and other similar services under agreement. Enterprise employs
36 people.

In every enterprise were selected 2 respondents: one of them was general manager, the other —
ordinary employee. The task of such selection is to have representatives from both sides: employer and
employee. Employees were selected accidently. The aim of empirical research was to clarify how
Lithuanian enterprises implement their ethical codes in practice and to disclose peculiarities in applying
of ethical codes in all organizational levels. The research object of empirical research was ethical codes
in Lithuanian SMEs. Research method was sctructurised interview as this method is mostly suitable
when it is needed to get information about specific question in broadened explanation (as more
information as possible).

The main interview questions were formed:

1) In your opinion, what main ethical attitudes are necessary in business?

2) What do you think about problems when ethical attitudes are applied in enterprises?

3) What reasons did become the main for implementation of ethical code in your enterprise?

4) Which role is played by ethical code in your enterprise?

5) How do you think is ethical code needed in your enterprise?

6) What is your opinion about being ethical? Does it guarantee profit? If yes, so why?

7) How to make ethical code appliance effective?

8) How do you think which ways, measures, and instruments would be possible effectively

implement ethical attitudes in business?

The research was constructed dividing answers to raised questions in different levels: relations in an
enterprise, relations with clients and partners, relations with society, and relations with state. Such
subdividing of answers makes research results more constructive and clearly related with interest
groups of Lithuanian SMEs. Subcategory characterizes mentioned as important ethical attitudes, roles
of ethical codes. Proposition is further explanation how subcategory is perceived and interpreted by
respondents.

In this part of article the main results of the empirical research are presented. Table 1 presents the
main ethical attitudes, revealed in Lithuanian SMEs.

4 Statistics for all branches in Lithuania. Prieiga per interneta: http://www.hyfoma.com/en/europe/It/lithuania.html5.
% The research was fulfilled in 2011 April by Egle Juodzbalyte supervising assoc. prof,, dr. Jolita Greblikaite.

Jolita Greblikaite 165



http://www.hyfoma.com/en/europe/lt/lithuania.html5

New Challenges of Economic

— -
& and Business Development — 2014
May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia
Table 1
The main ethical attitudes researched in Lithuanian SMEs
Category Subcategory Proposition
Relations in enterprise | Criticism — flexibility Itis based on critical view to different situation.
Responsibility Every employee is responsible for his actions.
Co-operation New employer gets an experience from
colleagues and passes it further.
Psychological climate Ethical values and norms in enterprises must be
connected to improving organizational climate.
Kindness Employees should be good willing.
Respect Respect of employees, respect to each other.
Honesty Honesty in paying salary; organising fair
admission to positions.
Tolerance Tolerance to age, race, religion, nationality and
other social or personal conditions.
Effectiveness Employees are seeking to show the best results
at work.
Relations with clients, | Confidentiality Confidentiality of clients information
partners Honesty Fair competitiveness
Fulfillment of Keeping obligations and promises
obligations
Respect Respect for employees, clients, people overall
Relations with society | Environmental protection | Business must be environment protecting.
Legal compliance Legal activity, no connections with criminal
activity
Cherishment of values Social responsibility, norms and values
cherished in society
Relations with state Honesty Payment of taxes

The main problems from employees’ side when ethical attitudes are applied in Lithuanian enterprises
were researched. They are: different values, different experience, inflexibility, and age.

The main obstacle from management side was mentioned as providing of bad examples: lack of moral
norms of employer himself. Ethical codes are rather new in Lithuania. So, the main obstacles from the
society side were mentioned: attitude from society, inadequate behavior from public sector,
(un)profitability.

The main causes of ethical codes’ implementation were researched in Lithuanian enterprises as well.
The mostly common factors for ethical codes implementation in SMEs are fulfillment of internal aims
and external factors. As main internal factors can be mentioned: motivation of employees, flexible
decision making, creation of enterprise microclimate, prevention of conflicts, promotion of effectiveness
and productiveness, long-term profitability, work ethics, image creation, reaching of raised aims. As main
external factor gaining of society confidence should be mentioned. The opinion about ethical (having
ethical codes) enterprise in society is always better.

Also the role of ethical codes in enterprises was researched. The main functions of ethical codes are
presented in Table 2.
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Table 2
The role of ethical code in Lithuanian SMEs
Category Subcategory Proposition
Role in enterprise Improvement of decision Unified values and norms allow making
making effective decisions.
Improvement of enterprise Vales are very important in co-operation
microclimate and understanding.

Ethical codes help to maintain internal
sustainability.

Prevention of conflicts Having ethical codes less conflict arises.
Raising effectiveness Enterprises would be less effective without
ethical codes in their activity.

Ethical behavior of employees Ethical codes play important role in
relations with clients, help to keep
confidentiality and business rules, which
are constant.

Raising of profitability Social value.
Relations with Co-operation support Creating the chain of co-operation and
society involving clients and other interested
groups in profitability creation.
Good ethical example Raising up ethical society
Changing approach to business | Creates new attitude to business and
and entrepreneurship competitiveness.
Image creation Creates good image for society.

It is very important to notice that opinions about ethical codes in Lithuanian enterprises were just
positive. According research results the role of ethical codes is significant and important in enterprises
activity. The main causes, supporting the positive effect of ethical codes in enterprises are:

e Promotes good behavior;

Improves relations with clients and partners;

Makes easier fulfillment of different tasks;

Defines attitudes of organizational behavior, obligatory for all employees;
Helps to create positive image;

Improves microclimate of enterprise;

Profit rising.

There are some causes, which limit/ discipline the actions by using ethical codes in Lithuanian
enterprises: corruption prevention; conflict prevention; limitless of abuse. The research fulfilled in
interviewing Lithuanian SMEs revealed the causes, deciding successful functioning of ethical codes. Such
causes are: adaption of ethical codes to employees, understandability of ethical codes, adaption to
concrete enterprise, using of code in everyday activity, assimilation of ethical codes, employees’
acquaintance with ethical code, maintenance of ethical codes by managers.

All measures and instruments should be taken successfully implement ethical codes in enterprise activity as
the positive effect is clearly seen. Those measures could be discussions on ethical questions, good examples
from managers, obligation to maintain the ethical behavior, support for being ethical, co-operation, control
of microclimate, education and training of ethical society, ethical behavior in everyday life.
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Empirical research in Lithuanian SMEs revealed that positive effect of applied ethical codes is
obvious. It is very important that attitude of employees and employers about ethical codes is based on
positive assumptions and attitudes. These researched 4 enterprises serve as good-practice examples in
Lithuania for other SMEs about implementing in their activity ethical codes. Above mentioned measures
for successful and effective implementation of ethical codes should be evaluated in enterprises by top
managers and applied in enterprise activity. Especially valuable measures could be training and
discussions, obligation of all members to maintain ethical behavior.

The main problems when ethical attitudes are applied in Lithuanian SMEs, such as different values,
different experience, inflexibility, lack of moral norms from top managers should be tried to excluded or
minimized seeking for effective implementation of ethical codes. Negative attitude from society could be
changed by educational courses and seminars as well as adequate ethical behavior from public sector
institutions could really strengthen positive attitudes to ethical situation overall in Lithuania.

Conclusions, recommendations

1. Ethical code might be rather useful instrument in strong competition. Ethical codes play very
important role in organizational culture and formation of microclimate. Ethical codes have a lot of
functions in enterprises. Codes in their content encounter relations among various interest groups of
companies: employers, employees, stakeholders, customers, partners, and society. Ethical code is “the
receipt” of moral values and ethical behavior in enterprise. Very important are integral elements of
ethical codes such as content, context, language, but the most important is the effective (constant and
integral) appliance of ethical codes in enterprise activity.

2. Lithuania has ethics supervision institutions controlling public sector. Different professionals,
business groups have their own ethical codes, but overall situation in the country related with clarity
of activity is not very favorable for ethical behavior. Corruption index of Lithuania is rather high and
almost has not changed during twenty years of independence of the country. Society has rather
negative opinion about government and business activity as acting without ethical norms. It has to be
changed by educational measures, media, and, of course, real changes in institutions and enterprises of
being ethical, socially responsible, and sustainable.

3. Lithuanian SMEs have some problems implementing ethical codes in their activity, but overall effect
of implementation of ethical codes in enterprises is very positive as to the enterprises themselves and
society in a whole. Enterprises need to have good examples in order to implement ethical principals in
their own activity. Lithuanian enterprises successfully implementing ethical codes in their activity are
good examples for other enterprises doubting about code implementation or the usefulness of it.

4. Being ethical must supply some added value that enterprise could really experience it. Empirical
research revealed that ethical codes in Lithuanian SMEs improve decision making, improve enterprise
microclimate, prevent from conflicts, raise effectiveness, foster ethical behavior of employees, raise
profitability, support co-operation, are good ethical examples, change approach to business and
entrepreneurship, create image. Positive value effect is clearly seen in enterprises implementing
ethical codes in their activity. Consulting, learning and training are very important for developing
understanding in enterprises of overall use of ethical codes as well as developing appropriate skills.

5. Successful functioning of ethical codes in Lithuanian SMEs depends on developing adaption of
ethical codes by employees, understandability of ethical codes, adaption of ethical code to concrete
enterprise and activity, using of ethical code in everyday activity, maintenance of ethical codes by top
managers.

6. Lithuania and other EU countries should use research for their enterprises and rising ethical problems
there. It is very important to find common path for society, business, politicians, and educational and
training institutions for developing the framework supporting ethical consciousness in overall society
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of country. Especially in Lithuania the trust in business should be strengthen. Enterprises must be
interested not only in raising their profits but in applying moral values in their activity as additional
value in their common gaining of profitability. Modern society values not only good products and
services, but wants to see business as an integral part of responsible and sustainable society.
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Abstract

The introduction of the Directive on Alternative Investment Fund Managers (AIFM Directive
2011/61/EU) in 2013 means a radical transformation of the EU regulatory landscape for the whole
alternative investment fund industry. Taking into account the growing meaning of the alternative
investment fund industry in Europe, the aim of the paper is to assess the impact the Directive on
Alternative Investment Fund Managers (AIFMD) will have on the Alternative Investment Fund Managers
(AIFMs) managing Alternative Investment Funds (AlFs) in the EU. The research is based on the case of
Malta, which is a quickly growing financial centre. The main findings are based on an analysis of
questionnaire responses conducted with key players in the fund industry regulated and licensed by the
Malta Financial Services Authority. This study provides an extensive analysis of the AIFMD and its
impact on Malta’s financial service industry. It has highlighted various factors that will have a positive or
negative impact on the industry resulting from the AIFMD. The paper provides recommendations for
further development of the Maltese fund industry in the context of the AIFMD that can be partially
applied to other fund domiciles.

Key words: Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (AIFMD), investment fund managers,
incentives, disincentives, Malta
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Introduction

In June 2011, the European Commission proposed a new Directive (AIFM Directive 2011/61/EU) on
Alternative Investment Fund Managers (AIFM). The aim of this Directive is to establish common
requirements governing the authorisation and supervision of AIFMs in order to provide a coherent
approach to the related risks and their impact on investors and markets in the European Union (Directive,
2011). According to the requirements, the AIFM directive should be in place across the whole of the
European Union by the end of July 2014, thus establishing an EU-wide harmonised framework for
monitoring and supervising risks as well as imposing more rigorous regulation on alternative investment
fund managers. The AIFM Directive covers different types of alternative investment funds, e.g., hedge
funds, private equity funds, real estate funds, retail investment funds, as well as alternative investment
companies. Thus, this Directive means a radical transformation of the EU regulatory landscape for the
whole alternative investment fund industry.

! Corresponding author — e-mail address: inna.romanova@Iu.lv, phone number: +371 67034632
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The reaction of the investment fund industry was rather equivocal. On one hand, the Directive creates
a European passport system for alternative investment fund managers (AlFMs), thus allowing distribution
of these investment funds to professional investors. On the other hand, new regulations bring additional
work for alternative managers to get the processes and procedures in place, especially concerning
regulatory reporting, depositary requirements, risk management and certain disclosures to investors.
Besides, some rules are still unclear, like remuneration rules of alternative managers.

The AIFM Directive requires enhanced transparency of alternative managers (European Commission,
2012) and the investment funds they manage, thus offering investors an additional protection and giving
more clarity in such important issues like taxation of carried interest. On the other hand, assurance of
additional transparency means extra costs for the alternative fund managers that in most cases will be
transposed to investors. Therefore, the new Directive with the imposition of a licensing and regulatory
compliance framework on the managers of alternative investment funds (AlFs) which are marketed or
managed in the EU, will have significant implications for financial sponsors across the globe, let alone
small domiciles such as Malta. The Directive introduced some transitional periods, as follows:

e 1 year transitional period until 22 July, 2014 for existing fund managers / self-managed funds to

upgrade their licence into full AIFMs / self-managed AlFs or de minimis AlIFMs.

¢ Non-EU fund managers may continue to manage / market without a passport non-EU AlFs / EU

AlFs without requiring full AIFMD compliance until 2015.
e AIFMs and AlFs are allowed to engage both local depositaries as well as a depositary that is a
credit institution in another EU Member State until 22 July, 2017.

The transposition of the AIFM directive into national legislation might create additional advantages to
some market players, as the Directive provides some discretion for Member States. For example, it allows
private placement of non-EU alternative investment funds (AIFs) marketed by EU-based alternative
investment fund managers (AIFMs) and AlFs marketed by non-EU AIFMs. Furthermore EU AlIFs,
especially of the self-managed type, may still benefit from national private placement regimes. Thus the
final requirements may vary significantly among the EU Member States.

Therefore the aim of the paper is to assess the impact AIFMD will have on AIFMs managing AIFs in
Malta. After over-viewing key concepts associated with the AIFMD and possible impacts of this directive
on the AIF industry, this paper focuses exclusively on the Maltese fund industry. It investigates various
factors that might have a positive or negative impact on the industry resulting from the AIFMD. Malta is
a small island state situated in the centre of the Mediterranean Sea with a population of circa 400,000
persons. It is a member of the EU and forms part of the Eurozone. In Malta, economic growth and
stability are highly dependent on financial services (Falzon, 2011) and so the issues raised in this paper
are very important for Malta as well as other member states that will be influenced by this Directive. The
findings will be discussed and the study goes to provide recommendations aimed at better guiding
Maltese authorities to adapt to the changes brought forth by the AIFMD and to ensure that the Maltese
Fund Industry can continue to grow and prosper. Various prominent researchers have used islands as case
studies for policy and development studies (King, 1993). Hence, the recommendations of this study can
be also partially applied to other investment fund domiciles.

Theoretical framework and literature review

The investment fund industry can be seen as one of the key drivers of financial market and the
economy as a whole. Several studies point out that investment funds facilitate innovations in other sectors
of economy (Njegomir&Demko Rihter, 2013), support economic growth and improve social welfare
(Chou&Chin, 2004). Investment funds accumulate capital, ensure risk diversification and provide
investors new investment diversification options, realizing financial innovations through new assets
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classes, new asset allocation techniques, new risk and returns enhancing tools, new theme funds and new
business models (Rajan, 2011).

Moreover, the alternative investment industry covering hedge funds, private equity funds, real estate
funds etc. is often seen a benefit for the financial market it operates in, enhancing market liquidity and
efficiency (e.g., hedge funds) as well as expanding sources of available corporate financing (e.g., private
equity funds) (Ferran, 2011). Thus the introduction of the Directive on Alternative Investment Fund
Managers will have an impact not only on the particular funds, but also on financial markets and
economies as a whole.

The idea of pan-European regulation of investment funds is not new. In 1985 the UCITS
(Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Directive was invented introducing
European harmonized investment funds (Directive 85/611/ECC, 1985). The aim of the UCITS Directive
was to allow collective investment schemes to operate freely throughout the European Union on the basis
of a single authorization from one member state. Later the directive had to be applied in all EEA countries,
thus including also Iceland, Norway and Liechtenstein. This harmonized legal framework had a strong
focus on investors’ protection and product regulation. Changing economic environment as well as market
pressure gave an incentive to ensure further improvement of the investment fund regulatory framework.
In 2001 UCITS III Directives (Directive 2001/107/EC “Management Directive” & Directive
2001/108/EC “Product Directive”) were introduced enabling wider range of eligible assets, extended use
of derivatives as well as improved regulation of investment fund management companies (Directive
2001/107/EC, 2001; Directive 2001/108/EC, 2001). Currently the UCITS IV Directive is in place,
enabling a simplified notification process and key investor information document, regulating cross-border
merger, providing the possibility to obtain a management company passport, and to establish master-
feeder structure on a local and cross-border basis etc (Directive 2009/65/EC, 2009).

Still, the establishment of the pan-European regulatory framework for investment funds is an ongoing
process. UCITS V proposals are already published (in July 2012) enhancing regulation of depository
regime (including duties, delegation, eligibility and liability), rules governing remuneration as well as a
sanctions regime. The second step in the establishment of a pan-European regulation of the investment
fund industry is the introduction of the new Directive on Alternative Investment Fund Managers (AIFM
Directive 2011/61/EU) to establish common requirements governing the authorisation and supervision of
alternative investment fund managers and funds.

The consultation paper on key concepts of the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive and
types of AIFM published in February 2012 was widely discussed (ESMA, 2012) by numerous investment
fund industry participants and financial experts (Alternative Investment Management Association,
Association Frangaise de la Gestion financiére, Association of Foreign Investment Companies in Austria,
BVI Bundesverband Investment and Asset Management, EFAMA, Investment Management Association,
German Banking Industry Committee, ALFI, PricewaterhouseCoopers and many others). The
introduction of the AIFM Directive in 2013 was taken by the investment fund industry rather equivocal.
The scope of the Directive is rather broad, including management and marketing of AlFs, requirements of
AIF managers authorization, EU marketing passport, private placement exemptions to professional
investors, capital requirements, remuneration, risk management, reporting and repository requirements.
Besides, different rules should be applied depending on whether the alternative investment fund and fund
manager are based in the EEA or outside EEA.

The impact of the Directive on the investment fund industry is still unclear. Several studies conducted
by industry professionals have shown that most market participants see the AIFM Directive as a threat to
their business and competitiveness of the industry in Europe (Deloitte, 2012). Besides, the Directive may
put some alternative investment fund markets in a weak competitive position as an alternative fund and
management company domicile. The European asset management industry employs ca.510, 000
specialists across European countries and has an annual Gross value added of 102.6 billion EUR
(European Fund and Asset Management Association, 2013). Change of competitiveness of domiciles may
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put it under risk. According to a survey of UK based asset managers carried out by Deloitte, nearly three
quarters of respondents see the Directive as a threat to their business and two thirds believe that AIFM
Directive will reduce competitiveness of the alternative investment fund industry in Europe (Deloitte,
2012). Therefore, it is extremely important to assess the impact of AFMD on the industry as a whole and
on the competitiveness of the domiciles affected by it. The fact that, after the end of the transitional
period in 2017, the depositary must be located in the AlF’s domicile could also cause concerns in smaller
financial centres. Furthermore, the rules on depositary liability and responsibilities could lead to
increasing costs for AlFs and reduction of competition since certain market participants could leave the
custody market. Thus, the assessment of the possible impact of the AIFM directive is important to
provide recommendations to maintain/improve competitiveness AIF domiciles.

Research methodology and results

The paper investigates the following three research questions empirically:

1. Following the AIFMD, how important will specific incentives be for retaining/obtaining an AIF
licence in Malta?

2. Following the AIFMD, how important will specific disincentives be for retaining/obtaining an AlF
licence in Malta?

3. Does the intention to retain/obtain an AIF licence in Malta following the AIFMD vary as a
function of the size of the Fund, whether the Fund Manager is already licensed in Malta and
whether the Fund Manager has a licensed Fund in Malta?

To answer these questions, we targeted all players in the fund industry comprising 71 Fund Managers
and 231 licenced Funds regulated and licensed by the Malta Financial Services Authority [MFSA].
Additionally, we targeted potential AIF licence holders; i.e., those who intend to obtain an AIF licence in
Malta in the next two years (population not available). With no sampling frame available for the latter, we
resorted to ‘critical-case purposive sampling’ (Saunders, Thornhill, & Lewis, 2009). Our distribution
strategy focused on two fronts — our personal network involved in the AIF industry who voluntarily
agreed to help us in getting exposure, and Linkedin related groups/ forums in which one of the authors
has been a member for a long time. All the data were gathered via a web-link on kwiksurveys.com and no
incentives were offered to the participants for answering the questionnaire.

The Research Instrument

The questionnaire entitled ‘Alternative Fund Managers’ Directive and its Implications for Malta’

consisted of:

e 5 closed ended demographic variables regarding the Fund Manager’s Fund and licence (e.g., ‘Is
the Fund Manager Licensed in Malta?’).

e 22 randomly ordered, five point Likert-style questions ranging from ‘strongly disagree’ to
‘strongly agree’ comprising 11 incentives for retaining/obtaining an AIF licence in Malta
following the AIFMD (e.g., ‘Lower running costs in Malta [e.g., legal/administration/authorisation
fees] when compared with other established jurisdictions’) and 11 disincentives for
retaining/obtaining an AIF licence in Malta following the AIFMD (e.g., ‘Lack of internationally
established custodians/depositaries’). Some of these statements were adapted from various sources
that we consulted during the literature search, e.g., MFSA publications (MFSA, 2013), Kinetic
Partners (Kinetic Partners, 2013), Deloitte (Deloitte, 2012), Ernst & Young (Ernst & Young, 2013)
while others were designed by the authors following discussion with experts in the field.

174 Simon Grima, Inna Romanova, Frank Bezzina, Frank Chetcuti Dimech



~ New Challenges of Economic
) and Business Development — 2014

May 8 - 10, 2014, Riga, University of Latvia

e another 3 five-point Likert type items regarding the Fund or Fund Manager’s intention to
retain/obtain a licence in Malta following the AIFMD (e.g., ‘The AIFMD will not affect the
Fund/Fund Manager decision to retain/obtain the AIF licence in Malta’), the latter being restricted
to those Fund Managers who had a licensed fund or a Fund Manager licence in Malta.

The respondents were able to amend their responses until the questionnaire was completed, while the
software allowed one respondent per IP address, thereby helping prevent multiple completions from the
same respondent or from the same Fund Manager. We stressed that there were no ‘right’ or ‘wrong’
answers to the statements, that confidentiality and anonymity were guaranteed, and that the individual
responses would be used for research purposes to help see the ‘big picture’. The questionnaire took
approximately 10 minutes to complete.

Data Analysis Procedures

To answer the first two research questions, we started by generating descriptive statistics for each of
the 11 incentives and 11 disincentives using the median (Md), the range (R), the mean (M), the standard
deviation (SD) and mean rank (MR). To test for difference in mean ranks across the various ordinal scales,
we conducted the Friedman test. In the presence of a significant 4’ statistic in the Friedman test, we
computed a series of Wilcoxon tests as post-hoc tests, applying the Bonferroni correction to avoid the
problem of inflating the Type 1 error due to multiple comparisons (Miller, 1991). To answer the third
research question, we used stepwise multiple regression. ‘Intention to retain/obtain the Licence in Malta
following AIFMD’ was included as the dependent variable, while ‘size of Fund’, whether or not ‘the
Fund manager is already licensed in Malta’ and whether or not ‘the Fund manager has a licensed fund in
Malta’ were included as independent variables. Before interpreting the results, we ensured that the
assumptions of no autocorrelation in the residuals and multicollinearity were not violated by means of the
Durbin-Watson statistic and the VIFs respectively.

Sample Characteristics

A total of 299 persons responded to our invitation during the February 2014. From these, the
responses of 29 participants were discarded because one of the following three requirements was not met:
(1) Fund Manager was already licensed in Malta, (2) the Fund was licenced in Malta, and (3) the Fund or
Fund Manager had the intention to obtain a new licence in Malta within the next two years. Thus, 270
complete surveys formed the basis of the statistical analysis. Of these, 38 (14.1%) have a Fund Manager
licence in Malta, 112 (41.5%) have a licensed fund in Malta, and the remaining 120 (44.4%) represented
prospective AlF licence holders. 173 (64.1%) respondents have the Fund Manager licensed in the EU.
Also, 137 (50.7%) reported that the size of the Fund (Assets under Management) was below 100 million
euro with the remaining 133 (49.3%) reporting that the size of the Fund was between 100 million and 250
million euro. No Fund in the sample exceeded 250 million euro in Assets under Management including
leverage.

Table 1 exhibits the population and sample distributions by licence type. The sample size of 150 for
Fund managers of Funds licenced in Malta (which excluded the 120 prospective AIF licence holders)
already exceeded the a-priori minimum sample size of 30 for the Friedman test and associated Wilcoxon
post-hoc tests (Green & Salkind, 2008). It also exceeded the minimum a-priori sample size of 112 for
multiple regression for the following pre-set criteria — three predictors, desired statistical power of 0.8,
Type 1 error rate of 0.05, and an anticipated effect size of 0.10 (Soper, 2014). A Chi-squared test of
independence revealed that the population and sample distributions by licence type did not differ
significantly from each other (x*(1) = 0.512, p = 0. 474). This confirmed the representativeness of our
sample, thereby increasing our confidence in making generalisations for the sample to the population in
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question. Since MFSA was not in a position to provide us a list of prospective AIF licence holders due to
Data Protection, they had to be excluded from the Chi-squared analysis of independence.

Table 1
Population and sample distributions by licence type
Licence Type Population Sample
Have a Fund Manager licence in Malta 71 (23.5%) 38 (25.3%)
Have Licenced Fund(s) in Malta 231 (76.5%) 112 (74.7%)

Sources: MFSA website (http://www.mfsa.com.mt/) and authors’ calculations based on the survey made

Following the AIFMD, how important will specific incentives be for retaining/obtaining an
AIF licence in Malta?

The Friedman test revealed that that the incentives (N = 11) differed significantly with respect to their
mean ranks (x* (10) = 1725.30, N = 238, p < 0.001). In fact, the most important incentive (Md= 5) that
emerged was that the running costs in Malta would be lower than in other established jurisdictions. Other
important incentives (Md = 4) that emerged were ‘tax incentives’, ‘Malta as a member of the EU
(including EU passport)’, ‘the Financial Services infrastructure and robust Financial Services Regulator’,
and ‘the economic climate in Malta’. A summary of descriptive statistics and post-hoc analysis with
Wilcoxon Signed Ranks tests is presented in Table 2 below.

Table 2
Descriptive Statistics and Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test Summary (Incentives)
Incentives for obtaining/retaining "
an AlIF Licence following AIFMD MR MD (R) M SD WPHT
Lower running costs in Malta when
compared to other established jurisdictions .47 5(2-9) 4.55 1.05 A
Tax incentives 9.07 4 (3-5) 4.17 0.44 B
Malta being a member of the EU
(including EU passport) 8.72 4 (3-9) 4.03 0.28 c
The Financial Services infrastructure 784 4 (3-4) 384 037 D
and robust Regulator
The economic climate in Malta 7.20 4 (3-4) 3.70 0.46 E
The legal system in Malta 5.27 3(3-4) 3.20 0.40 F
The political climate in Malta 4.62 3(3-4) 3.05 0.23 G
Availability of multi-lingual personnel 4.62 3(3-4) 3.05 0.23 G
Maltese culture and history
(UK traditional banking culture) 4.41 3(3-9) 3.00 0.00 H
The technological infrastructure 2.70 2 (2-4) 241 0.59 [
The productivity of the labour force 2.09 2 (2-4) 2.28 0.56 J

WPHT = Wilcoxon post-hoc tests; * different letters signify statistically significant differences between groups
(p < 0.001) following Bonferroni correction

Source: authors’ calculations based on the survey made.
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Following the AIFMD, how important will specific disincentives be for retaining/obtaining
an AIF licence in Malta?

The Friedman test revealed that that the disincentives (N = 11) also differed significantly with respect
to their mean ranks (x (10) = 1082.384, N = 238, p < 0.001). In fact, the most important disincentives
(Md = 4) were ‘insufficient number of custodians/depositaries’, ‘lack of internationally established
custodians/depositaries’ and ‘the marketing of AIFS to non-professional investors’. A summary of
descriptive statistics and post-hoc analysis with Wilcoxon Signed Ranks tests is presented in Table 3
below.

Table 3
Descriptive Statistics and Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test Summary (Disincentives)
Disincentives for obtaining/retaining an AlF
Licence foIIowing AIFMDg MR MD (R) M Sb WPHT*
Insufficient number of custodians/depositaries 9.04 4 (3-4) 3.97 0.16 A
Lack of internationally established 8.85 4 (3-4) 3.92 0.27 A B
custodians/depositaries
The marketing of AlFs to 8.41 4 (2-5) 3.87 0.71 B
non-professional investors
Fund manager needs to comply with AIFMD 5.82 3(3-5) 3.42 0.73 C
even if fund is smaller than € 100 million
No passporting possibilities currently available 5.14 3(3-5) 3.29 0.70 D
for depositories /custodians
Increased custody costs due to additional 5.02 3(2-5) 3.00 0.71 D, E
responsibilities of custodian (depositary)
Insufficient availability of qualified risk 4.89 3(3-4) 3.13 0.34 E
managers in Malta
Requirement of professional indemnity 4.89 3(3-4) 3.13 0.34 E
insurance and associated costs
Possible negative impact of tax harmonisation 4.87 3(2-5) 3.23 0.76 E
within EU member states on Malta’s current
favourable tax regime
The harmonisation of the definition of 4.87 3(2-5) 3.23 0.76 E
professional investor under AIFMD
Malta’s immature (embryonic) Fund Industry 4.21 3(3-3) 3.00 0.00 F
when compared to traditional centres

WPHT = Wilcoxon post-hoc tests; *different letters signify statistically significant differences between groups (p <
0.001) following Bonferroni correction

Source: authors’ calculations based on the survey made
Does the intention to retain/obtain an AIF licence in Malta following the AIFMD vary as a function of

the size of the Fund, whether the Fund Manager is already licensed in Malta and whether the Fund
Manager has a licensed Fund in Malta?
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In the survey, we asked those who currently have a licensed Fund and/or a Fund Manager licence in
Malta to rate their level of agreement with three five-point Likert-type items concerning their intention to
retain/obtain a licence in Malta following the AIFMD. Since the measures pertaining to these three items
were internally consistent (Cronbach o = 0.845) and loaded on a single factor in Principal Component
Analysis (eigenvalue (A) = 2.09, % of variance = 69.53) we summed the scores of each participant
together and found the average score, to obtain the ‘Intention’ scale (dependant variable in stepwise
multiple regression analysis).

Stepwise multiple regression analysis revealed that the intention to retain/obtain a Licence in Malta
following the AIFMD was significantly predicted by possession (No/Yes) of a licensed fund in Malta. In
fact, those Fund Managers who currently have a licensed Fund in Malta ( = 0.316, t = 3.59, p <0.001)
have a greater intention to retain a Licence in Malta following the AIFMD. Size of Fund’ (B = 0.131, t=
1.38, p = 0.17) and possession of a Fund Manager licence (No/Yes) in Malta’ (3 = 0.015, t = 0.16, p =
0.88) did not have a significant impact on ‘intention’ and so these variables were excluded from the
model. Table 4 below provides a summary of the stepwise multiple regression output.

Table 4
Stepwise Multiple Regression Coefficients Table
Unstandardized Standardized Collinearity
Model? Coefficients Coefficients t Sig. Statistics
B Std. Error Beta Tolerance | VIF
(Constant) 3.000 .156 19.232 | .000
1 -

Licensed fund 574 160 316 3587 | .000 | 1.000 | 1.000
in Malta

a. Dependent Variable: Intention; ‘Has AIF in Malta’ (No = ‘0’, yes = ‘1’)

Source: authors’ calculations based on the survey made.

With respect to the statistical assumptions of regression analysis, it is worth noting that with one
regressor, multicollinearity is not an issue (Field, 2009). With one regressor, an intercept in the model and
a sample size of 118, the observed Durbin-Watson statistic (d = 2.24) was greater than 2. Hence, we
tested the null hypothesis of no autocorrelation in the residuals versus negative first-order autocorrelation
at the 5% level of significance. We computed 4-d (= 1.76) and compared the result with the tabulated 5%
significance points of dL = 1.654 and dU = 1.694 (Savin & White, 1977). Since 1.76 is higher than 1.694,
we retained the null hypothesis of no autocorrelation.

Discussion

The first goal of this study was to determine the importance of specific incentives for Fund
Managers and Funds in obtaining/retaining an AIF Licence in Malta following the AIFMD. The
most important incentive that emerged was that the running costs in Malta will still remain lower
than in other established jurisdictions. This gives Malta the advantage of cost competitiveness and its
effect is expected to be most pronounced with start-up fund managers, although more established
fund managers looking to relocate to Malta would also be expected to consider this advantage
positively. Malta is known to provide high quality and efficient services and hence one can gain
global brand service provisions from tier two service providers at very competitive prices without
losing on quality. Such costs include renting, legal fees, telecommunication and IT services costs,
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Audit fees and a well-trained and productive staff complement. The second most important incentive
for obtaining/retaining an AIF licence following the AIFMD was related to tax incentives. Although
the taxation of funds itself is zero or near zero in the most important European fund domiciles, and
the VAT exemption for investment management is settled EU case-law, Malta’s advantage lies in its
full imputation system of taxation which avoids double taxation of corporate profits. In addition, a
number of tax treaties further enhance Malta’s offering. Tax incentives help to reduce discrimination
with countries that are already attractive, and this makes sense in the context of a small island state
like Malta (Bezzina, Falzon & Zammit, 2012, p. 595). In fact, Maltese authorities continuously
conduct a rethinking of tax incentives to ensure that they at least match those offered by other
competing domiciles. The third most important incentive selected was that Malta is a member of the
EU. This provides Fund Managers and Funds the opportunity for EU passporting, enhances
transparency and standardisation, and reduces the possibility of regulatory arbitrage among
jurisdictions. The fourth important incentive concerned the financial services regulator (MFSA) in
Malta, which is slowly but steadily developing into one of the most robust yet business-oriented
regulators in the EU. The fifth important incentive related to the economic climate in Malta. The
way in which the Maltese economy went unscathed through the recent global financial crisis
provides clear evidence of the resilience of the Maltese economy. In fact, Malta did not have to
resort to any bank bailouts and its banking system has been ranked as the 13th most solvent out of
144 countries (World Economic Forum, 2013). Additionally, a recent study by Bezzina, Grima and
Mamo (2014, in press) shows that Maltese financial firms have sound risk management practices
that link positively with added value and principled performance.

The second goal of this study was to determine the importance of specific disincentives for Fund
Managers and Funds in obtaining/retaining an AIF Licence in Malta following the AIFMD. The two most
important disincentives that were ranked on par concerned AIFMD requirements — the ‘insufficient
number of custodians/depositaries’, and the ‘lack of internationally established custodians/depositaries’. It
is clear that Malta needs a quick solution to its depositary offering. Malta needs to attract depositaries that
are open for the wide array of alternative investments and fund sizes. The problem here is that although
Malta has a few big names, they have been reluctant to act as custodians of a certain size or type of
investment. A possible solution to this problem would be to encourage the European Commission to push
relentlessly forward its plans for a pan-European passport for the depositary, thus allowing depositaries to
provide cross-border services. This is a missing link in the European integration of financial markets.
However, Maltese authorities do not seem to be in favour of this proposal, arguing that it is not exactly in
line with the spirit of the requirements. The other factor that emerged as an important disincentive was
‘the marketing of AIFs to non-professional investors’. The results of the questionnaire show that AIFMD
is generating interest from medium to smaller managers who are attracted to the possibility of a European
passport to market their fund to professional investors across the EU. However the authors consider that
the current legislation is too polarised between professional investors and retail investors. There exists
another category of investor that is wealthy enough not to be considered as retail, yet would not meet the
strict criteria of a professional investor. Within that space, marketing will still be dominated by national
rules which were left unharmonised by AIFMD. Here Malta’s role will be to reach out to other European
reg